How do practitioners create inclusive environments in day care settings for children under the age of five years with chronic health conditions? An exploratory case study

Jackie Musgrave

Thesis submitted in part for the award of Doctor of Education

April 2014

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated with love and joy to my daughter

Nicky

who died in 2006, aged 18



When you are joyous, look deep into your heart and you shall find it is only that which has given you sorrow that is giving you joy. When you are sorrowful, look again in your heart, and you shall see that in truth you are weeping for that which has been your delight (Gibran, 1923)

Acknowledgements

This thesis could not have been completed without the help of many people. I wish to thank my family for their unfailing support over the last few years. Jenny and Laura, my precious daughters, thank you for your patience and encouragement. My Mum, Sheila, who could not be more proud and my dear, recently departed Dad, Patrick — thank you both for everything. To Paul, my husband, I am so grateful to you for your unfailing support, encouragement, love and help. You have lived the doctoral journey with me every single day and have never complained about the time I have spent in the study. I am indebted to you.

My grateful thanks to people at the School of Education who have been an inspiration, in particular Cathy Nutbrown and Jools Page. I would especially like to thank my supervisor, Rachael Levy, for her wisdom and support. I have valued our supervisor/student relationship and can honestly say that I cannot think of how it could have been improved.

I am grateful to friends who have supported me in various ways and have not complained when I have had to change plans to accommodate studying. Helen Perkins has been a valued critical friend and it is partly because of Helen that I became a doctoral student.

I am eternally indebted to the students who have taught me so much and it is their wisdom and knowledge that has informed the research question for this study. I have been touched by the willingness of the participants in this study, to everybody who gave me their time so generously. I am especially grateful to 'DJ' the child who I observed for this study. He will always have a place in my heart.

Abstract

The concept of inclusion within the English education system is often taken for granted. There are a number of factors that can impact on inclusive practice and this demands careful exploration. Chronic health conditions (CHCs), such as anaphylaxis, asthma, diabetes, epilepsy and eczema, pose particular challenges to inclusion for practitioners who teach, educate and care for children under the age of five years in day care settings. These conditions can have a significant effect on children's health, especially in the minority world. However, there is a paucity of research about how the symptoms affect children's early education.

This mixed-methods study collected quantitative data by sending a postal survey to 60 settings in order to find out how many children are affected by these conditions in day care settings. Four of the surveyed settings went on to participate in the qualitative aspect of the study. Qualitative data were also collected from parents of children with CHCs and the study included observations of a child in his early childhood setting over the course of a year.

The findings revealed that 11% of children attending the settings in this study had been diagnosed with one or more CHCs and that CHCs had a profound effect on children and their parents. Parents reported that knowledge of the specific conditions is important for practitioners to have in order to create inclusive relationships with them. Practitioners in this study demonstrated a collaborative approach to leadership when creating inclusive environments. However, the findings revealed tensions for practitioners regarding the inclusion of all children in the curriculum. The findings suggest that achieving inclusion may therefore be problematic for some children. However, the communication skills, knowledge of CHCs and willingness of practitioners were vital to the inclusion of children with CHCs in their early education.

Contents

Dedication

Acknowledgements

Abstract

Chapter 1: Introduction 1
Overview 1
The research and field questions
My positionality11
Overview of chapters12
Chapter 2: Literature Review 15
Introduction to the literature
Children learn best when they are healthy
The welfare requirements of the EYFS
Personal, social and emotional development
Including and supporting every child: current understandings
of inclusion23
Inclusion of children with chronic health conditions in
education and society26
High quality early learning: staff qualifications, training,
support and skills
Playing and exploring in Early Childhood Education33
Creating an enabling environment
Positive relationships and the key person
Partnership working with practitioners and/or carers $\dots .40$
Conclusion44
Chapter 3: Methodology and Methods 46
Introduction46
Becoming an ethical researcher: reflexivity and positionality
From the perspective of a nurse47
From the perspective of a teacher
From the perspective of a mother

Chapter 5: Overview of the findings from the data 101
Introduction
Quantitative data: Findings reporting incidence and type of
СНС101
Qualitative data: Structure of the research story104
Epilepsy: a hidden condition?
Conclusion110
Chapter 6: The effects of chronic health conditions on
children and families 112
Introduction
1. Effects of chronic health conditions on children and
families
1.1 Effects on children's and parents' sleep113
1.2 Children's understanding of their conditions117
1.3 Children noticing when they have been given different
food120
1.4 The effects of medication and interventions126
1.5 Children's experiences of pain and discomfort129
1.6 Children being unwell and absence from the setting.135
2. Effects on the family of living with a child with chronic
health condition(s)139
2.1 Family routines and activities140
2.2 Parental concerns142
2.3 Parents and childcare arrangements144
Conclusion148
Chapter 7: The importance of communication 150
Introduction150
1. Communication between parents and practitioners151
2. Communication between practitioners and staff157
3. Communication with other professionals160
Chapter 8: Considerations for inclusive practice 163
Introduction163
1. Adapting the environment in the setting
2. Adapting the curriculum: activities
3. Adapting the curriculum: outdoor play
4. Creating safe places for food171
Conclusion

Chapter 9: Responsibilities and qualities of
practitioners 177
Introduction177
1. Qualifications, knowledge and training
2. Administration of medication and medical interventions183
3. Responsibilities185
4. Qualities and dispositions of practitioners
Conclusion
Chapter 10: Discussion of findings 192
Introduction192
Examining inclusion and considerations for children with CHCs
The role of practitioners in creating an inclusive
environment
The key person
Practitioners' emotional resources
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents
The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents

Figures

Figure 1.1: Inter-relationship of chronic health conditions on health, inclusion, wellbeing and learning 2 Figure 2.1: Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory 18 Figure 2.3: Child engaging in messy play with shaving Figure 2.4: Image of person with eczema - photograph obtained from Wikipedia 34 Figure 3.1: 'Joshua' and me in 1982 47 Figure 3.2: Summary of the design of the case study .. 69 Figure 4.1: Process of analysis of the data - taken from Glesne and Peshkin (1992) 93 Figure 6.1: Visual map summarising the effects of CHCs on children 112 Figure 6.2: Effects on the family 139 Figure 7.1: The importance of communication 150 Figure 7.2: Modes of communication between parents and practitioners 152 Figure 8.1: Considerations for inclusive practice ... 164 Figure 9.1: Responsibilities and qualities of practitioners 178

Tables

Table 1.2: explored in	A summary of the chronic health conditions the study
Table 3.1: interviewed	Summary of practitioner participants in study
Table 3.2:	Parent participants 75
Table 3.3:	DJ's observations timetable 82
Table 4.1: DJ	Summary of the main points of observations of
Table 5.1:	Summary of data from survey - November 2011
Table 5.2: contribution	Summary of the children, their CHCs and n of their parents to the study
Table 5.3:	Overview of themes 107
Table 9.1:	Qualifications of respondents to survey 179

Appendices

Appendix	1:	Ethical approval	239
Appendix	2:	Covering letter to settings in the case .	240
Appendix	3:	Questionnaire for Practitioners	242
Appendix practitic	4: oners	Semi-structured interview schedule for	247
Appendix	5:	Information letter for parents	248
Appendix	6: S	Semi-structured interview questions: parent	:s 249

Chapter 1: Introduction

Overview

The Early Years Foundation Stage (DfE, 2012) (EYFS) is the Statutory Curriculum Framework in England for providers of Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC) from birth to five years of age. An overarching principle of the EYFS is "to provide equality of opportunity and anti-discriminatory practice, ensuring that every child is included and supported" (p.2). Definitions of what is meant by inclusion are discussed in Chapter 2. However, the aim of this study resonates with Nutbrown and Clough's (2006) definition that "inclusion may be seen as the drive towards maximal participation in and minimal exclusion from early years settings, from school and from society" (p.3). This study explored how practitioners in early years settings implemented and adapted the EYFS in order to minimise exclusion and maximise participation for children aged five and below with chronic health conditions. Therefore, this definition is consistent with the intention of this study, which is to contribute towards a theory of inclusive practice for children with chronic health conditions.

A chronic condition is one that is of long duration (Oxford Concise Medical Dictionary). Furthermore, chronic conditions are incurable and the symptoms of these conditions can interfere with daily life (Brown, Krieg and Belluck, 1995). The impact of chronic conditions on children's activities is an on-going consideration because they may be restricted from joining in some activities for considerable periods of time. This is especially the case for young children accessing

their early education. The ways that chronic conditions can impact on children's inclusion in their early education is the focus of this study. There is a need to examine the significance of these chronic health conditions on children, because the effects on children can be under-estimated or possibly over-looked. The effect of symptoms of these conditions may be minimised if there is an understanding of the signs, symptoms, treatment and triggers that characterise each condition. Such understanding is vital for practitioners to bear in mind when considering ways to make the curriculum inclusive for children with chronic health conditions. However, it is also important to be aware that, even if there is careful management of the effects and symptoms, there can still be a significant impact upon children's health, meaning they may experience suboptimal health. As a consequence, children may experience poor wellbeing, which can impact on their learning. Figure 1.1 summarises the inter relationship between health, inclusion, wellbeing and learning.

Figure 1.1: Inter-relationship of chronic health conditions on health, inclusion, wellbeing and learning

minimise the impact of symptoms of chronic conditions on children by
•adapting the environment•helping children to cope with the environment
optimise children's feelings of 'being healthy'
increase feelings of well-being
increase participation in early childhood education - being included
increase developmental outcomes
increase individual educational attainment
increase personal contribution = increased sense of well being

The considerations that need to be borne in mind in order to make the curriculum inclusive for children with chronic health conditions are an additional layer of This is an important point for early years complexity. practitioners because this can mean that children in day care settings may be excluded from some aspects of early childhood education. The effects of exclusion may have an impact on children's wellbeing. This is a term that can have a range of definitions, however, definitions of wellbeing frequently link health as a factor that can influence an individual's sense of wellbeing. The Oxford English Dictionary defines wellbeing as "the state of being comfortable, healthy or happy". Statham and Chase (2010) define wellbeing as "generally understood as the quality of peoples' lives... it is understood both in relation to objective measures, such as... health status" (p.2). Laevers and Heylen (2003) measure children's level of wellbeing by assessing their involvement in activities. Therefore, it can be argued that children's wellbeing can be improved by minimising the effect of chronic health conditions on them, as well as by adapting activities to make them inclusive, thus maximising participation in early years education.

The chronic health conditions that are included in this study are very different conditions from each other and have different signs and symptoms. However, anaphylaxis, asthma and eczema are regarded as allergic (or atopic) conditions and it is not unusual for children to have a combination of two, or all of these conditions. Furthermore, anaphylaxis and allergy are descriptions of conditions that are often used interchangeably. Health conditions are diagnosed by the presence of signs and symptoms.

The Oxford Concise Medical Dictionary (2010) offers the following definitions:

- Sign: an indication of a particular disorder that is detected by a physician while examining a patient but is not apparent to the patient
- Symptom: an indication of a disease or disorder noticed by the patient
- Trigger: a substance that can exacerbate symptoms of chronic health conditions: for example, dust can exacerbate the symptoms of asthma.

Please note: For the remainder of this thesis, unless otherwise indicated, the use of the words child, children, parent, and parents refer to a child (children) under the age of five with chronic health condition(s) or their parent(s). Similarly, the use of the term practitioner(s) refers to those professionals caring for such children. In addition, to avoid repetition, the term 'chronic health conditions' will be abbreviated to CHCs.

Table 1.2 summarises important information about the conditions in this study. It includes information highlighting substances that can 'trigger' the symptoms of CHCs, as well as a summary of the possible impact on inclusion.

Chronic	Description of	Signs and symptoms	Typical triggers in	Possible impact	Treatment
condition and	condition	relevant to	a setting	on inclusion	
incidence		practitioners			
Anaphylaxis 6% of children diagnosed (NICE, 2011)	Severe allergic response (potentially fatal in rare cases). High incidence of children having other allergic conditions such as asthma and eczema	Rash, breathing difficulties, swelling of airway, lips and eyes, runny nose, vomiting	Foods (commonly nuts, kiwi, egg and lactose), animal dander and hair, latex	Managing the environment in order to remove the risk of contact with a known allergens may impact on some activities, e.g. contact with certain foods and animals	Avoidance of the allergen. Anti- histamine or adrenaline auto-injector (Epipen) if allergy triggered
Asthma 10-15% of children affected (NICE, 2013)	Inflammation of the breathing airways. Can be associated with allergy. Often exercise induced. Attacks can be fatal	Wheeze, cough and difficulty in breathing	Contact with allergens can trigger an asthma attack. Common triggers include dust, animal hair and saliva, pollen, chemicals, aerosols, physical activity, moving between contrasting temperatures and	Avoiding contact with an allergen can result in a child not taking part in certain activities. Reduced physical exercise. Reduced outdoor play in cold weather and during pollen	Reliever inhalers (blue) are frequently prescribed to be administered via a spacer device to give extra relief if a child is in contact with a trigger for their asthma. Preventer inhalers (typically brown, orange or purple)

Table 1.2: A summary of the chronic health conditions explored in the study

Chronic	Description of	Signs and symptoms	Typical triggers in	Possible impact	Treatment
condition and	condition	relevant to	a setting	on inclusion	
incidence		practitioners			
			viruses. Emotions	season	are usually prescribed
			such as crying,		for twice a day use and
			excitement and		can be given at home
			laughter can trigger a		
			response		
Diabetes	Usually an inherited	Low blood sugar levels	A change in a child's	Detailed knowledge	Treatment hinges on
Mellitus	condition where the	(hypoglycaemia) is a	expected intake of	is required to	achieving blood sugar
	pancreas produces no	first aid emergency	carbohydrate, physical	adapt the needs of	levels within the normal
Affects 4% of	or insufficient	requiring sugar-	exercise and insulin	children with	range. Therefore,
children aged	insulin (the hormone	containing food or	requirements can	diabetes to	carbohydrate intake and
0-4 years	required to	drink, or a prescribed	affect blood sugar	maintain normal	insulin dosage has to be
(Diabetes UK,	metabolise	substance such as	levels	blood sugar	adjusted accordingly.
2012: NICE,	carbohydrates)	"hypostop"		levels. For	Further adjustments have
2004)				example,	to be made if the child
		High blood sugar		activities that	is more or less
		levels		involve extra	physically active than
		(hyperglycaemia) is		carbohydrate, such	anticipated
		less likely to require		as celebrations	
		first aid in a		involving food,	
		setting, but does		must be planned to	
		require management to		ensure that there	
		return blood sugar		is a balance	
		levels to normal		between	
				carbohydrate	
				intake and insulin	
				requirements. A	
				lack of this	

Chronic	Description of	Signs and symptoms	Typical triggers in	Possible impact	Treatment
condition and	condition	relevant to	a setting	on inclusion	
incidence		practitioners			
				knowledge may lead	
				to children with	
				CHCs being	
				excluded from	
				activities	
Eczema	An inherited	Itchiness and	Can include pollen,	Reduced sensory	Regular use of emollient
	inflammatory skin	scratching. Bleeding	house dust mite, sand,	play, for example,	creams to moisturise
Exact figures	condition. Eczema	from lesions.	water, animal hair,	sand play.	skin. Avoiding contact
are not	comes from the Greek	Tiredness from	soap, modelling dough,	Tiredness can lead	with triggers where
available but	word "to boil"	disturbed sleep	food (tomatoes)	to lack of	possible. Vinyl gloves
estimated to be				concentration.	are sometimes used to
11%. Eczema is				Unsightly skin can	help children access
the most common				be a barrier to	activities that can
reason for				social interaction	trigger a reaction
children aged					
0-2 years					
consulting a					
family doctor					
(NICE, 2007)					
Epilepsy	Electrical impulses	Seizures	Avoiding or minimising	Lack of	Medication
	in the brain can		known triggers e.g.	interaction	
1:279 children	trigger seizure.	Tiredness, lack of	emotions such as		Avoiding known triggers
affected (0.4%)	There are many	concentration,	excitement, lighting	Lack of	First aid knowledge when
(NICE, 2013)	causes of this	developmental delay		concentration	a child has a soigure
	condition and			Requiring more	

Chronic	Description of	Signs and symptoms	Typical triggers in	Possible impact	Treatment
condition and	condition	relevant to	a setting	on inclusion	
incidence		practitioners			
	commonly include			sleep	
	brain damage, the				
	result of an				
	infection (such as				
	meningitis) or				
	genetic causes.				
	Sometimes there is				
	no clear reason				

Sources: Adopted and adapted from: Diabetes UK (2012) and National Institute for Health and Care Excellence Guidance (NICE) (2004, 2007, 2011, 2013a and 2013b)

Selecting the CHCs for this study was partly driven by the conditions that are included in the Managing Medicines in Schools and Early Years Settings Guidance (DfES/DofH, 2005) (the Guidance). Four of the five CHCs that have been selected for this study are included in the Guidance. The Guidance offers information to staff about the administration of medication to children with anaphylaxis, asthma, diabetes and epilepsy. These conditions are included in the Guidance because they are conditions "that most commonly cause concern in schools and settings" (p.25). However, the Guidance does not offer information about other CHCs that can affect young children. For example, it does not include information about eczema, which is a condition that affects a large number of young children. The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2007) estimate that eczema affects 11% of children between the ages of 6-18 months. This implies that there is likely to be a significant number of children with eczema in day care settings. As well as affecting a significant number of children, eczema can have a profound effect on their lives (Van Onselen, 2009; Dawber, 2008). However, little is known about how the symptoms of eczema affect their ability to access their early childhood Therefore, eczema has been included as one of the education. conditions alongside the others in this study.

An overarching principle of the EYFS is acknowledgement that "children develop and learn in different ways and at different rates" (p.3). In the same sentence the EYFS acknowledges that children with special educational needs (SENs) and disabilities are likely to require extra support in order to be able to include them in their early childhood education. The symptoms of the conditions selected for this study are less likely to affect children in the same ways as those children considered to have a SEN or a disability, therefore

it is possible that the effects of these conditions may be over-looked and possibly under-estimated. This may be why children with CHCs are not addressed in the framework.

The research and field questions

An aim of this study is to contribute towards developing a theory of inclusive practice for children with CHCs. The overarching research question asks "how do practitioners create inclusive environments in day care settings for children under the age of five with chronic health conditions?" The field questions examine the perspectives of practitioners, parents and children; the questions are:

- What are the effects of having a child with CHCs on parents and families?
- What are the effects of CHCs on children and how do the symptoms of CHCs affect their inclusion in day care?
- How do practitioners work with each other, and in partnership with parents, to include children with CHCs?

Whilst the aims of this study are to explore how practitioners make education and care inclusive for children with CHCs, it is important to point out what it does not aim to achieve. The study does not aim to give an in-depth description of each health condition, as this has been achieved elsewhere. Detailed information about each of the CHCs considered in this study can be found on the websites for charities associated with each condition. Further research will be needed to explore the fine detail of each particular condition and how the symptoms can affect inclusive education for young children.

The next section explains my positionality for investigating this area of research.

My positionality

My interest in this area of research has been formed from my personal and professional backgrounds. I am a Registered Sick Children's Nurse and have previously worked as a children's asthma nurse specialist. This has given me an insight into the effect on children and their families of living with CHCs. I gained personal experience of the effect of how asthma, anaphylaxis (a severe allergic response) and eczema can impact on children and their early childhood because my eldest daughter was diagnosed with these conditions about 26 years ago. The signs and symptoms of these conditions often created barriers to her being included in her early childhood education and sometimes in social events. When I became a teacher of ECEC, I became inspired by the wisdom of practitioners who were students on an Early Years Foundation Degree course. I taught them about the signs and symptoms of common childhood CHCs and they taught me how they would adapt activities to make them inclusive for such children. When I embarked upon my doctoral studies, I came to realise that including children in their early childhood education is an aspect of children's health that is under-reported in educational research. The education and care of young children under five is an area of personal and professional interest to me, therefore this study focuses on this age group. Consequently, my personal and professional interests have merged. I hope that attempting to develop a theory of how practitioners create inclusive environments for children with CHCs may have a transformative effect on the lives and education of such children (Clough and Nutbrown, 2007). This brief overview of my positionality will be expanded in more detail in the methodology section.

The next section summarises the aim of each chapter

Overview of chapters

Chapter 1: This chapter gives an overview of the aim of this research, which is to examine how practitioners create inclusive environments for young children with CHCs. It is important to appreciate that CHCs are different to complex medical needs and special educational needs (SENs). Significant numbers of children are affected by CHCs (see Table 1.2). However the effects of the symptoms of CHCs on ECEC is an under-reported area of research.

Chapter 2: This chapter uses the EYFS as a framework for examining considerations and challenges that adapting the aims and principles of the EYFS present to practitioners. The literature review draws on medical, nursing and educational databases.

Chapter 3: This chapter explains the methodological choices made in the study and justifies the design of a Case Study using mixed-methods. My positionality is explored in detail using Brookfield's (1995) autobiographical lenses. The methodological choice of a praxeological approach is explained (Pascal and Bertram, 2012). The choice for this approach was based on the assertion that practitioners used their phronesis, i.e. their wisdom and experience, to adapt the aims and principles of the EYFS.

Chapter 4: This chapter explains the approaches taken to analysis of the data. The quantitative data was analysed using a group table (Denscombe, 2007, p.258). The qualitative data was analysed using an approach taken from Glesne and Peshkin (1992). Using this approach, the data was organised into four main themes.

Chapter 5: The first part of this chapter covers the findings from the quantitative data. The findings show that there were

a significant number of children with CHCs in the settings who participated in the study. The second part of the chapter explains how the rich and complex qualitative data is reported in the following 3 chapters. The main themes and sub-themes are summarised in Table 5.3.

Chapter 6: The effects CHCs have on the children and their families in this study are reported. The findings highlight the range of effects and suggest that understanding by practitioners of these effects is critical to the development of inclusive relationships with parents and children. This, in turn, is essential to creating inclusive environments for the children concerned.

Chapter 7: This chapter considers the importance of communication with parents, between staff in settings and with health professionals.

Chapter 8: This chapter explains how the EYFS poses some considerations and challenges for practitioners when adapting the aims and principles of the framework in order to create an inclusive environment for children with CHCs. Some of the findings report how practitioners used their phronesis to adapt activities. Particular tensions are highlighted concerning the provision of food in day care settings.

Chapter 9: This chapter highlights the responsibilities and qualities demonstrated by the practitioners in this study. The findings emphasise the importance of knowledge and training for practitioners, especially relating to the administration of medication for children with CHCs.

Chapter 10: This chapter discusses the main findings from this study. An important finding is the collaborative leadership skills that practitioners applied to the many challenges that creating an inclusive environment posed for

them. The findings emphasise the importance of the parents' role in working in partnership with practitioners to communicate information about the management of children's CHCs. The discussion concludes that the EYFS poses many challenges for practitioners who work to create inclusive environments for children with CHCs and their parents. The discussion examines how children with CHCs may be excluded from their education if parents and practitioners are not willing and able to work together.

Chapter 11: This concluding chapter returns to the use of Brookfield's autobiographical lenses to reflect on the messages that conducting this research has taught me and formulate suggestions for future research.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction to the literature

This chapter explores the literature that relates to the research question for this study. Literature is drawn from the two disciplines of health care and early childhood education and care; therefore databases using the following key words were searched:

- Children's health and wellbeing
- Chronic health conditions (CHCs) in children
- Early childhood education birth to three
- Inclusion in early childhood

The revised version of the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) (DfE, 2012) has been used for this literature review to examine the considerations and challenges that the standards, aims and principles of the framework raise for practitioners who implement the EYFS for children with CHCs. The study explored the considerations made by the practitioners who participated in this study and how they adapted the framework for children with CHCs in order to include them in the curriculum. Although the EYFS creates a structure for the study, many of the issues that are discussed are relevant to practitioners who are educating and caring for children using other curricula.

The following sections in this chapter attempt to unpack each of these factors and explore them in the context of the literature. The aim is to examine the considerations and challenges that practitioners may have to address when adapting the EYFS in order to make early education inclusive for children with CHCs. The following headings have been

selected for this literature review to examine the aspects of the EYFS that practitioners may have to consider for children with CHCs:

- "Children learn best when they are healthy" (DfE, 2012, p.13)
- The welfare requirements of EYFS
- Personal, social and emotional development
- Including and supporting every child: current understanding of inclusion
- Inclusion of children with CHCs in education and society
- High quality early learning and staff qualifications, training, support and skills
- Playing and exploring in early childhood education
- Creating an enabling environment
- Positive relationships and the key person
- Partnership working with practitioners and/or carers

The next section turns to examining the aims of the EYFS for children's health and wellbeing and examines the considerations and possible challenges for children with CHCs.

Children learn best when they are healthy

This section aims to examine what this statement means for children with CHCs. Health is a nebulous concept and it is difficult to define. This is partly because, as Underdown (2007) states, health is a personal experience and can mean different things to different families. As well as an individual's interpretations of health, a person's health may be influenced by where one lives in the world. For example, children in the developing world have different threats to their health than children who live in the developed world. Similarly, even though England is a part of the developed world, there are socio-economic, socio-cultural, religious and economic factors that can influence perceptions and experiences of health. It is worth bearing in mind that the CHCs considered in this study can occur in children from all socio-economic, socio-cultural and religious groups. Therefore, the effects of the CHCs can be an additional negative influence on health and wellbeing. These influences can make it difficult to decide on a universally accepted definition of the term 'health'. Nevertheless, the World Health Organisation (WHO) (1986) offers the following:

The extent to which an individual or group is able on the one hand to realise the aspirations and satisfy needs; and, on the other hand, to change or cope with the environment. Health is, therefore seen as a resource for everyday life, not the objective of living; it is a positive concept emphasising social and personal resources, as well as physical capacities.

I have highlighted the words 'to change or cope with the environment' because adults play a significant role in managing the environment to help children with CHCs to achieve optimal health. For example, practitioners in day care settings can make changes in the environment to minimise the triggers of CHCs.

To illustrate the inter-relationship between health and education and the roles of parents and practitioners working in partnership for children with CHCs in settings, I have drawn on Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological systems theory (see Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory

The outer macrosystem in the context of this study is identified as the health and education policy in England for babies and young children. The information and understanding of how to manage the symptoms of CHCs may be held by parents, usually created with input from health professionals, in the exosystem. The mesosystem represents the role of practitioners who create an inclusive environment in the microsystem. Creating an inclusive environment may be partly achieved by working with parents. Therefore, in the context of this study, parents play a vital role as part of the They can be a conduit for information and mesosystem. knowledge from health professionals, who are another part of the exosystem, to practitioners. In turn, they can change the environment and help the child to cope in the microsystem. The inner circle represents the child in their education

environment and the ways in which the environment is managed can be a significant factor on the level of inclusion that children experience in their setting.

The following section discusses the link between health and wellbeing for children with CHCs.

The welfare requirements of the EYFS

The term welfare is synonymous with wellbeing (Oxford English Dictionary). As with health, the concept of children's wellbeing has become a focus of government policy and The National Institute for Health and Clinical quidance. Excellence (NICE, 2012), the National Health Service's evidence accreditation organisation, outlines in its Public Health Guidance for Social and Emotional wellbeing in the early years, the importance of good wellbeing for children. This guidance includes a number of factors that can impact upon children's wellbeing and children's health is one of them. However, it does not clarify what is meant by the use of the terms 'health' or 'healthy'. As previously stated, the symptoms of CHCs may result in children experiencing suboptimal or poor health. Feeling unhealthy or unwell can result in 'poor' (p.18) wellbeing, because of the effects of the symptoms of the conditions on children. A reduced sense of wellbeing may have implications for children's ability or desire to be involved with activities. As a consequence, they may not be included in the curriculum and this may affect their learning and development.

Assessing the level of wellbeing of very young children may be challenging. As previously mentioned, Laevers and Heylen (2003) measure children's level of wellbeing by observing the degree of their involvement in activities. In the context of this study, children with CHCs may be inhibited from becoming

involved with activities because of the symptoms of their condition. Therefore, their sense of wellbeing may be reduced as a consequence of suboptimal health and, in turn, this can have a negative effect on their learning. On the other hand, if they feel healthy, they have increased involvement in activities and a better sense of wellbeing. This suggests that close observation of children to identify their level of involvement in activities may be important in identifying how to promote maximum involvement with activities and minimal exclusion.

So far, I have attempted to explain the relationship between health, or more specifically, suboptimal health, caused by the symptoms of CHCs, and how they may affect wellbeing and involvement in learning and how this may result in exclusion. The next section discusses the link between health, wellbeing and social and emotional development.

Personal, social and emotional development

The EYFS has included social and emotional development as a prime area of learning and development. The NICE (2012) quidance links the concept of good wellbeing with positive emotional and social development. In an example of crossgovernmental policy about young children's learning and development, the NICE guidance endorses the EYFS aim of providing "the building blocks for healthy behaviours and educational attainment" (p.33). It further adds that emotional and social wellbeing "provides the basis for future health and life chances" (p.18). The guidance goes on to support the EYFS approach to promoting social and emotional Therefore, it is relevant to explore the effects wellbeing. of the symptoms of CHCs on children's social and emotional development. For example, the effect of eczema is widely

reported as having a negative impact on emotional and social experiences (NICE, 2007). Lawton (2005) illustrates this point by stating that "eczema is a distressing condition that can severely impair self-esteem" (p.278). In turn, she claims that low self-esteem has implications for children's abilities to develop relationships with friends and family members. Her view is echoed by Shekariah, Kalavala and Alfaham (2010) who claim that an effect of eczema on children is low self-esteem and decreased participation in social activities. The reasons why eczema is cited as a negative impact on children's social and emotional development is not made explicit in the literature. However, this is possibly due to the fact that signs and symptoms of the disease cause pain and discomfort. Another consideration is that eczema is a visible condition, especially if it is present on areas of the body that are difficult to cover, such as the face or hands, which may also have an impact on children's participation in social activity.

Not surprisingly, children who have three or more CHCs concurrently are more prone to poor wellbeing. Waters, Davis, Nicolas, Wake and Lo (2008) claim that the presence of concurrent CHCs "significantly burdens children's health and wellbeing" (p.428). This is a salient point to consider for this study, because it is not uncommon for children to be diagnosed with a combination of asthma, anaphylaxis/allergy and eczema. This means that such children are more likely to experience poorer health and poorer wellbeing. In turn, poor health and poor wellbeing can lead to reduced social and emotional development in older children (NICE, 2012). Waters et al (2008) consulted the views of school age children, who had been diagnosed with asthma, allergies, diabetes and epilepsy, and their parents, to find out how they thought living with one or more of these conditions affected their lives. They found that the effect of sleep disturbance caused

by CHCs resulted in children reporting reduced feelings of wellbeing. This claim is illustrated by reports from parents of children with eczema who note that their children found sleep difficult because of persistent itching (Gill, 2006). Children with asthma can experience coughing at night, which can interrupt sleep (Levy, Weller and Hilton, 2006). Children with epilepsy who require medication are especially vulnerable to the effects of sleep deprivation and tiredness, as a consequence of the side effects of the medication (Anderson, 2006). Clark (2003) reported how older children with diabetes experienced nightmares when their blood sugar level went low, and consequently sleep disturbance can occur. Adequate sleep is essential for healthy brain development and deprivation can result in children being tired and irritable during the day. In turn, this can have an effect on children's emotional and social development (Lewis-Jones, 2006). Lack of sleep can also result in difficulties in concentration and this can affect children's cognitive development (Dahl, 1996; Meijer, Habekothe and Van Den Wittenboer, 2000). Therefore, it would appear that adequate amounts of good quality sleep for children is an important consideration for inclusion.

The majority of the research drawn from databases has involved school-aged children and their parents. This suggests that further research needs to be conducted in order to learn more about how CHCs affect children under the age of five. Understanding how to minimise the effects of CHCs may help to develop appropriate interventions aimed at promoting good social and emotional wellbeing for children in the early years of life. Greater awareness of how to adapt everyday activities for children may help to promote good wellbeing, and in turn promote inclusion.

The following section examines current understandings of inclusion and examines some of the reasons that CHCs are not widely considered in the discourse of inclusion. It also highlights some examples of how CHCs can impact on inclusion.

Including and supporting every child: current understandings of inclusion

The EYFS seeks "to provide equality of opportunity and antidiscriminatory practice, ensuring that every child is included and supported" (p.2). This statement is extended to emphasise the need to support children with special educational needs (SENs) and disability, and states that reasonable adjustments should be made to include them. The statutory framework requires settings to promote inclusive practice and value diversity and difference. However, the requirement to promote inclusive practice may be interpreted only in relation to SENs, and disability. This may be because the reasons why children and families are viewed as different or diverse are not made explicit in the EYFS. Also, the EYFS does not specify that children with CHCs require special consideration, even though practitioners aiming to implement the aims and principles of the EYFS may find there are challenges to inclusion for children with such conditions.

The association between inclusion and SENs and disability appears to have been partly shaped by social and government policy which aimed to demonstrate commitment to social justice (Paliokosta and Blandford, 2010). Petriwskyj (2010) supports the view that inclusion can be associated with identifying and meeting the education needs of children in compulsory education with disabilities and SENs. The reasons why inclusion continues to be associated with SENs and disability may be a legacy of previous legislation. The introduction of the Education Act of 1870 made education compulsory for

children who were regarded as educable. However, this inferred that some children were regarded as ineducable; an example of a health condition that resulted in children being regarded as ineducable was epilepsy. The Elementary Education (Defective and Epileptic Children) Act 1899 was introduced in order to segregate children who experienced epileptic seizures in their education setting, possibly to minimise the disruption caused by a child having a seizure in front of the rest of the class. However, having the other CHCs that are examined in this study were not, at that time, considered to be reasons for children to be deemed ineducable.

The Warnock Report (DES, 1978) brought a change in how disability was perceived. It helped to develop ways to integrate children, with conditions that may affect their education, into mainstream education. The Special Educational Needs Code of Practice (2001) was a further step in the development of the changing approach to identifying and meeting the needs of children with conditions that may be barriers to them accessing the curriculum. However, the Code of Practice did not name the CHCs in this study as being conditions that could result in children not being able to access the curriculum even though CHCs can equally disable an individual's ability to take part in daily activities. The Disability Discrimination Act (HM Government, 1995, section 1.1) describes a disabled person as "anyone with a physical or mental impairment, which has a substantial and long term ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities". Goodley (2011) suggests that disability leads to exclusion and people with disability are disabled by contemporary society. This results in disablism, which is defined by Marks (1999b, p.611, cited in Goodley, 2011) as "those times when the environment, body and psyche serves to exclude certain people from becoming full participants in interpersonal, social, cultural, economic
and political affairs" (p.9). These definitions of disability and disablism are pertinent to this study. As the research question for this study implies, practitioners who implement the EYFS standards, aims and principles have to bear in mind additional considerations and challenges to include children with CHCs. If practitioners do not adapt the environment so that it enables children to participate in the EYFS, children may experience disablism and they may be excluded from their early education.

The move towards the philosophy of inclusion has meant there has been a shift from SENs towards other considerations of what can make a child different or special. For example, Meighan and Siraj-Blatchford (2003) suggest that belonging to a minority group in society may result in exclusion from education. The Index for Inclusion (Booth, Ainscow and Kingston, 2004) was a major step in widening the scope of factors that can contribute to exclusion. The Index stated that inclusion should be viewed "as a principled approach to action in education and policy" (p.3) and encouraged practitioners to examine the culture of a setting and adapt the environment in order to promote inclusion. However, consideration of exclusive factors created by the effects of CHCs are not addressed in the Index for Inclusion.

Current understandings of inclusion are broader and Nutbrown, Clough and Atherton (2013) list a range of factors that are considered as possible "arenas for inclusion or exclusion" (box 2.1, p.9). However, CHCs are not explicitly mentioned as a factor that can lead to exclusion. Nevertheless, as outlined in Chapter 1, their assertion that "inclusion may be seen as the drive towards maximal participation in and minimal exclusion from early years settings, from school and from society" (Nutbrown and Clough, 2006, p.3) summarises the aim

of this study. This is because practitioners need to ensure that children are included in as many, or ideally all, activities in day care settings (i.e. they are achieving maximal participation).

The next section discusses the literature that is relevant to including children with CHCs in education and society.

Inclusion of children with chronic health conditions in education and society

So far, I have attempted to highlight that there is a lack of acknowledgement in the discourse of inclusion, and in legislation, that children with CHCs may require special consideration with regard to inclusion in their early education. This oversight is mirrored in the limited literature available that considers inclusion of children with CHCs.

There were two notable exceptions: an article by Mukherjee, Lightfoot and Sloper (2000) drawn from the British Education database; and, the findings of a study by Pitchforth, Weaver, Willars, Wawrzkowicz, Luyt and Dixon-Woods (2011) from a medical database.

Mukherjee et al (2000) report their findings from a study of primary and secondary school children with diabetes, eczema and asthma. Their findings concluded that teachers are a major source of support for such pupils, but the extent and quality of this support varied widely. There were several reasons for this variablity that are relevant to this study. The first reason offered to explain the lack of consistency in support was linked to the variations in teachers' awareness and understanding of health conditions. For this present study, this point raises questions about practitioners' understanding and awareness of CHCs. It also raises questions

about how and where they gain knowledge and training to enable them to understand CHCs.

They offered that the variablity of support in their findings was because of the teachers' perceptions of their role and responsibilities to pupils with CHCs. They go on to state that if a child has a condition "which prevents or hinders them from making use of educational facilities" (DfES, 2001, p.6), they receive a statement of special educational need. The main point of access for support is when they become the responsibility of the special educational needs coordinator (SENCO). However, children with the CHCs in this study are unlikely to be seen as having conditions that prevent them from accessing education. Their findings highlight the importance of practitioners recognising that the symptoms of CHCs can be barriers to inclusion. The findings also raise questions about how practitioners coordinate planning the EYFS to include children with CHCs.

Pitchforth et al (2011) report the experiences of 26 families with a child who had been diagnosed with nut allergy. The findings describe how parents of children with nut allergy become "alert assistants" (p.10) to create safe spaces to provide food for the child. These parents reported high levels of anxiety caused by needing to be constantly aware of food in the environment because it may be potentially fatal for their child with allergy/anaphylaxis. Some parents stated that they found it easier not to eat away from home because of their concerns. They described the restrictions caused by their children's dietary restrictions when eating away from home as akin to "a form of social exclusion or discrimination" (p.10). Similarly, Cummings, Knibb, King and Lucas's (2010) study of school-aged children with anaphylaxis to food reported the fear and anxiety they experienced when attending

parties and school trips. Their anxiety was because of the risk of food being present that may cause them to have an allergic reaction. These findings suggest that food and mealtimes are a source of anxiety to the parents of children with anaphylaxis as well as to the children themselves. Issues concerning the provision of food highlighted in these studies raise several points for consideration for practitioners in day care settings. For instance, the EYFS highlights the importance of providing healthy meals for children with dietary requirements. This includes ensuring the safe provision of food. For example, children with allergies must not be given food to which they are allergic and which may provoke a reaction. However, as Pitchforth et al (2011) and Cummings et al (2010) report, the provision of food is known to be a source of difficulty and potential exclusion for children with dietary restrictions. This raises the question of whether practitioners experience similar anxieties because of the responsibility associated with monitoring food for children with dietary restrictions. The need to create safe places for providing food to children with dietary restrictions raises the question of how mealtimes in day care settings are organised. For example, how do practitioners ensure that mealtimes are safely included in the social activity of eating? The children with dietary restriction in Cummings et al's study were of school age and were able to express their anxieties. However, it is not known if young children exhibit behaviour that suggests they are aware of potential difficulties associated with providing safe food.

So far, this section has examined some of the current interpretations of inclusion and issues that are raised in relation to this. It also examined why inclusion is an important subject for young children. Nutbrown and Clough

(2009) suggest that the inclusion of children in their early years settings and school helps to include people in society. However, they extend this view beyond the early years and argue that belonging to a group in society creates a sense of citizenship. Baker (2013) supports this view and claims that the EYFS is "an important pathway to develop active citizenship" (p.1). She makes this claim because of the emphasis that the EYFS places on Personal, Social and Emotional Development (PSED). Therefore, she proposes that the prime area of PSED can be used to promote participation in the social world of the early years setting and these skills can be used to develop greater civic engagement in later years in order to improve society. Baker warns that for this approach to work, "children need to be in a state of emotional wellbeing, feel secure and have a positive self-identity and Therefore, in the context of this study, self-esteem" (p.4). it is important that children with CHCs are enabled to be healthy so that they can engage with activities. In turn, according to Laevers and Heylen (2003), this will help them to develop a sense of good wellbeing, which in turn will predispose them to develop the skills that are essential for citizenship and being part of society in later life. The sense of belonging in the early years appears to influence an individual's ability as an adult to take part in society and make an economic contribution and therefore, create greater national economic success (Walker, Wachs, Grantham-McGregor, Black, Nelson, Huffman, Baker-Henningham and Chang, 2011). However, achieving these goals, as embedded in the principles of the EYFS, requires practitioners to be able to embed inclusive processes in the curriculum and pedagogy in order to help children to fulfill their potential (Nutbrown, Clough and Atherton, 2013). Achieving these goals is partly dependent on practitioners having the qualifications, training, support and

skills that are necessary to deliver high quality care that is tailored to the needs of children with CHCs. These points are discussed in the following section.

High quality early learning: staff qualifications, training, support and skills

The EYFS highlights the importance of high quality care for This section turns to examine the considerations children. for practitioners aiming to achieve high quality provision for The discourse of quality is an evolving children with CHCs. one and, according to Reed and Canning (2012), implementing quality is a continuous process and there are many facets that contribute to the discourse of quality. However central to implementing and delivering high quality pre-school education is the workforce. This is a point made in the Ten Year Child Care Strategy (HM Treasury, 2004), which links a high quality workforce with a highly qualified, graduate workforce. This view was reflected in a recommendation of the Nutbrown Review (2012) that an aim for government should be to create ways to provide "consistently high quality childcare" (p.4). The Effective Provision of Pre-School Education (EPPE) project (Sylva, Melhuish, Sammons, Siraj-Blatchford, and Taggart, 2004) found that high quality pre-school education is a fundamental influence on individuals being enabled to reaching their potential. Children who do not reach their expected developmental outcomes are less likely to reach their full potential and this can have a negative effect on the individual in childhood (Grantham-McGregor, Cheung, Cueta, Glewwe, Richter and Strupp, 2007). Walker et al (2011) extend this view and conclude that strong foundations laid down in early childhood have a lifespan impact.

Studies that examined children with CHCs and the effect of the quality of early childhood education were difficult to locate

in the literature. One exception is a study by Vernon-Feagans and Manlove (2005) who conducted research in day care settings on children in the first three years of life who had experienced chronic ear infections. The damage to their ears led to hearing loss and as a consequence, some children had social and language developmental delay compared to their The findings concluded that high quality care in a peers. supportive environment, with one-to-one intervention for children with practitioners, helped to compensate for the hearing loss and developmental delay associated with chronic ear infections. However, children with chronic ear infections in poor quality environments were deemed to be at the highest risk of poor developmental outcomes. Although chronic ear infections are not one of the conditions included in my study, Vernon-Feagans and Manlove's findings can be applied to practitioners who are supporting the needs of children with For example, the quality of care could be indicated by CHCs. the interventions practitioners need to make to create an inclusive environment for such children. Their findings suggest that practitioners can minimise the impact of the symptoms, or side effects, of CHCs by providing high quality care. However, their ability to do so may depend on their qualifications, training, support and skills. This is discussed in the following section.

The EYFS states that the quality of children's daily experience depends on "all practitioners having appropriate qualifications, training, skills and knowledge" (p.16). For practitioners who are creating inclusive environments for children with CHCs, qualifications that include knowledge of the specific CHCs is likely to be critical to their understanding of how to implement the EYFS and maximise inclusion. This point links to Mukherjee *et al's* (2000) assertion that the experience of school-aged children with

CHCs depended on teachers' levels of knowledge, as well the interest that they took in the children. Therefore, the reality of inclusion depended on the individual teacher and their personal commitment to the welfare of the child. Part of commitment to the welfare of children can be reflected in the qualifications, training, support and skills that practitioners have or demonstrate in their practice.

As well as qualifications, training that updates their knowledge and ability to administer medicines is an important consideration for practitioners. The EYFS states that settings must have a policy that aims to manage the administration of medicines safely. It also states "training must be provided for staff where the administration of medicine requires medical or technical knowledge" (p.22). Medication can come in a variety of forms. For example, liquid syrups, inhalers, injections or creams and are commonly prescribed in order to suppress or minimise the symptoms of In addition to medical and technical knowledge, there CHCs. is a need for practitioners to have in depth knowledge of the importance of the psychological aspects of medicine-giving. For instance, Clark (2003) discusses the importance of surrounding medicine-giving by a "playful ritual" (p.61) to help the child accept the need for medicine as part of their everyday life. This may be an important aspect of care for children to learn about from parents so that it can be emulated in the setting. However, in the absence of a playful ritual, the key person may be best placed to develop such an approach in order to gain the cooperation of children during medicine-giving. In turn, this will help to minimise the symptoms, which may help them to feel healthier, increase their feelings of wellbeing and enable them to take part in activities and be included in their setting.

So far, this section has summarised some key issues about the role of practitioners and how their qualifications, training and skills can help to equip them to deliver high quality care. The next section highlights some aspects of the curriculum that may require interventions by practitioners to make them inclusive for children with CHCs.

Playing and exploring in Early Childhood Education

This section explores the EYFS principle which states that "play is essential for children's development... children learn by leading their own play" (p.6). Furthermore, the EYFS states that educational programmes must include activities that enable children to explore and play with a wide range of media and materials. A play-based curriculum raises considerations for practitioners adapting play in order to make them inclusive for children with CHCs. The belief that young children learn through a pedagogy of play is a view that is influenced by Piaget's (Piaget and Inhelder, 1969) theory of cognitive development which suggests that children learn and develop their intellect through sensorimotor experiences. The aspects of play that will be discussed in this section are sensory (or messy) play and outdoor play.

Moyles (2012) offers a contemporary view of the importance of messy play as a valuable way of offering learning opportunities to young children. She suggests that the use of activities that include open-ended materials, which are resources that have no pre-determined uses (Drew and Rankin, 2004). Examples of open-ended substances include water, sand, modelling clay, shaving foam and food, such as jelly. Engagement by children with such substances can stimulate their creativity and offer them the opportunities to explore. Such experiences can help children to make discoveries and can

enhance cognitive skills. Drew and Rankin go on to state that promoting children's creativity is helpful in promoting greater competence in children. Therefore, the sensory, or messy, play that practitioners include in their planning in day care settings are important for young children's learning. However, all of the substances mentioned above can be common triggers for asthma, anaphylaxis and eczema. To illustrate this point, Figure 2.3 shows a child engaging with a messy play activity that uses shaving foam. Figure 2.4 shows a photograph of the hands and arms of an individual with eczema. It is probable that children with eczema would find the contact with shaving foam on their skin an intolerable experience. Therefore, adapting messy and sensory activities for children with CHCs may pose a challenge to practitioners.

Figure 2.3: Child engaging in messy play with shaving foam



Figure 2.4: Image of person with eczema - photograph obtained from Wikipedia



Messy play photograph used with permission from Susanne Axelsson

Turning to considerations about outdoor play, the EYFS requires practitioners to provide daily outdoor activities and ensure that "outdoor activities are planned and taken on a daily basis" (p.24). Outdoor play can offer opportunities for physical activities that can contribute towards the development of physical and mental wellbeing (Wood, 2013). For example, physical movement helps to increase the amount of calories that are used by the body. This reduces the risk of becoming obese which can help to promote good wellbeing for individuals which, as previously discussed, has implications through the life span. Pellegrini, Depuis and Smith (2006) point out that the amount of physical play that children engage with is at its highest peak during the pre-school They further suggest that young children are preyears. disposed to physical, or locomotor play. Pellegrini and Smith (1998) highlight the link between physical play and intellectual development. Therefore, if children are inhibited from outdoor and/or physical play, this may be a disadvantage for their development. For example, Pellegrini et al (2006) suggest that children who engage with physically

vigorous play, such as rough and tumble play, exhibit decreased levels of aggression. Therefore, children who are inhibited from such activities because of the symptoms of CHCs, may be at risk of developing aggressive behaviour.

Wood (2013) identifies some considerations about inclusion for children in outdoors spaces, for example issues about gender and culture. However, being outdoors and engaging in outdoor play may be problematic for children with certain CHCs and may result in exclusion for them. For example, the airways of children with asthma can be sensitive to the temperature changes that are experienced as a consequence of moving from a warm room into a cold outdoor area. As well as temperature change, physical exercise can trigger asthma symptoms and both examples could mean that a child experiences an asthma attack. Uncontrolled asthma that results in an asthma attack is an unpleasant and a potentially fatal experience (Levy *et al*, 2006).

Moreover, the symptoms of diabetes can be challenging when planning outdoor play involving physical activity. For example, Riddell and Iscoe (2006) stress the importance of physical activity for children with diabetes to prevent longterm complications of the condition in later life (heart disease is an example of this). However, they also caution that there are practical considerations associated with planning safe physical exercise for children. The considerations include the need to balance the intake of carbohydrate and insulin dosage with the "timing, mode, duration and intensity of exercise" (p.16). Clearly this approach requires specialist knowledge to achieve safe physical exercise, but the point is included to highlight some of the complexities that must be addressed to make outdoor physical play activities inclusive for children with diabetes.

An aim is to provide physical activity with few limitations "so that they can derive the social, psychological and physiological benefits of a physically active lifestyle" (p.23).

These examples highlight that there may be limitations imposed upon children with CHCs because of the possibility of triggering symptoms that can have unpleasant side effects. Parents and practitioners may impose restrictions on children's activities for this reason. However, another question to consider is how children respond to activities that may exacerbate symptoms and whether they exclude themselves from valuable learning activities. Restrictions on children's play activities as a consequence of the symptoms of CHCs may have wider implications for children's development as well as their sense of wellbeing. This again highlights the importance of this study to help understand how practitioners modify factors such as the physical environment and daily activity to include children with CHCs.

The next section discusses some of the issues that practitioners may have to consider when creating an environment that enables inclusion for children with CHCs.

Creating an enabling environment

The EYFS states that providers need to create "enabling environments" (p.3) in which children can learn and develop well. It also states that "premises and equipment must be organised in a way that meets the needs of children" (p.24). Creating an enabling environment for children with CHCs requires consideration by practitioners to make the microsystem inclusive for these children. For example, the symptoms of asthma, eczema and anaphylaxis can be triggered by animal hair, dust and pollen, all of which may be present in

day care settings. Salo, Sever and Zeldin (2009) researched the levels of allergens in day care settings and found there were significant levels in bedding and soft toys. This finding illustrates the need to have a rigorous cleaning regime for the premises. Such cleaning extends to putting soft toys into a freezer compartment to kill house dust mites (Levy et al, 2006) because this reduces the presence of this allergen, thus reducing a trigger in the environment. The EYFS suggests that a way that children can learn understanding of the world is by observing animals. Their observations of animals can help them to make comparisons and appreciate differences and similarities (Linfield, 2013). Observing animals may also help children to gain an understanding of how to care for living creatures. Consequently, some settings may have pets such as guinea pigs, but practitioners may not have considered that hairy animals can be a trigger for the symptoms of asthma, eczema and anaphylaxis. Reducing the presence of animals in the environment may create a tension for practitioners, because removing animals because of the possibility of their hair provoking an allergic reaction for some children may disadvantage children who are not allergic to them.

This section has touched on some of the considerations that practitioners need to bear in mind when creating an enabling environment. The next section changes direction and discusses the relationships that need to develop so that inclusive environments can be created for children with CHCs.

Positive relationships and the key person

One of the overarching principles of the EYFS is that "children learn to be strong and independent through positive relationships" (DfE, 2012, p.3). This reflects the findings

from neuroscientific research (Gerhardt, 2004) that states that children thrive emotionally by experiencing high quality relationships with other people, primarily their parents. In the absence of their parents in a day care setting, the role of a key person is viewed as vital for the child's emotional wellbeing and development (Elfer, Goldschmied and Selleck, The development of the relationship between a key 2003). person and their key child requires time and understanding for them to form a dyad where they are tuned into each other. However, there may be difficulties associated with CHCs that are problematic for the development of a positive relationship. For example, as stated earlier, sleep deprivation resulting in excessive tiredness may cause children to be irritable (Gill, 2006). Another example of a difficulty as a result of behaviour caused by CHCs is that a child with eczema may dislike being held because of the attendant discomfort and this may also cause irritability. If a child dislikes being held, it may mean that the child is denied the opportunity of "snuggling in" (David, Goouch, Powell and Abbott, 2003, p.63) with their key person in order to gain physical and emotional comfort. An irritable baby may be difficult to please and this may result in the key person questioning his or her ability to soothe the child which in turn could cause resentment on the part of the practitioner.

It must also be acknowledged that eczema can be a disfiguring skin condition, and Gill (2006) challenges nurses to examine their willingness to have physical contact with children who have unpleasant-looking skin because of eczema. This has an implication for practitioners who are required to have close physical contact with their key children and they too may find contact with eczematous skin a distasteful experience. This clearly raises important issues for inclusive practice in early childhood settings.

These examples aim to illustrate issues that may affect the relationship of children with CHCs and their key person developing in a positive way. According to Page (2011), babies in day care settings need professional love from their caregivers. If such relationships do not develop because of the difficulties outlined above, and babies are not benefitting from the professional love of their key person, this may impact negatively on the holistic development of the child. In turn, this may mean that the child is being denied inclusion in their setting. However, issues pertaining to relationships do not stop with the child and include other people, especially parents. The next section discusses the considerations for practitioners who work to create inclusive partnerships with parents.

Partnership working with practitioners and/or carers

Froebel, in the nineteenth century, championed the belief that educators should work closely with parents (Tovey, 2013). In contemporary times, the EYFS seeks to provide "partnership working between practitioners and with parents and/or carers" (p.2). However, the discourse of practitioners working with parents is an evolving field of research and little is known about how parents and practitioners work in partnership to create inclusive environments for children for CHCs. Reasons given for the importance of practitioners working with all parents include the need to care, protect and advocate for children (McDowall-Clark, 2012). All of these reasons may resonate even more so with parents of children with CHCs. In relation to this study, using Bronfenbrenner's (1994) model, the parents, or other carers, can be regarded as the mesosystem because they act as the "linkages and processes taking place between two or more settings containing the developing person" (p.40). Parents are usually the best

placed adults to provide information about their child and the management of their CHC. This information may originate from parents taking their child to a hospital consultation; for example, such information may include treatment changes that need to be implemented whilst the child is in their setting. In addition to medical information, parents are likely to have a wealth of knowledge that practitioners will need in order to adapt the environment and or curriculum. Therefore, parents can be the bridge between children's exosystem and the microsystem (see Figure 2.1). This requires parents to have resources to fulfil this role and this may be especially challenging for marginalised and disadvantaged parents (Field, 2010), this point will be returned to below.

The information that is given to practitioners by parents will be fundamental to planning the curriculum so they can adapt activities to make them inclusive. However, relationships with parents also need to be inclusive and developing relationships between parents and practitioners, according to Brooker (2010), is an intricate process. It is possible that the presence of a CHC in a child adds another dimension to the development of practitioner and parent relationships. Some mothers may feel that they are being forced back to work and this may cause maternal anxieties and may create difficulties in developing relationships with practitioners. This is illustrated by Daud, Garralda and David's (1993) study where lower levels of maternal employment were noted in the children with eczema than in the control group. This suggests that some mothers of children with CHCs may choose to opt out of employment to care for their pre-school children. However, many mothers do not have the option of remaining at home and need to work. Page (2010) describes the dilemmas faced by the mothers in her study as they make decisions about childcare. She reports the anxieties they experienced because of leaving

their children to be cared for in an out of home setting. It is likely that mothers of children with CHCs will have additional dilemmas and anxieties about the ability of practitioners to care for their child.

The literature from the health databases revealed some insights into the experiences of parents living with children with CHCs. Some of these will be discussed further to highlight additional considerations for practitioners to address when establishing relationships with parents. Edwards and Titman (2010) point out that some parents and children will be more resilient to the impact of living with CHCs than others, so it should not be assumed that all parents experience the same emotions. On the other hand, Gillespie, Woodgate and Chalmers (2007) report high levels of emotional responses amongst parents caring for a child with a CHC. For example, Bowes, Lowes, Warner and Gregory (2008) state that the "chronic sorrow in parents of children with type 1 diabetes is so profound that it was likened to a grief reaction akin to a bereavement" (p.992). Such feelings continued for years after diagnosis. This study also reported parents' on-going feelings of upset when they watched their children having, or had to give their child, their insulin injection.

Anxiety and fear were other emotions reported by parents. For example, mothers of children with potentially fatal food allergies described how they found it difficult to relax when their child was away from their supervision (Gillespie *et al*, 2007). A similar fear is described by the parents of a two year old girl, whose asthma symptoms were provoked by the emotion of excitement. She became excited at playgroup and the only way that they felt they could avoid her having an asthma attack was for her not to attend playgroup (Nocon and

Booth, 2001). Thus she was excluded from accessing crucial early years education. The literature therefore suggests that parental anxieties can result in them becoming over protective and this can be conveyed to children through their parents' actions and words. In turn, further studies have shown that this can mean that a child becomes anxious and fractious (Mullins, Wolfe-Christensen, Hoff Pai, Carpenter, Gillaspy, Cheek and Page, 2007).

The parents' position in the mesosystem (Bronfenbrenner, 1979) means that they have a crucial role in gathering relevant information from health professionals regarding the management of their child's CHCs. Parents will also have information about how they manage their child's CHCs at home. This information will be important for practitioners to understand how to develop inclusive education for children. Therefore, parents will need to have the resources to convey the information to practitioners. Such resources include an ability to understand how to interpret such information. Therefore, parents are likely to need a level of understanding of spoken and written language. As previously mentioned, marginalised and disadvantaged parents may not have the resources available to fulfil their role in the child's mesosystem. This resonates with Knowles and Holmstrom's (2013) view that Bourdieu's (Bourdieu and Passeron, 2000) notion of social and cultural capital is associated with increased levels of educational achievement. Knowles and Holstrom argue that parents who have "stores of social capital" (2013, p.21) are more likely to provide knowledge and understanding that help to promote their children's development and learning. This implies that, for this study, if parents have knowledge and understanding of their children's CHCs, they will have greater ability to know how to manage the condition. In turn, this will help to promote

their children's learning and development and, consequently, increase their educational achievement. Developing stores of social capital may be challenging for marginalised and disadvantaged parents who perhaps lack the social and educational capital to fulfil this aspect of their parenting role. Therefore, as Knowles and Holmstrom point out, the interpersonal skills and knowledge of practitioners will be even more vital in order to be able to manage chronic CHCs and work with parents in a way that is inclusive.

Conclusion

The review of the literature has considered some of the current interpretations of inclusion in the UK. It appears that inclusion in early childhood education has positive benefits not only for children's learning and development, but also for adults across an individual's lifespan. The literature has reported some of the benefits associated with learning through play, in particular with messy and outdoor play. Children having access to inclusive early education is thought to develop citizenship in adulthood, therefore this has a positive benefit to society. An example of how early childhood education promotes citizenship includes social activities such as eating and developing relationships. However, the review of the literature has highlighted many considerations and some challenges for practitioners who work with the EYFS and it indicates that there are significant aspects of the framework that need to be adapted to make education inclusive for children with CHCs. In particular, the review has highlighted many considerations for children with eczema. As previously, speculated, this is possibly because the symptoms of eczema are visible.

The literature reviewed suggests that the EYFS's aim to include and support all children may mean that inclusion in England appears to be about finding ways for the child to fit in with the existing curriculum and environment (Bertram and Pascal, 2002). In contrast, in New Zealand, the Te Whatu Pokeka project (New Zealand Ministry of Education, 2009) has been developed. This is so called because a pokeka is a Maori blanket made of flax and woven in the inside of the blanket are albatross feathers which protect the child, providing warmth, comfort and security. The blanket takes the shape of the child as it grows and this individuality is reflected in how the curriculum is determined and shaped by each child. The "Te Whatu Pokeka" philosophy is of inclusion for 'children with difference'. In this study, the differences are caused by the symptoms of CHCs that require adaptations to the Te Whatu Pokeka may be a more suitable philosophy curriculum. to adapt for an early years curriculum. This analogy reflects my vision of how practitioners can learn about how each child is affected by their CHC. It also reflects my vision of how practitioners can work in partnership with parents to adapt the environment and curriculum so it fits the child and reduces the impact of exclusive factors that may lead to disablism.

Despite the limited literature focusing specifically on the factors raised in my research question, there are numerous issues regarding the inclusion of children with CHCs in ECEC, and there is a clear need to understand how practitioners address such issues. The challenge for me as a researcher was to find out how they created an inclusive environment for such children. The next chapter sets out the methodological choices I selected in order to explain why I approached my study in the way I did.

Chapter 3: Methodology and Methods

Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to explain and justify the methodological choices and research methods I selected for It will also reflect on methodological issues this study. that I have encountered whilst conducting my research. The chapter begins with an exploration of my positionality for this research and also examines my reflexivity as a researcher. I then examine these issues from the four perspectives of my life that have shaped my motivation for These perspectives are as a nurse; a mother; a this research. teacher and a researcher. I begin with a discussion on what is meant by the term 'being an ethical researcher'. This is an important consideration for all researchers, but given the sensitivity of the topic of his thesis, this was a particular concern for me.

Becoming an ethical researcher: reflexivity and positionality

This research was designed to explore how children with CHCs are included in the aims of the EYFS and central to this study is my desire to conduct research that is ethical. Ethics can be viewed from a regulatory perspective and this includes the procedure of appraising ethical considerations relating to the research as laid out by BERA (2011) and applying for permission from the University to conduct the research (University of Sheffield, 2010). However, ethics do not fit neatly into one section of my thesis. This is because ethical considerations are embedded in every step of the research process and for me this started prior to deciding on my research question. Canella and Lincoln (2007) remind us that

part of becoming an ethical researcher requires the researcher to ask "how do I assemble myself as an ethical researcher?" I became aware that a starting point in assembling (p.326). myself as an ethical researcher began as I identified my positionality in relation to the research. My interest in the research question is informed by professional and personal interest. Ely (1991, cited in Possick, 2009) suggests that research projects are interwoven with the researcher's deepest, social and professional passions and commitments. Ely's assertion resonated with my view about my research. Each perspective raises different ethical considerations and I have reflected deeply on the possible ethics of decisions that I have made during the course of this research. These perspectives are inextricably linked and in order to explain my positionality and give context to my study, each perspective is addressed in the following four sections.

From the perspective of a nurse

After qualifying as a general nurse, I trained as a children's nurse in order to continue to learn more about children and their health. I worked for three months on a cardio-thoracic ward and throughout this period was particularly involved in the care of a child who I shall call Joshua (featured in Figure 3.1) who was 14 months old and was a patient on the ward. Joshua had cystic hygroma, a condition that causes cysts to grow. In his case, they had grown around his airway and he had a tracheosotomy to keep his airway patent and avoid the possibility of him not being able to breathe. This was 1982 and there were no services available in the community to care for children who had a tracheostomy, therefore Joshua lived on the ward.

Figure 3.1: 'Joshua' and me in 1982



Children like Joshua in contemporary society would be eligible to have the services of the community children's nursing service (Department of Health, 2011). Such services aim to plan care for children with long-term conditions so that they can "live as normal a life as possible" (p.18) and be included in society. When, in June 2011, I came across the photograph in Figure 3.1, taken in December 1982, I was writing the proposal for my thesis and my thoughts were focused on how I was going to articulate my reflexivity in relation to my research question. This photograph made memories of Joshua come vividly to life. It stirred memories of this period of my nursing life and I realised that I had never forgotten He was a lively and affectionate little boy and I can Joshua. remember that when he wanted a cuddle, he would put his arms up and wail for attention and ask to be picked up. I remember being troubled about Joshua and his abnormal life as a healthy boy on a busy surgical ward being passed around to whichever

nurse happened to have a few spare minutes to give to him. The photograph made me reflect on Joshua's early experience and I realise how research, policy and practice has progressed over the last thirty years and developed current understandings of what is now called the concept of inclusion.

Joshua's experience was not unique because there were other children who lived in the hospital. Reflecting on Joshua's situation, I realise that some of the roots of my interest in inclusion were established at this time. His experience of living on the ward was a stark example of a child missing out on early childhood education. However, his situation has made me think that children with CHCs in contemporary society, in educational settings, may still be excluded from activities and experiences that other children participate in.

Later in my nursing life, I worked in the community as a paediatric asthma nurse. Asthma is an atopic condition, which means that it is an allergic condition; children who have asthma may also have a combination of other allergy related conditions such as eczema, hay fever and allergy or anaphylaxis. All of these conditions have a range of symptoms that require management in order to minimise or remove them. However, gaining control of the symptoms can be difficult to achieve and all of these conditions can have impact on the quality of life of children and their families. I remember some of the consultations with parents who were in despair because their children's asthma symptoms were not under control. One of the most troublesome symptoms seemed to be when the children had a cough at night, which disturbed their sleep, and in turn kept their families awake as well. Another aspect of CHCs that was of concern to the parents I saw in my asthma clinic was the amount of times that their children became unwell. Viruses are the most common trigger for asthma

symptoms. These children missed many days of school during the winter because their asthma was provoked by viral illnesses and I wondered what the effect was on their education.

My nursing perspective has informed my research interest because I became aware of how health, or suboptimal health, can impact on children's and families' lives. As a consequence, this can lead to children being excluded from aspects of education and society. Corbin (2008) states that her previous work as a nurse still influences her research because she wishes to develop knowledge that will guide practice. I concur with Corbin's wish to do the same and recognise that my nursing experience is a significant influence on my research. An aim of the findings will inform and guide a theory of inclusive practice for children with CHCs.

From the perspective of a teacher

Brookfield (1995) encourages the use of an autobiographical lens in order to critically reflect on being a teacher and to understand how our experience informs our teaching. I am aware that my experience as a nurse for children (and their families) has informed my teaching, and in turn, my research. I started teaching child health modules to Early Years Foundation Degree students in 2005. The assessment for the module required students to select a child with a medical condition and then to examine the effect the condition had on the child's learning and development. The students were required to identify barriers to inclusion because of the condition and then to evaluate their role in supporting and including the child and family. I discussed with students how the symptoms of CHCs could impact upon the care and education of young children. I learned how these experienced practitioners changed or adapted the environment to minimise the symptoms of CHCs to accommodate the needs of children with CHCs and to include them in activities.

When I asked them how they started the process of doing this, they would often be dismissive of what they had achieved and say "it's just common-sense, isn't it?" This pragmatic approach by the students may be an example of what Greenwood and Levin (2005) describe as 'phronesis' which is wisdom derived from experience (p.51). In addition, Thomas (2010) offers: "the Aristotelian notion of phronesis is about practical knowledge, craft knowledge, with a twist of judgment squeezed in to the mix" (p.578). Thomas's definition captures the essence of how I became interested in exploring my research and field questions. This is because what the practitioners expressed was not simply common sense. Т interpret what they describe as common sense, as their wisdom, derived from their experiences of adapting the curriculum and environment in day care settings for young children with CHCs. Practitioners used their wisdom and applied knowledge to their practice, thus using their judgment, as Thomas suggests, so that an inclusive environment could be created for children.

As a higher education teacher, I made suggestions of literature from the fields of health, inclusion and education for students to draw on for their modules. However, as previously mentioned, there was very little literature available that examined how symptoms of CHCs may impact on early childhood education. Thus, I realised that the conversations I had during the teaching sessions had elements of what Thomas described as "surprise, intelligent noticing and serendipity" (p.579). These conversations led me to

conclude that there was a gap in the literature that I could help to fill with my research.

From the perspective of a mother

The perspective that caused me most concern, with regard to the ethicality of this particular research, evolved from my personal perspective as a mother. I was troubled that my deep interest in the care and welfare of children with CHCs and the reasons for my interest may cast scepticism on the trustworthiness of my research. In order to explain my concerns about my research question and to highlight my reflexivity, this section summarises my positionality for this research from the perspective of being a mother.

My personal interest in the welfare of children with CHCs developed as a result of being the mother of my eldest daughter, Nicky, who was born on Mothers' Day in 1987. She developed eczema at the age of five months, and was diagnosed with anaphylaxis to nuts at eight months. She developed asthma when she was fourteen months. At the age of six, she was diagnosed with Coeliac Disease, which meant that she had to have a gluten free diet in order to stay healthy. The symptoms of these four CHCs meant that she had periods of ill health, pain and discomfort from birth. Nicky died on the 20th of February 2006, the month before what would have been her 19th birthday. Her life and mine was influenced, but not necessarily overshadowed, by the potential threats to her existence of the symptoms of the CHCs she lived with every day. For instance, there were frequent newspaper reports about people dying from anaphylaxis to nuts. As previously discussed, I had worked as a nurse with a specialism in the care of children with asthma, so I was acutely aware that asthma is potentially fatal. Therefore, when she died many

people assumed that the cause of her death was related to the anaphylaxis that ingesting nuts caused, or alternatively, an asthma attack. The cause of her death was, in fact, dilated cardiomyopathy, which was thought to be viral in origin. However, the exact reason for her heart becoming enlarged and unable to function normally is largely speculative. One suggestion is that Coeliac Disease, which is an autoimmune disease, can have a negative impact on the immune system. Α weakened immune system, in combination with large doses of steroids and antibiotics which she had throughout her life to manage the symptoms of anaphylaxis, asthma and eczema, left her vulnerable to contracting a virus that damaged her heart muscle causing the condition that led to her death. The heart is unable to continue working and eventually stops in a way that the cardiologist described as "being like turning off a light switch". Nicky's death was sudden and unexpected and I hope it was painless. Nicky's medical history is complex and according to the cardiologist whom my husband and I consulted in order to test our other two daughters' hearts for a genetic link (which was not the case), may be unique.

The reason why this aspect of my positionality troubles me is linked to my decision to interview parents of children with CHCs in order to explore their experience of working with practitioners to create an inclusive environment for their children in day care settings. At the point where I was formulating my research question, my professional and personal influences had not been unravelled to examine them from the four perspectives that I have identified. Canella and Lincoln (2007) remind us of the need to be aware of "examining how this personalising of our work affects those around us" (p.329) and this reminder was useful to me to reflect and identify my interest from the perspective of a mother. Because I had experienced the anxieties of living with a child

with potentially fatal chronic conditions, I did not want to ignite or reinforce fears in parents who were participants in I was concerned that parents may want to know my research. why I was so interested in this aspect of children's health and I troubled over my response if faced with such a question. However, this concern abated when I realised that sharing the other three perspectives that inform my research question are justifiable reasons for my interest. My concerns have been unfounded because none of my participants have asked me why I am interested in my research question. This may suggest that some of my anxieties about answering the question were linked to my emotions about responding to questions that explain my research interest from the perspective of being a mother to However, acknowledging my reflexive positions has Nicky. enabled me to "reduce the risks to the trustworthiness of the research and transform threats into opportunities to enrich qualitative data analysis" (Possick, 2009, p.859).

In order to demonstrate from a mother's view what having a chronic condition can mean to a child and the family, I have included some memories of my daughter's life. I remember sports days at school, often a warm and sunny summer's day. The high pollen count and sitting on the grass in the sun was a combination of triggers for Nicky's eczema. The pollen got into her already cracked and vulnerable skin resulting in angry, red, wheals, which made it clear why eczema is from the Greek word meaning "to boil" (Gill, 2006, p.494). The weals would then become intensely itchy and the scratching she did in response to the intense itching, meant that she ran her race with blood pouring down her legs.

In the 1990s, nut allergy was being diagnosed more frequently and there was a great deal of media interest in the subject. When Nicky was nine, there was a newspaper report suggesting

that vegetable cooking oil may contain nuts and therefore should be avoided by people who were allergic to nuts. On holiday in Majorca that summer, we went out for lunch to a We had the usual discussion with the waiters restaurant. about the ingredients of the food we wanted to order. However, the Spanish waiters were not very convincing about their understanding of the importance of the answers to our questions about whether the food contained nuts. Nicky usually enjoyed eating and therefore I was surprised when she refused to touch any of the food brought to our table. Tt. turned out that she was terrified that the chips may have been cooked in oil that contained nuts and therefore was potentially dangerous. She was genuinely terrified of the possible consequences. I can remember trying to explain to the rest of our family that eating food when she was not confident about its safety, and could be potentially fatal, was akin to taking the risk of stroking a venomous snake. Ι can remember Nicky's relief when I told her that we would buy and prepare all of our food in the villa that we had rented for the remainder of the holiday. This decision helped avoid the anxiety that was brought on by what Pitchforth et al (2011) describe as being an "alert assistant" (p.10) to create safe places for food for children with anaphylaxis to nuts.

I remember dropping Nicky off to other children's birthday parties after she had been diagnosed with coeliac disease with a lunchbox of gluten-free and nut-free food. Children's birthday parties can be fraught events and I did not want Nicky's dietary requirements to become a barrier to her being invited because of the mother's anxiety about having to make alternative dietary requirements. In addition to this, I felt less anxious if I knew that Nicky had her own food to eat when away from me.

As Nicky became older and left her early years behind, she developed a pragmatic approach to living with her CHCs. She sometimes tried to find solutions to barriers to taking in part in activities, but on other occasions she would simply get involved and suffer the consequences afterwards. This was especially true of her work as an artist; the use of pastels and other art media would frequently trigger eczema symptoms, but her desire to draw and to be creative was stronger than the consequences of the painful effect that could be the aftermath of using pastels. However, it is her early years that have had the greatest impact on my motivation to explore how CHCs are managed in early years settings. In fact I can remember Nicky's skin specialist advising me to send her to pre-school because it was a good idea for children with eczema to have something to occupy them because it took their minds off scratching.

These specific examples from Nicky's life highlight some of the difficulties that she faced daily as a consequence of living with the symptoms of CHCs. As her mother, I frequently had to advocate with practitioners, teachers and other parents on her behalf in order to adapt activities so that she could be included. The experience I gained from being Nicky's mother has made me realise how important it was for her to have parental involvement in her care and education. For this reason, the opportunity to include the parents of children with CHCs is part of the study design.

Over the last two years my professional and personal interests in how CHCs can impact on the lives of children and their families have converged and have resulted in my research question as a focus for my thesis.

From the perspective of a researcher

The convergence of my experiences as a nurse, mother and teacher informed the research question for this study. I became aware that the students' phronesis about inclusive practice for children with CHCs was under-researched and further research was required in order to highlight the underrated impact that CHCs can have on children and their education.

My experience of bereavement initiated by the sudden death of a much-loved child, is mirrored by Alice Terry (2012) who describes her feelings following the sudden and unexpected death of her 29 year daughter as having "someone ripped from your world. An action of immediate severance beyond our control... this immediate severance has hurled me into an unfamiliar... world" (p.355). The 20th February 2006, the day that Nicky died, started a period of time in my life that can be described as the start of an unfamiliar world for me too. Terry recorded her journey in grief via an auto ethnographic study, grounded in reflective inquiry in order to give insight borne of a mother's experience of loss. Her reflections from her grief journal were the basis of her study. She describes her first step away from "the belly of the whale" (p.359) which is how she describes the private place where she carried out the physical act of grieving into the public place of returning to university teaching. I can concur with Terry's description of leaving the belly of the whale and making a conscious decision to return to my teaching post in order achieve the same as Terry; which was to shift "my focus from my grief to teaching" (p.359) in order to have a distraction from my grief.

Terry relates her desire to turn her feelings of grief into something more positive, and again, I can concur with her

desire to somehow use the emotions in a positive and productive way. Becoming a researcher has given me the opportunity to have a purposeful way of using my experience that I have gained from the four perspectives in a positive way. As my research study has developed, I am aware that my experiences of having a child with CHCs has raised questions for me that have not been answered, and these have become some of the research questions embedded in this study. Finding answers and helping to improve practice for children with CHCs will demonstrate my epistemology that there is a need to be aware of the health needs of children with CHCs so that early childhood education is inclusive.

However, I am acutely aware of the importance of acknowledging that my interest does not lead me to analyse data and draw conclusions that may be overtly influenced by my positionality. I am mindful of Cannella and Lincoln's (2007) warning "to recognise the professional as the personal while at the same time examining how this personalizing of our work affects those around us" (p.329). In addition to being aware of the ethical considerations in relation to the participants, I was aware that being a mother to a child with several CHCs, the research may have an impact on me. Possick (2009) encourages us to be aware that research that is influenced by autobiography can be an emotionally intense experience for the researcher. Exploring the lives of my participants could have been a source of distress to me, but this was not the case.

Having considered my reflexivity and justified my positionality, the next section considers my research question.

Selecting the research question

A research question "is the engine which drives the train of enquiry" (Bassey, 1999, p.67). The dearth of literature relating to how CHCs can affect children's access to early education opportunities suggested that it was an underexplored area. This meant that the scope of the research could be too big for a small-scale study. In order to generate a question that is answerable within the limitations of the resources available to me, I applied the "Russian Doll Principle'" (Clough and Nutbrown, 2007, p.37). As previously stated, there are many CHCs that affect children and could have been included. However, as anaphylaxis, asthma, diabetes and epilepsy are included in the Managing Medicines in Schools and Early Years Settings Guidance (DfES and DofH, 2005), they were included. Eczema is not included in the quidance, but as previously stated, this condition affects 11% of children aged between 6-18 months (NICE, 2007). This implies that eczema has a significant impact on children's health, a view informed by my experience as a mother and nurse, and therefore is included in the study. Applying the Russian Doll Principle helped to refine a manageable question by helping to limit the number of CHCs to be researched. However, the literature review suggests that some of the effects on children and families are common to many CHCs, for example sleep disturbance, or the need for children to have medication. Therefore, this study aims to find general themes to highlight issues relating to inclusion for such children who may have Therefore, the research question is: "How do different CHCs. practitioners create inclusive environments in day care settings for children under the age of five years with chronic health conditions?"

Selecting participants

The research question seeks to find out how inclusive environments are created for children with CHCs. This could have been examined from the sole perspective of practitioners. However, parents and children have also been included. As previously mentioned, parents are the links between home and the child's setting. As Brooker (2011) suggests, ensuring that practitioners work with parents to create this link is an intricate process. For children with a CHC, the transfer of information from medical professionals to parents and on to practitioners is an additional layer of complexity; therefore, not including parents would be a significant omission from the study.

The justification for including children links to Lahman's (2008) assertion that "children are always Othered or unfamiliar in research" (p.282). I felt that it was important to ensure that a child was familiar, rather than being invisible in this research. The voice of the child in educational research has become increasingly important, however there are considerations to be borne in mind when attempting to listen to the voice of the child. Lahman also comments on "the disheartening... dearth of methodological resources in relation to research with children" (p.289). Since Lahman documented her view, there has been increasing attention given to methodological issues relating to research with children in order to examine children's perspectives on their own lives. An example of the growing literature is Fargas-Malet, McSharry, Larkin and Robinson's (2010) article, which describes the "methodological shift" (p.175) which has been created as a result of different views of children which now views children as "experts in their own lives" (p.175). The view that children are capable of being active
participants has meant that there has been an emergence of participatory research methods, informed by the view that research should be with or for children, rather than on children. However, much of this literature relates to children over the age of three. Therefore, I decided that the aim of exploring a child's perspective was not to convey the voice of a child with CHCs, but to explore and relate the experience of a child with a CHC in a day care setting in order to explore how he/she is, or is not, included in the education and microsystem of the setting.

Locating a paradigm for the study

The study has many of the elements of a praxeological research approach. Pascal and Bertram (2012) define praxeology as follows:

praxeology describes the theory and study of praxis (defined by Freire, 1970) as 'reflection on, and in, human action'), and embeds this in a situated context in which power and ethics are fundamentally realised and explored in an attempt to engage in participatory practice to better understand human actions, and in our view, to transform them" (p.481).

Praxeological research is, according to Pascal and Bertram, the theoretical construction of knowledge by combining phronesis with praxis. This approach was a useful paradigm to meet the aims of this study because, as previously discussed in the section about my positionality, part of my inspiration for this study was gained from Foundation Degree students, who interpreted their phronesis as common sense. The concept of phronesis can also be applied to my interpretation of the research question. As a nurse and a mother, I have acquired knowledge of some of the difficulties that children with CHCs endure. As a result of my knowledge of early childhood education, I was able to identify that the Foundation Students who were experienced practitioners had used a phronetic approach to do what they regarded as common sense. In addition to this, my research question was derived from what Thomas (2010) refers to as "understandability emerging from phronesis — in other words, from the connection to one's own situation" (p.579). Therefore, I was making a connection between the practitioners' phronesis and practice and my knowledge and, in doing so, I identified a gap in the literature that my research question is aiming to address.

Praxis can be defined as "theories of action'" (Pascal and Bertram, 2012, p.480). This is a useful definition to consider in the context of this study because it reflects the thought that practitioners invested in how to adapt activities to make them inclusive for children with CHCs. They then translated their thoughts into action by adapting activities. However, there is no theory that reflects practitioners' praxeological approach to how inclusive environments are This claim is made because there is limited research created. in the education databases that explicitly examines how CHCs can interfere with young children's everyday activities. There is also a lack of research that examines how practitioners adapt the EYFS in order to include these children in the framework. However, anecdotal evidence suggests that practitioners have developed their own theories of action in order to adapt the EYFS to make it inclusive for children with CHCs. Therefore, adopting a praxeological research approach will help me to explore how practitioners have achieved, or developed, inclusive practice. My intention is to promote awareness of this issue so that a theory of inclusive practice can evolve to include children in early education and transform their lives. However, these intentions require researchers to engage closely with

reflexivity as well as rigorous selection and justification of research decisions.

Having devised the research question and decided which participants were going to help me answer it, I needed to select an approach that was going to allow me to collect diverse sources of data. As Yin (2009) states, the use of a case study enables the researcher to be flexible and responsive. Therefore, a case study approach was deemed the most appropriate for my study.

Case study approach

This section discusses the reasons for selecting a case study approach. As well as including a justification of this choice, it will consider some of the advantages and perceived disadvantages of this approach.

Stake (2005) uses the term instrumental case study to describe a case that is examined in order to provide "insight into an issue". He goes on to say that "the case is of secondary interest... plays a supportive role, and it facilitates our understanding of something else" (p.445). Stake's definition lends itself to justifying the selection of a case study for this research because the exploratory nature of the research question intends to give insight into the issue of how practitioners adapt activities and the EYFS framework to create inclusive environments. This is an important aspect of children's care that can have profound pedagogical implications if they are excluded from their early education. Thomas (2010) says that an advantage of a case study is that its use "offers an example from which one's experience, one's phronesis, enable one to gather insight or understand a problem" (p.578). Thus the selection of praxeological research using a case study approach is justified.

Bassey (1999) asserts that case study is a tool that "can be a prime research strategy for developing educational theory which illuminates policy and enhances practice" (p.111). As discussed previously, some practitioners have developed inclusive practice for children with CHCs. Therefore, their practice may be disseminated as a consequence of this study in order to enhance inclusive practice to a wider audience. This quote summarises an aim of this study because, as already discussed, the effect of CHCs on inclusion in early childhood education is under reported in educational research. As well as a paucity of research, current child health policy tends to be focussed on early intervention for specific conditions (Department of Health, 2004), rather than on the management of CHCs. Consequently, the considerations that practitioners have to bear in mind when they are adapting the EYFS to make it inclusive are invisible from policy. An example of a recent policy proposal that has been withdrawn was the proposal to increase the ratio of children to practitioners in day care as proposed in More Great Childcare (DfE, 2013). The decision to withdraw this proposal is pertinent to practitioners who create inclusive environments for children with CHCs. This claim is made because the symptoms of CHCs can be controlled by adapting the environment and/or by the administration of medication. However, both of these approaches require extra time for planning, as well as for meeting the care needs of children with CHCs. The data and findings about time and ratios are reported and discussed in later chapters.

Denscombe (2007) highlights the suitability of adopting a case study approach when the researcher is investigating what Yin (1994) describes as a phenomenon that occurs naturally. Therefore, a case study enabled me to research how the triad of children, parents and practitioners worked together to

adapt the environment so that children who live with the effects of CHCs can access their early education. Bassey (1999) also proposes that adopting a case study approach can test a theory. Therefore, a case study is justified for this research because no theory exists as to how practitioners implement the EYFS in an inclusive way.

A criticism that is frequently levied at the use of a case study approach is that it is not possible to generalise from a single case. However, Ruddin (2006) disagrees, saying that "it is inaccurate to conclude that one cannot generalize from a single case" (p.802). However, the intention of this research is not to make generalisations drawn from a single exploratory case study, but to offer an understanding from the view of practitioners, parents and children. The data may help to create knowledge and contribute to forming a theory of how inclusive environments can be created. The case study can illuminate an under-researched and over-looked aspect of early childhood education. Other researchers may wish to emulate the design of the case study to explore the same research question.

Recruiting participants

Having decided to include parents, children and practitioners as participants, I then had to decide how to determine the scale and scope of the research and how to select participants. Bearing in mind that trustworthiness is a criticism that is levied at the use of case study approach (Bassey, 1999), it was important to ensure that the design of the case study was methodologically sound in order to increase the trustworthiness of the findings. An example of how trustworthiness was considered in relation to the recruitment of participants is discussed in the following section.

Because I had a professional relationship as the teacher of some of the potential participants, I decided to approach all of the day care settings in the Borough with whom my college placed early years students for their practical experience and not solely student alumni. This was beneficial to the methodological rigour of the research design for two reasons. Firstly, I understood that previous students who were approached directly by me to be potential participants may have felt pressured into participating (I was also concerned that they may have felt that I was testing them about their knowledge in some way). Secondly, I felt that it was important to maximise the opportunity of exploring the perspectives of participants who had not been students on the Foundation Degree at the college where I had worked and therefore had not studied the child health module with me. Therefore, I felt it was important to design a study that distanced me as a researcher from the practitioners, because they may be former students, during the stage where participants were being recruited. However, as I was working full time it was a practical consideration to select participants who were geographically close by to where I live in order to minimise travel time and make the best use of limited time available for research.

As the results from the data revealed, the most common CHCs that affect children in day care settings are allergy/anaphylaxis, asthma and eczema. The other conditions of diabetes and epilepsy are under-represented from within the case. In order to explore some of the issues relating to inclusion for a child with diabetes, an interview with the parents of a two-year-old boy diagnosed with diabetes, from

outside the case, has been included. Data relating to the family from outside the case is clearly identified.

Defining the boundaries of the case

Denscombe (2007) points out that "adopting a case study approach is a strategic decision that relates to the scale and scope of an investigation" (p.37). This point linked well to my research question because I wanted to select enough participants in day care settings to explore my research question. The Local Authority description of the Borough is summarised as being:

broadly affluent with contrasting neighbourhoods... two neighbourhoods are in the 5% of most deprived areas in the country... 11% of the total population is Black and Asian ethnicity... which is less diverse than England as a whole (name of borough removed to protect anonymity, (People and Places, 2011)).

It was hoped that there would be a response from settings that were from affluent and deprived areas in order to represent aspects of economic and racial diversity.

Part of the Case Study design included a postal questionnaire, which was sent to all of the sixty settings in the Borough. I was aware that it was unlikely that I would receive a 100% return rate, however, I did not wish to make the selection of which settings to survey because of the reasons I have previously outlined. Selecting the Borough's day care settings as the boundaries of the case meant that "a purposive sample" (Stake, 2005, p.451) was being selected. In turn, from the respondents to the survey, a smaller number of participants would be identified who would give "opportunities for intensive study". The selection of the participants in the case were small, but as Stake also says a small sample can offer "epistemological opportunity" (p.451) to learn important findings from a small case.

Having selected the location of the case and defined the case, it was important to determine what I wanted to find out from the case. I realised that there was an opportunity to gather a wide range of data in order to answer my question and this required the use of quantitative and qualitative data.

Research Design

This section starts with a diagram to illustrate the case study design (see Figure 3.2). This includes details of the methods used and the participants in the case.



Figure 3.2: Summary of the design of the case study

The following sections explain and justify the choices made for each element of the research design.

The use of mixed methods to gather quantitative and qualitative data

This section aims to justify the selection of a case study approach using mixed methods in order to collect quantitative and qualitative data for this small-scale research. Hall and Ryan (2011) propose that:

The case study is well suited for qualitatively driven mixed-methods research because the case study approach can be oriented toward engagement with lived experiences and the complexities of contexts at multiple levels (p.107).

Hall and Ryan's proposal lends justification to the selection of a case study approach using mixed methods. This is because the research question aims to gain an understanding of how many children with particular attributes there are in day care settings. It also aims to discover how practitioners address the complexities of adapting the EYFS to make the aims and principles inclusive for children with CHCs. These points will be discussed in more detail in the following sections.

Justification for selecting quantitative data

Silverman (2007) urges us to consider the place of using a quantitative approach in order to find out the scope of a problem. As previously stated, the numbers of children in the UK who have been diagnosed with one or more of the conditions are increasing (Waters et al (2008). Therefore, it is possible that there are a significant number of children with CHCs in day care settings. However, the scale of this number is not known. An example of why it is important to have a more accurate indication of the numbers of children with CHCs is the afore-mentioned government aim to increase the ratio of children to practitioners in day care settings (DfE, 2013). Having an understanding of the amount of time that practitioners indicate that they spend in managing the symptoms of CHCs in order to create an inclusive environment may be important. For instance, if a child needs a significant amount of extra time spent on managing the symptoms because of medication that needs to be administered, this may be a reason to increase the adult ratio for children who require extra care. On the other hand, if meeting the needs of children with CHCs requires extra time, and extra time is not reflected in increased ratios of adults to children, this may become a deterrent to day care settings offering a place to such children. If children are not offered a place as a consequence of their CHC, this is

exclusive because children are potentially being denied access to early education. Therefore, the use of quantitative data is a justified choice for this study.

Justification for selecting qualitative data

Adopting a qualitative approach to this study mirrors an approach by researchers in the field of nursing, such as Sartain, Clark and Heyman (2000), who use qualitative methods of research find out how CHCs impact on children's life experiences. The use of qualitative data for this research is justified because the findings gave me an insight into the effects of CHCs on children's lives in day care settings. In turn, the stories of practitioners, parents and children informed my understanding of how inclusive environments are Corbin and Strauss (2008) suggest that researchers created. are drawn to this approach because of their characteristics. One characteristic is curiosity, and I concur that I am extremely curious to find out answers to my questions. However, Corbin and Strauss's view that qualitative researchers "enjoy serendipity" (p.13) strikes a chord with me as well. As will be discussed below, there were several serendipitous moments that have shaped the course of the research and this will be reflected upon in the conclusion to my thesis.

Methods used in the case study

The use of a case study was a useful approach to gather data in order to answer my research question because, as Bassey (1999) suggests, it offered flexibility to go down other relevant avenues of data collection. For instance, the parents who were interviewed offered to email me with any other thoughts that they had about their children. This was an opportunity that they all offered at the time of being interviewed, so I was able to add this to the consent form at the time of interview.

Postal Survey - questionnaire

The method selected to gather quantitative data was to survey the 60 settings identified for the case study in order to explore the numbers of children with CHCs in day care settings (as explained earlier). A questionnaire was designed (see Appendix 3) and it was piloted with the help of undergraduate students who had experience of being on placement in day care settings. The feedback from the students was useful in order to identify potential ambiguities and correct mistakes. The final version was printed on yellow paper to make the questionnaire stand out so that busy practitioners were more likely to locate it. The questionnaire included inductive research questions that were exploratory in nature. For example, Question 1 and 2 aimed to gain an understanding of the number of children who had been diagnosed with the CHCs that are the focus of this study. The questionnaire and an accompanying letter (see Appendix 2) explaining the purpose of the research, and a stamped-addressed envelope, were sent by post to the named manager of each setting. The aim of collecting the answers to the questionnaire was to gather data that provided a foundation and a context for the qualitative aspect of the study.

As Denscombe (2007) points out, a survey has the useful purpose of identifying willing respondents who could volunteer to become participants in the qualitative aspect of the study. Approximately one third of the questionnaires were returned (19 out of 60), which is a number in line with what Denscombe suggests is a valid response rate. Twelve of these respondents indicated that they were willing to participate

further in the research. The next stage of the study involved semi-structured interviews with practitioners.

Semi-structured interviews

Selecting semi-structured interviews as a research method was an opportunity to gather thick, qualitative data, which gave "the story behind the numbers" (Shaw, 2003, p.66). Fontana and Frey (2005, state that interviews are not neutral tools of data gathering but rather active interactions. They go on to state that if the interviewer adopts an empathetic stance, this can create a partnership between the interviewer and interviewee to produce results that can be used. I had considered a range of ways to collect data, these included diaries and video recordings. However, I recognised that practitioners and parents are busy people and I wanted to adopt a method that gave them minimum disruption to their lives, as well as giving me the best chance of collecting as much valuable data as possible. An interview schedule was created (see Appendix 4) and the questions were based on themes that arose from the literature review as well as reflections on the practitioners' phronesis. The questions were designed to be open-ended and invite as wide a response as possible, but the schedule, which was used for all participants, meant that there was a consistency to the questions and this was designed in order to help analysis of the data.

The semi-structured interview schedule was piloted prior to being used. Again, an undergraduate Foundation Degree student who was an experienced practitioner responded to the questions and gave feedback to help with clarifying the structure of the schedule. Semi-structured interviews (Appendix 6) were also used for two mothers and for the family from outside the case. The parents were asked if an interview was a suitable method

for them prior to the meeting, to which they all agreed. The questions were sent to parent participants ahead of the interview.

The interviews were recorded using a digital recorder and transcribed by myself; a methodological choice to help me to engage with the data. The transcripts were member checked with the interviewee. This process was explained to them at the end of the interview and again in email correspondence that accompanied the transcript. The email correspondence generated another source of useful data, though I should stress that permission was sought from the participants before using the data (this point is covered in the ethics section).

Practitioners as participants

Table 3.1 is a summary of information about the practitioners who participated in the study. The information includes pseudonyms used and details of when the interviews were conducted. The table includes details of the settings and the relationship of the practitioner to me.

Date of data collection, Name (all are fictional) and role in setting	How practitioners were recruited to contribute to study	Description of setting	Relationship to researcher
May 2012: Joan: Manager in Setting 1	Offered to be interviewed after being contacted	90 children. Part of a chain in an affluent area	Known to me as a student placement provider
June 2012: Maria: Deputy Manager in Setting 8 and key person to Freddie	The Manager of the setting volunteered Maria's time	70 children. Privately owned. Most parents working	Student alumnus

Table 3.1: Summary of practitioner participants interviewed in study

Date of data collection, Name (all are fictional) and role in setting	How practitioners were recruited to contribute to study	Description of setting	Relationship to researcher
June 2012: Mary: Manager in Setting 14	Offered to be interviewed after being contacted	Setting 14: 84 children. Privately owned setting on a school site	Unknown to me prior to research
March 2012: Joint interview with Sharon and Charlotte: Manager and Deputy Manager in Setting 18	Offered to be interviewed after being contacted	85 children in an area of social deprivation. Privately owned	Student alumnus
April 2012: Becky: Key person to DJ (child observed as part of the study) in Setting 18	Manager suggested that I interview her and she agreed	As above	Student alumnus

Parents as participants

All parents were unknown to me prior to the research. Table 3.2 summarises details of the parents, the research methods used and their relationship to the children. A detailed account of how the parents were recruited is included below.

Table 3	3.2:	Parent	partici	pants
---------	------	--------	---------	-------

Research method	Relationship to setting and children in the case
June 2012: Questionnaires completed by parents (instead of being interviewed)	2 parents of children with eczema from Setting 2
June 2012: 30 minute semi- structured interview plus emails from Freddie's mum	Mum to Freddie (who has eczema and asthma) in Setting 4. She came and met me at the setting during her lunch break to be interviewed
4 x 30 minute interviews,	Kate (pseudonym). Mum to DJ (who has

Research method	Relationship to setting and children in the case
plus emails March 2012 — March 2013	asthma, eczema and dietary restrictions) in Setting 18. DJ's mum is also a practitioner working in the setting in a different room
	in the setting in a different room. DJ's mum was interviewed during breaks from her work in the setting
May 2012: Family interview — 1 hour home visit plus several emails about John from his mum	Parents of John (child who was not in pre-school education). John's parents invited me to their home for the interview

Children and families as participants

This section gives a profile of the children and their families who participated in the study.

Child 1: '**DJ**' was 20 months old at the start of the study and 32 months at the end of data collection. DJ has been diagnosed with allergies, asthma and eczema. DJ, his mum and dad and his twelve year old sister live together. His ethnic origin is Afro-Caribbean. His sister and mum have allergies, asthma and eczema. His mum worked as a practitioner in a different room in the same setting. Data included observations of DJ over the period of a year, interviews and emails with his mum. Details of how DJ and his mum were recruited to the case are included below.

Child 2: 'Freddie' was 33 months at the time of the interview with his mum. Freddie had been diagnosed with asthma and eczema. He lives at home with his mum, dad and his fourteen year old brother. His ethnic origin is white British. Freddie's mum's workplace is ten minutes from the setting. I did not ask to observe Freddie, because I had decided that a prolonged period of in-depth observations on one child may be more beneficial to the findings of the research so I chose to concentrate on DJ. **Child 3 from outside the case: 'John'** was 34 months at the time of the interview with his mum and dad. John had been diagnosed with insulin dependent diabetes 21 months before the interview. His ethnic origin is white British. John lives with his parents; his mum is a student early years practitioner (formerly a paramedic) and his dad is a paramedic. Details of how John's parents were recruited to the study are included below.

Ideally, I would have liked to recruit more children to observe with a range of conditions. This is a limitation of this study, but it could be a focus of further research.

Observations

Observations were selected as the research method to explore a child with CHCs in a day care setting. Fargas- Malet et al (2010) assert that observations have a long tradition as a method of researching young children. This tradition is continued in the EYFS (2012) which places observations as the starting point for learning about children. Pascal and Bertram (2012) encourage researchers who are adopting a praxeological approach to take risks and to go beyond orthodox research methods and to consider the use of drawings and other participatory techniques. However, there would be limitations to choosing such a technique to convey the voice of the child because the age range that is being explored in this case study is under five. Therefore, the use of discussions with a child, or examination of drawings created by very young children or babies, would be limited.

I was anxious to adopt a method that would produce data to help to answer my question. I did try to seek literature to find alternative ideas of how researchers have used different methods with very young children but unfortunately could find

none at the time. However, it was important to include a child's perspective in my study and it was essential to adopt a method that could give insight that would be methodologically robust. Therefore, I made the decision to include observations of one child.

Selection of a child to observe: 'DJ'

After deciding that a series of observations of one child would be a useful approach to help answer my research question, the next stage was to recruit a suitable child. The manager and deputy manager of Setting 18 had agreed to participate in the next stage of the study and they were the participants for the joint interview. They also agreed to approach parents whose children had been diagnosed with CHCs to find out if they were willing for me to observe their child in the setting. After the interview, the managers invited me into the toddler room so that I could meet the staff and children. I was keen to introduce myself to the staff and inform them about my research and find out if they were willing for me to pay a series of visits to observe a child. At this point, the managers had mentioned the names of three children who they thought would be suitable for the aims of the research and whose parents were likely to be willing to consent to observations and be interviewed. There were three members of staff in the room and a lady who was introduced to me as 'Kate', I was told that she was a member of staff in the pre-school room, she was sitting with a small boy on her lap. We all sat on the floor with the children and I summarised the aims and explained the rationale of my research. The practitioners were asking me questions about my research and appeared interested and keen to be involved in the research. Kate had sat quietly, nodding as she listened to the conversation. She then said, gesturing to the small boy on her lap "this is my son, he has asthma, eczema and allergies

to foods, I can see exactly what you are getting at, I have what he has got and so has my daughter. I am more than happy for you to observe him and for you to interview me". At a later date, Kate told me that she was not at work that morning, but she had called into the setting for a few minutes with DJ to complete an errand. She had gone into the toddler room because DJ had indicated that he wanted to go in to the room. She said:

You are really lucky that I was there, I don't work Fridays and I don't work in that room, I had just dropped in. I want to take part because I know how important it is for people to understand more about how children like DJ are affected by these conditions (Research Journal entry 23rd March 2012).

I view Kate's unplanned presence in the room that day as an example of synchronicity, which according to Jung (1973) is when events have "meaningful coincidences" (p.xi). Kate had the phronesis of both an experienced practitioner and a mother of two children with three CHCs. She also had personal experience of living with CHCs. Reflecting on the selection of a child for my study, I realise that Kate selected me, rather than me selecting her son as a participant in the study. From the start, Kate was an enthusiastic supporter of my research, and her phronesis informed the course that my research took. For example, I noted in my research journal:

Kate suggested that I observe DJ regularly over a period of time in order to observe the impact of the seasons on him. She is a really knowledgeable woman and speaks about her children's and her own conditions with authority (Research Journal entry 17th March 2012).

I was aware that Kate's decision to volunteer herself and DJ as participants required further considerations of the ethics because of her position as a practitioner in the setting, as well as being DJ's mother. I was also aware that the managers needed to support this decision. After a confidential

conversation with the managers, they reassured me that they were happy for Kate and DJ to be participants.

Observations of DJ

I was mindful of Kate's suggestion about observing DJ over a period of time to identify if the weather and seasons affected the symptoms of his CHCs. I extended this suggestion to observing him at different times of day. The aim of the observations was to gain global data about DJ and gain a snapshot of his life in his microsystem. Clark and Moss (2011) advocate the use of observations as a piece of their mosaic approach to watch how children spend their time in a In turn, the art of watching can be used to gain a setting. view of what it is like for a child in their setting. Ι especially wanted to note DJ's choices of play activities, as well as finding out what meal times were like for him and to note if the symptoms of his CHCs were evident and if they affected his participation in activities. Having been given the privilege of permission to observe DJ, the next decision was to decide how to observe him in order to capture data that would help me to answer my research question. Pascal and Bertram (2012) assert that the use of observations is key to understanding the experiences of children in day care. The observer can use their senses to absorb the events occurring in the child's environment. In addition, the observer can use their body as a conduit to make connections between what is being seen and the theory or meaning that underlies the The use of observations can be for the greater good actions. of promoting knowledge about children and, in the context of this research, the data from the observations may inform findings that can contribute to a theory of inclusive practice for children with CHCs.

Selecting an observation tool

I was familiar with the range of observation methods available, for example narrative, time sampling and tick charts (Riddall-Leech, 2008), but I was not sure of the approach that would be the right one for the aim of my observations of DJ. In order to inform my decision about which technique to use I made a familiarisation visit to the toddler room in order to consider my position in the room as I was aiming to ensure that my presence would researcher. create minimal disruption to the usual running of the room. However, during my visit, many of the other children were deeply interested in my presence, and were keen to interact This had implications for the choice of observation with me. method to be used. I could not adopt an approach that meant I was focussed solely on DJ because I would not be able not able to acknowledge and interact with other children. Therefore, a narrative approach for lengthy periods of time was not going to be suitable. A method that avoids long narrative but has short and sharp periods is the Effective Early Learning (EEL) (Bertram and Pascal, 2006) programme observation sheet. The EEL approach advocates that 5 minute observations are taken every 20 minutes. A recording sheet was completed for each series of observations. The date and times were recorded and kept in order to add to the audit trail of data.

Summary of observations of DJ

Table 3.3 summarises the periods of observation of DJ over a year. Attempts were made to visit as often as possible in order to observe him. However, DJ's times in his setting and my availability were constraints that dictated the amount of time I was able to observe him. Nevertheless, I attempted to spread the observations during the seasons and at different

times of the day in order to consider a range of factors that may impact on him. Very quickly, I realised that meal times were of particular interest, so attempted to be present at this time in order to observe him.

Observations	Used the EEL Child
'DJ' 20-32 months	tracking observation
	sheet - 5 minutes
	every 20 minutes
2 nd March 2012	Familiarisation
	visit
23 rd March 2012	1200-1500
30 th March 2012	1200-1515
26 th April 2012	1400-1800
24 th May 2012	0915-1215
27 th June 2012	1300-1500
4 th November 2012	1015-1300
21 st March 2013	0900-1230

Table 3.3: DJ's observations timetable

Other sources of data

Semi-structured interview with a family of a child from outside the case: John and his parents

As previously stated, John is a child from outside the case. John's mum is a student practitioner at a university where I had visited to give a lecture on child health. The focus of the lecture was exploring how children with CHCs can be excluded from their early education because of the symptoms of the condition. My research proposal for my doctorate was included as part of the lecture. Following the lecture, John's mum approached me to say that some of the discussion resonated with her experience as a mother of a child with diabetes and she offered to be a participant. Our discussions that day emphasised to me the appropriateness of my choice of research question. At this point, I was aiming to harvest a participant with diabetes from the postal survey. I would have preferred to use the case study design, because I felt it was a robust methodological approach. However, the postal survey revealed that there were only two children with diabetes and both of them were in the same day care setting. Furthermore, the practitioners had not volunteered to be involved with the next stage of the study. Therefore, six months after our initial conversation I approached her via email to invite her to participate.

The percentage of children aged 0-4 years who have diabetes is 4% (Diabetes UK, 2012). However, it is difficult to extrapolate this figure in order to find out the probable number of children that one would expect to find within the case. However, the low number of children with diabetes in day care may mean that their diabetic care needs are problematic for practitioners and therefore children with diabetes are being excluded from early education. As Gorard and Smith (2006) point out, as researchers, we need to be aware of not only the willing participants in research, but to consider who does not participate. The paucity of children in day care settings with diabetes may mean that they are not accessing day care settings for some of the reasons that John's parents disclosed during the semi-structured interview. The experiences of children who are living with CHCs, such as diabetes, appears to be invisible from early childhood educational research. Therefore, including an interview with

John's family was an attempt to give voice to him and his family. John's story, as told by his parents, is a story of their lives since John became unwell and diabetes was The reason for including him and his family was to diagnosed. investigate the effect that diabetes has had on their lives and John's early education. The method that was used can be described as an emancipatory interview approach. Lawthom (in Goodley, Lawthom, Clough and Moore, 2004) suggests that the use of emancipatory interviews give the interviewee the opportunity to gain something from the product of the In the case of John and his family, his Mum's wish interview. was to highlight the difficulties that she encountered when trying to find a suitable day care setting for him. Lawthom concedes that the use of emancipatory interviewing needs to be considered, because the researcher always gains from the participation and the researched gains less. There is an added dimension to the use of an approach that aims to emancipate people in society. Emancipation implies that there is equality between relationships. However, as somebody who was employed to teach John's mum, there needs to be an acknowledgement of the relationship between teacher and student. Murray and Lawrence (2000) remind us about the responsibilities of being a teacher and researcher. Thev point out that when researching with students, there will always be an imbalance of power, with power being in the favour of the teacher. However, the relationship between John's mum and myself was less that of teacher and researcher and more like two individuals interested in highlighting the care and education needs of children with CHCs.

Semi-structured interview in the family home

I was invited to John's family home by his mum on the 7th June 2012 and conducted a semi-structured, one hour interview with John and his parents. The questions were sent to his mum

prior to the interview (see Appendix 6). The interview was digitally recorded with their permission and subsequently transcribed by me. The transcript was sent by email for member checking by John's mum. In addition to the data from the interview, John's mum emailed me after the interview and some of the content of that correspondence was useful data. She gave consent for the data to be included in the study.

Ethical Considerations

The regulatory procedure of completing a research ethics application form was submitted prior to approaching participants or collecting data (University of Sheffield, 2010). Approval was granted for my study (see Appendix 1). The approval was granted with the proviso that the participants must not include people who were National Health Service employees. The ethical considerations were not confined to the regulatory procedure, because my awareness of the need to be ethical was on-going. For example, I continued to examine my reflexivity in relation to how my four perspectives could influence what I heard or saw in a way that could challenge the trustworthiness or academic rigour of my findings. However, I soon realised that capturing my thoughts in a research journal helped me to grapple with these issues. During the planning stage of my study, I was reminded by Bassey (1999) of the necessity of ensuring systems were in place to make assurances about the trustworthiness of the I drew on Bassey's interpretation of Lincoln and study. Guba's (1985) concept of trustworthiness in order to illuminate "the ethic of respect for truth in case study research" (p.75). Bassey further suggests that creating an audit trail helps to make the research process trustworthy. Therefore I carefully dated, labelled and stored data using a systematic approach. A research journal entry illustrates my

awareness of the need to promote trustworthiness by keeping an audit trail:

"remember to use Bassey's (1999) case study book and notes in here when writing up the methodology section and remember to create an audit trail" (18^{th} August 2011)

My response to how I equipped myself to be an ethical researcher was helped by questions I adopted to frame the ethical considerations. At each stage of the design of the case study, I asked myself the following questions. Firstly, was there potential for emotional harm to the participants as a consequence of my research? If there was a risk of this happening, how could I minimise the potential? A second consideration that I kept in mind was, how I could design the study in order to enhance the methodological rigour, trustworthiness and validity of the data? My awareness of ethical considerations means that I have reflected on this aspect of methodology continuously. This evidences my belief that ethical considerations are more than a regulatory process and, therefore, some of the issues relating to ethics have already been addressed in other sections of the thesis.

The following section discusses how consent, anonymity and confidentiality were considered.

Consent, anonymity and confidentiality

As previously outlined, the survey was sent to the 60 day care settings in one borough in England. The manager could choose whether to respond to the questionnaire that was sent out in the postal survey. If the questionnaire was returned, the participant's consent to use the data could be assumed. The next stage of the study involved semi-structured interviews with practitioners and parents; a letter of explanation (see Appendix 5) was given to them prior to interview to help

participants to give their informed consent. Consent from DJ's gatekeepers and his mother was sought to carry out observations of him in the setting. As Flewitt (2005) points out, there are two stages to gaining consent; first of all, what she describes as "provisional" (p.556) consent and secondly, ongoing consent. Flewitt urges us to remember that ongoing consent cannot be assumed and must be negotiated. The need to negotiate ongoing consent arose when mothers sent emails that contained useful data. I requested their consent to include this additional data because I believed that their consent to include data outside the interviews should not be assumed.

DJ was 20 months old when I started to observe him, and, because of his age, gaining informed consent from him was not possible. In the absence of a process for gaining informed consent, it is important to use other strategies to ensure that young children are not dissenting to their participation. Fargas-Malet et al (2010) suggest that children can demonstrate their displeasure by crying. However, I would not have wanted DJ to cry as a consequence of my presence in his I would not advocate that a researcher should allow setting. their actions to impact upon a child in a way that could result in distress. In order to minimise any potential distress, it is important for researchers to be aware that, as Alderson (2000) points out, the children are given the opportunity to become familiar with researchers. Therefore, I spent two periods of time visiting the setting in order to help the children become familiar with me.

The location of the case study is to be concealed in the writing of the thesis in order to protect anonymity. The absence of identifying codes on the questionnaires meant that the participant could remain anonymous. However, participants

who indicated that they were willing to participate in the next stage of data collection were able to indicate their wishes on the form. Pseudonyms were used to identify the participant at the start of the interview in order to help maintain anonymity. The mothers who participated chose their children's pseudonyms to help ensure anonymity. This decision was in line with Flewitt's (2005) suggestion that encouraging participants to select their pseudonyms can help to impart a sense of control to the participants. Asking the mums for a pseudonym was especially significant to DJ's parents. His mum said that she would like to think about his pseudonym. A few days later she emailed me the following: "we would like him to be referred to as DJ", thus implying that the choice of pseudonym was important and that it had been discussed and decided with other family members. Asking the mothers to choose pseudonyms helped me to explain the concept of anonymity.

Care was taken to ensure that electronic and hard copies of data were managed and stored with care in order to maintain confidentiality. Paper copies of emails had identifying data removed and the email was deleted from the computer. The digital recordings of the interviews with practitioners and parents were copied on to a memory stick and stored safely. Electronic transcripts were stored on a memory stick and the printed transcripts of the interviews were coded and stored in the data box along with the observation recording sheets.

I was conscious, at the design stage of the study, that I must not cause any harm to the relationship between parents and practitioners as a result of what they may say or reveal about each other. I was also aware that Kate's position, as a practitioner in the setting and DJ's mother, had potential to create tensions. Therefore, ensuring confidentiality about

the content of the interviews to the participants was a way of avoiding a conflict of interest that may have arisen as a consequence of what each other may have said. An exception to this consideration was my awareness that if something was said that I felt was an issue relating to safeguarding, and was a threat to the welfare of the child, then this is when confidentiality would have to have been breached and concerns would have been reported to the appropriate authorities. However, these were concerns that did not materialise.

Conclusion

This chapter has given a detailed account of the methodological choices considered and taken for this research. I have been very conscious of the need to explain this section because of the complexity of the case study structure. I have attempted to explain my reflexivity and positionality from the four autobiographical perspectives that have helped to shape my research. The next chapter discusses the approach taken to analysis of the data collected during this research.

Chapter 4: Analysis of the data

Introduction

This chapter discusses the approaches taken to the analysis of the data. Whilst analysing the data, I was conscious of Possick's (2009) view that reflexive analysis is a useful tool for qualitative data and to be mindful that this should not be confined to the methodology section. For example, my own awareness that occasions when food is made available times when food is available can be especially troublesome for people with dietary restrictions may well have meant that I was particularly attuned to look for DJ's actions and reactions during snack and mealtimes. Lahman (2008) distinguishes between reflection and reflexivity by offering the following: "If the act of reflecting is seen as occurring after an experience, then reflexivity occurs before, during and after an experience" (p.291). This distinction made sense to me and I was aware that I engaged with an on-going process of reflexivity at each stage of the analysis process. The reason for my need to be reflexive, links again to my awareness of the influences of my perspectives on the research process. My positonality may have led me to interpret the data to fit my subjectivity, which may have developed as a result of my perspective as a mother. However, this caution also needed to be balanced with Possick's view that previous emotional feelings can aid understanding, which can lead to insights that may not be possible without the personal experience of the researcher being brought to the research. Therefore, at the end of the year of observations, the experience of being with DJ and observing him gave me valuable insight. Firstly, I gained a sense of what it was like for him to be in the setting, and a flavour of how CHCs affected

him and his access to early childhood education. Secondly, I gained a sense of how the practitioners worked to include him in the setting. Finally, I gained a sense of the vital role that his mother played in promoting inclusion for DJ to the activities and his early childhood education.

This rest of this chapter explains the approach that was taken to organise and analyse the data. The period of data collection from November 2011 to March 2013 produced what Tyler (no date) described as "a mountain of data" (no page). Whilst collecting data, I was mindful of Tellis's (1997) advice about the importance of organising and documenting data as it was collected. This helped to ensure that the data was manageable and easily located.

The data included:

- 19 completed and returned questionnaires from practitioners who responded to the postal survey
- Transcripts of semi-structured interviews with practitioners and parents (see Tables 3.1 and 3.2)
- Email correspondence with DJ, Freddie and John's mums
- 2 questionnaires that were completed by parents in Setting 1
- Qbservations of DJ aged 20-32 months (see Table 3.3)

An explanation of the approaches used to analysis of the data is included in the following sections.

The survey

The questionnaire (see Appendix 3) was sent to 60 settings in order to collect quantitative and qualitative data. The response rate to the postal survey was 31.5% (19 of the 60 questionnaires were returned). Returned questionnaires were allocated a number from 1-19; the numbers were allocated according to the order they were received. Out of the returned questionnaires, 17 were completed; Settings 8 and 19

had returned the questions unanswered, although there were no apparent reasons for this.

The survey revealed valuable qualitative data that helped me to gain a picture of the incidence of children with CHCs in day care as well as help recruit practitioners to the next stage of the study. These data are included in the findings and it is indicated which setting the data came from.

In order to recruit children with asthma, allergy/anaphylaxis and eczema, the managers who had indicated that they were willing to participate further were contacted. It was hoped that knowledge about how practitioners created inclusive environments with all of the conditions would become participants. Diabetes and epilepsy are two conditions that are not as prevalent in young children as asthma, anaphylaxis/allergy and eczema (see Table 1.1). However, Setting 12 had two children with diabetes and Settings 16 and 17 each had a child with epilepsy, therefore they were high priorities to recruit to the next stage of the study. The managers had volunteered to participate to the next stage, and two were willing to approach parents to find out if they were prepared to participate and/or to allow their children to be participants. However, when the managers were contacted in February 2012, there had been changes of ownership and management in the three settings and the new managers were not This was a disappointment, and a willing to participate. salutary lesson in the importance of following up offers of research participation as soon as possible. As there was not an opportunity to recruit a parent or child with diabetes from the case, this was part of the justification for including John's family in the study.

The settings were approached in their allocated numerical order. Some settings did not respond to the contact and I was

unable to elicit the reasons why this was so. For some nonresponders, it was partly to do with the ownership and managerial changes mentioned above that had affected many settings in the Borough. However, four settings (1, 4, 8 and 18) who had children with asthma, allergy/anaphylaxis and eczema, or a combination, were recruited to the next stage. Setting 1 was in an area of affluence and Setting 18 was in an area of high deprivation, therefore they were selected in order to recruit participants from diverse social and economic settings.

Analysis of the quantitative data

This section summarises the quantitative aspect of the survey. The quantitative data gathered from the survey was collated into a "group table" using Denscombe (2007, p.258) as a guide. The table is presented in the following chapter (see Table 5.1) because that is where the findings from the data in the group table will be discussed. Creating the table helped to identify the 13 settings who had indicated their willingness to be involved in the next stage of the study.

Analysis of qualitative data

In Figure 4.1, I have attempted to summarise the stages that I used to analyse the data, the following sections will then explain the reasons for this approach.

Figure 4.1: Process of analysis of the data - taken from Glesne and Peshkin (1992)

Analysis of data requires a researcher to reduce data in order to make it manageable, but at the same time keeping sufficient detail to give the reader confidence in the findings. The use of a computer software programme was considered in order to analyse the data, however I align myself with Corbin's (2008) claim that I have a non-technical mind and a preference for a Therefore, the use of computer non-technical approach. software was rejected and a manual approach was adopted. The first stage of analysis of data started with the transcript of the digital recordings of the semi-structured interviews. As I listened to the recordings, I kept the research question written down in front of me. I engaged closely with what was being said by the participants and, at the time, I reflected on how their responses would help to answer my question. After transcribing the interviews, hard copies were printed and the text was read line-by-line and commonly occurring words were identified and colour coded. The process of close engagement with the data reflected Charmaz's (2005) assertion that this can help the researcher to identify themes. The qualitative comments in the questionnaires were approached in a similar way, and, by using this approach, the data spoke for itself (St Pierre, 1997). For example, all of the practitioners who were interviewed mentioned parents on many occasions throughout the interviews. After the first highlighting of text, the highlighted blocks of text relating to comments about parents were written down on a master sheet. The name of the respondent and the page number of where the

data was located in the original transcript was included. This approach, as Denscombe (2007) suggests, was a useful way for me to gain answers to my research question "by looking closely at the empirical data that have been collected" (p.287). The sheets of data were then examined for common themes. For example, comments relating to parents appeared frequently in all of the data from practitioners. Therefore, the theme of the importance of working with parents emerged. The next stage of analysis was to create a tree diagram to illustrate the overall theme of working with parents.

The use of a tree diagram

Creating the tree diagrams helped me to reduce the mountain of data, which, as Tyler (no date) suggests, is a critical step in organising the main points of the data. Figure 4.2 is an example of the tree diagram summarising data from which the theme emerged of the practitioners' views of the parents' role in creating an inclusive environment for children with CHCs.



Figure 4.2: Example of a tree diagram

Another benefit of the tree diagram was that I was able to capture main points and some of these points were then used as headings for discussing the role of parents in helping practitioners to create an inclusive environment for children with CHCs.

After establishing a theme about the importance of practitioners working with parents, the data were then reexamined from the perspective of the parents. The data were examined to find out what parents had stated about the role of practitioners in caring for and meeting the needs of their children with CHCs. Colour codes were applied to parents' data and then I put "like-minded pieces together in data clumps" as Glesne and Peshkin (1992, p.133) suggest. However, using an inductive approach, the data revealed that a
successful aspect of working with parents was the ability of practitioners and parents to communicate with each other. Therefore, the data was re-examined from the theme of communication between practitioners and parents. As well as data about the importance of parent and practitioner communication, the data also revealed many examples of the importance of communication between practitioners in the From this analysis, a third, correlated, clump of setting. data emerged about the importance of practitioners communicating with other professionals. Therefore, a major code of communication was identified. Again, following Glesne and Peshkins' thinking, sub-codes were created and this helped to create "an organisational framework" (1992, p.133) for writing the story of my research. The codes created the themes or chapter headings. The sub-codes framework became the sub-headings. A diagram was created for the start of each main theme to give the reader a visual map of the contents of each theme.

Analysis of observations of DJ

The child tracking observation sheets (Bertram and Pascal, 2002) were used to collect data over a 12 month period from However, the involvement level and learning March 2012. experiences column were not relevant to this study, so they were not completed during the observations. The observations were analysed immediately after each period of observation by reading the words and examining them for a theme. This reflective process helped to inform the aim and the timings of the subsequent observations. For example, DJ's mum had highlighted that the symptoms of his CHCs were affected by the seasons. Therefore it was important that I observe him during the different seasons in order to capture any observable changes in the symptoms of his conditions. The dates and

times of the observations were tabulated after each period of observation (see Table 4.1). This enabled me to gain an overview of the contextual details of the observations, such as the season and the weather on the day of observation, as well as the main occurrences during the period of observation.

Table 4.	1: S	ummary	of	the	main	points	of	observations	of	DJ
----------	------	--------	----	-----	------	--------	----	--------------	----	----

Observation date and	Key observations
weather	
(6x3 hours of	
observations. 5 minutes	
every 20 minutes,	
different days and times	
throughout the day)	
2 nd March	Familiarisation visit. Played happily outside Observed other children's food arriving at lunch time, other children did not look at each others' food
23 rd March 2012. Cool spring day	Gained first impressions. DJ observes what is going on around him. Appears much happier when outdoors rather than indoors. Decided that adapting the Child Involvement Observation Sheet would be a useful observation tool
30 th March. Sunny and warm early spring day	Noticed difference in food: 'The orange incident'
26 th April. Sunny day	Listless following a 2 week absence and has been on steroids and antibiotics. 3.30 sitting and watching 3.50 still sitting - KP encourages him to play, picks him up and he snuggles in 4.50 animated and playing
24 th May. Cool, dry day	Food difference: given melon and eats enthusiastically. Looks at the other children's snack, they have been given the same fruit
27 th June. Warm and sunny	Wheezy. Happy and playful Goes to sand tray, KP calls over to his mum and checks he can play in

Observation date and weather	Key observations
(6x3 hours of	
observations. 5 minutes	
every 20 minutes,	
different days and times	
throughout the day)	
	the sand "as long as he has cream on" several periods of sustained engagement throughout the afternoon
4 th November. Sunny autumn day with lots of leaves on the ground	Outdoor play in autumn sunshine, running around. Hamster in the room. Different food, but DJ does not look at other children's food. He eats with enjoyment
21 st March 2013. Cool and dry day	Recovering from an infection. Hot and clingy at times No obvious evidence of eczema

The notes made during observations were scrutinised and examined for key words that may indicate a theme that could be identified. As mentioned previously, during the first observation it became clear that meal and snack times were of importance to DJ. Therefore, future observations were planned with the aim of me being present in order to observe DJ at these times. At the end of each period of observation, key points were summarised and reflected upon in my research Relevant comments from my research journal are journal. included in the findings of the study. When the time came to write up the story of my research, I read back over the observation sheets and completed the summary of the main points of the observations in Table 4.1. The data from the observations were used to inform the main themes identified in the study.

This chapter has explained the approach that was taken to analysing the data. The useful advice from the literature about managing the data and organising it carefully meant that I constantly engaged with data from the start of the data collection period. This helped the process of identifying themes. The next chapter gives an overview of the findings and reports on the quantitative aspect of the study.

Chapter 5: Overview of the findings from the data

Introduction

This chapter is where I start to report the findings from the data. The data collected in this study were rich and complex and many important findings were identified. The study used mixed methods to collect data to explore how practitioners create inclusive environments for children with chronic health conditions (CHCs). The first part of the findings from the quantitative data is presented in the following section.

Quantitative data: Findings reporting incidence and type of CHC

As the review of the literature in Chapter 2 showed, there is a paucity of research about the effect of CHCs on very young children's early education. Neither is it known how many children with CHCs there are in day care settings, nor which ones practitioners most commonly encounter. The questionnaire attempted to find out an indication of the numbers of children in settings, as well as which conditions affected them, in a Borough in England. The findings are presented in Table 5.1.

•							No. of	Volunteered
on o	n						children	participation to the
H	ц ц			N.		А	with a	next stage
ing	f dre ing	гgy	ma	ete	ma	eps	chronic	
ett	o o hil ett	lle	sth	iab	CZG	pi 1	condition	
S 1	N C Z	∢	4 6 ²	<u>р</u>	년 2 ³	ы	11/00 128	Managan internier
1	90		•	U	3	0	11/90 12%	and possibly parent
								and possibly parent
2	65	2 ⁴	4	0	4 ⁵	0	10/65 15%	No
3	40	3	2	0	1	0	6/40 (15%)	N/A
4	84	0	5	0	4	0	9/84 (11%)	Practitioner not
								parent
5	21	1	1	0	3	0	5/21 (24%)	Contact details inc,
								not indicated level
								of participation
6	44	0	5	0	2	0	7/44 (16%)	No
7	46	1	3	0	3	0	7/46 (16%)	No
8	55	1	NG ⁶	NG	NG	NG	1/55 (5.5%)	Practitioner/parent/
								child
9	64	0	4	0	1	0	5/64 (8%)	Practitioner/parent/
								child
10	72	1	1	0	3	0	5/72 (7%)	No
11	40	1	1	0	1	0	3/40 (7.5%)	Parent/practitioner/
								child
12	16	0	1	2	0	0	3/16 (19%)	Parent/practitioner/
								child
13	54	10	0	0	5	0	15/54 (28%)	Practitioner
14	58	1	3	0	0	0	4/58 (7%)	No
15	54	1	0	0	2	0	3/54 (5.5)	No
16	65	2	2	0	1	1	6/65 (9%)	Practitioner
17	100	1	6	0	2	2	11/100 (11%)	Parent/practitioner/
								child
18	85	3	5	0	6	0	14/85(16.5%)	Parent/practitioner/
								child
19	Not comp	leted					1	Parent/practitioner/
								child

Table 5.1:Summary of data from survey - November 2011

Setting ID no	No of children in setting	Allergy	Asthma	Diabetes	Eczema	Epilepsy	No. of children with a chronic condition	Volunteered participation to the next stage
Total	1053	30 3%	43 4%	2 0.18%	41 4%	3 0.28%	114 11%	

Notes

- 1 Eggs and dairy products
- 2 2 of this number also have eczema
- 3 2 of this number also have asthma
- 4 1 also has eczema
- 5 1 also has allergy

6 Not given

The quantitative data showed that out of 1053 children in the 19 settings who returned the questionnaire, 114 (11%) children were reported as having one or more CHCs. Further research is required to find out if the results of this study are representative of a wider national picture. However, in this case study, the figures help to deductively affirm that there are a significant number of children with CHCs in day care settings. The survey asked practitioners to report on the CHCs that were most common in their settings and the findings revealed that:

- The most common CHCs that affected children in settings at the time of the survey were asthma, allergy and eczema (some children had a combination of two or more of these conditions).
- The least common conditions were diabetes (0.18% reported in the study compared with an estimated 4% of children aged 0-4) and epilepsy (0.28% reported in the study compared with 0.4% of all children).

The numbers of children with CHCs in each of the settings that responded to the survey varied widely. The percentages ranged from as few as 5.5% in Setting 15 to 28% in Setting 13 (10 children with allergy and 5 with eczema out of the 58 in the As previously mentioned in Table 1.2, it is setting). estimated that 11% of children aged 6-18 months are affected However, out of 1,053 children, 41 had eczema, bv eczema. which was only 4% of the overall figure. Therefore, it would appear that there are significantly fewer children in these day care settings with eczema than could be expected compared with the national incidence statistics. The reasons for this are speculative. One reason may be that parents of very young children with eczema do not choose to send children to day care settings; they may choose alternative arrangements for Another possibility is that mothers may choose not childcare. This would concur with Daud et al's (1993) to work. previously mentioned finding that there was a lower employment rate amongst mothers of children with eczema than the mothers of children without eczema.

There were low numbers of children with diabetes reported in the returned questionnaires. Only one setting had children with diabetes and I was unable to recruit them to the next stage of the study. Therefore, John's mum's offer to participate in the study was highly valued by me as it enabled me to explore the effect of the symptoms of diabetes on John's early education. The study produced very little data about children with epilepsy; this point is addressed later in this chapter.

Qualitative data: Structure of the research story

This section aims to explain how the findings have been organised to make telling the story of this thesis coherent

and clear. The qualitative data in this study were collected using a range of methods and the participants were practitioners, the parents of three children and DJ. The following table serves as a reminder of the children, the conditions and the contribution made by their parents. Table 5.2: Summary of the children, their CHCs and contribution of their parents to the study

Child's name	Chronic health condition(s)	Parental contribution to the study
DJ — Setting 18 20-32 months old over the period of participation in the study	Allergy/anaphylaxis, asthma and eczema	4 Semi-structured interviews and emails over 12 months with DJ's mum
Freddie - Setting 8 35 months at the time of interview	Asthma and eczema	Semi-structured interview with Freddie's mum (20 th July 2012)
John - from outside the case Diagnosed with diabetes at the age of 15 months. 33 months at the time of interview	Diabetes	Semi-structured interview with John, his mum and dad (17 th May 2012)

My research journal (Musgrave, 2009-13) has been a valuable source of data since starting my doctorate research. There are numerous extracts that I have used to explain my analysis of data, especially relating to the observations of DJ. These extracts are presented in italics in the text.

As outlined in Chapter 1, throughout this thesis the word 'symptom' is used to describe "what the individual feels, subjective responses that are not directly observable or measurable by other people. An indication of a disease, noticed by the patient himself (sic)" (Oxford Concise Medical Dictionary, 2010). Because the children in this study are

under five, most of the symptoms documented in the data were reported by adults.

Nevertheless, the data suggested that the children were capable of reporting some symptoms themselves. This is discussed in Chapter 6.

The findings illuminate some of the complexities that are involved in creating an inclusive environment for children with CHCs.

In the next four chapters, the findings are presented under the following themes:

- 1. The effect of CHCs on children and families
- 2. The importance of communication
- 3. Considerations for inclusive practice
- 4. Responsibilities and qualities of practitioners

Each theme is discussed under a range of sub-themes and subheadings. In order to set the scene for presenting the findings, Table 5.3 summarises these themes, the sub-themes and associated sub-headings.

Table 5.3: Overview of themes

Theme	Sub-theme	Sub-headings from sub-themes
 The effects of CHCs on children and families (Chapter 6) 	1.1 The effects of CHCs on children	 Effects on children's and parents' sleep
		 Children making connections and showing an understanding of how to treat their conditions Children noticing
		when they are given different food

Theme	Sub-theme	Sub-headings from sub-themes
		4. The effects of medication and interventions
		experiences of pain and discomfort
		 Children being unwell and absence from early education
	1.2 The effects of a CHC on the child's family	 Family routines and activities
		2. Parental concerns
		3. Parents and child care arrangements
2. The importance of	2.1 Communication between	
(Chapter 7)	parents and practitioners	
	2.2 Communication between practitioners	
	2.3 Practitioners	
	communicating with other professionals	
3. Considerations	3.1 Adapting the	
for inclusive practice (Chapter 8)	environment in the setting	
	3.2 Aadapting the curriculum: activities	
	3.3 Adapting the curriculum: outdoor play	
	3.4 Creating safe places for food	
4. Responsibilities	4.1 Qualifications,	
practitioners		
(Chapter 9)	4.2 Administration of medication and medial interventions	
	4.3 Responsibilities	
	4.4 Qualities and dispositions of practitioners	

At the start of each chapter there is a visual map of the contents of the findings in each section in order to signpost the content of what is reported under the umbrella of each theme.

Before moving on to reporting the findings, I would like to refer to the data in this study about children with epilepsy.

Epilepsy: a hidden condition?

An aim of this study was to find out about the effects of five CHCs on children's early education. However, there was a limited amount of data about children with epilepsy. The limited information reflects the small numbers of children in the general population who are likely to have been diagnosed with epilepsy, which is 1:279 or 0.4% of children. This is comparable with the small percentage of children reported as having epilepsy in the data, which is 0.28% (Table 5.1). The experiences of practitioners with children with epilepsy elicited three comments from the 19 respondents to the survey. The respondent from Setting 13 commented that his/her most memorable experience of caring for children with this CHC was when "a child had an epileptic fit on a practitioner's lap". The respondent in Setting 16 gave her response to the same question as "a child going into an epileptic fit and seeing her distressed". The respondent from Setting 17 made the point that "No amount of training prepares you for dealing with a fit ... you need support!". These data are significant, especially if examined in conjunction with the data reported in Chapter 10 by Joan (Manager, Setting 1) about a child whose epileptic fits were becoming more frequent. As a consequence of the increasing number of fits, the child was facing the possibility of needing rectal medication to control the symptoms and Joan felt that she was unable to offer this care

to the child. These data may indicate that managing children with epilepsy is concerning for practitioners. Therefore, it may be that epilepsy is seen as a reason not to offer a place to children with this condition. This raises questions about how, if, and where, young children with epilepsy are given the opportunity to access early childhood education. The limited data about how practitioners create inclusive environments for children with epilepsy is a limitation of the study. Further research is required to identify reasons why it appears to be a hidden condition.

Conclusion

The quantitative data gathered in this survey have given an indication of the numbers of children with CHCs, but it is difficult to draw any robust conclusions from the data. Further investigation would be required to comment on possible reasons why there are significantly fewer children with CHCs in day care settings when compared with the numbers reported in the literature as summarised in Table 1.1. It is also noteworthy that there was a wide variation in the proportion of children with CHCs in the settings surveyed. Again, this requires further research to find out if some settings are more, or less, willing or able than others to create inclusive environments for children with CHCs

The qualitative data helped to provide the story behind the numbers. The following chapters report the issues that emerged from the data and help to tell the story about the effect that the symptoms of CHCs had on the families in this study, as well as reporting the impact on children's inclusion in education. The following four chapters report the themes that emerged as considerations for inclusive practice for children with CHCs and their families.

Chapter 6: The effects of chronic health conditions on children and families

Introduction

This chapter examines the findings that illuminated how the symptoms of chronic health conditions (CHCs) were seen to have a profound impact upon the lives of children and families in this study. Figure 6.1 summarises the effects of CHCs on children and families reported in the data.

Figure 6.1: Visual map summarising the effects of CHCs on children



1. Effects of chronic health conditions on children and families

1.1 Effects on children's and parents' sleep

Freddie and DJ's mums reported the sleep difficulties experienced by their children. Over the year that I observed DJ(who had allergies, asthma and eczema)and throughout the interviews with his mum, the subject of sleep was a recurring topic of discussion. DJ's mum commented in an email: "DJ is still having interrupted sleep patterns, but some days he is managing to sleep for longer, up to six hours at a time. WOW! THAT IS VERY RARE!" (May 2012). She also said in an interview:

He slept through the night for two nights last week. We wrote it on the calendar because that's probably the first time that he's done that since Christmas. But it's changed because it's a lot warmer and, particularly during the night, because of humidity he is still scratching. He tends to have a really good scratch before he settles to sleep and then he can wake during the night as well - scratching. But also, because of the humid weather, it's affecting his asthma and since the weekend he's been having extra inhalers to help him with his breathing, he was up during the night over the last few nights coughing and you can actually hear the wheeze (June 2012).

Freddie's mum (Freddie had eczema and asthma), reported the similar difficulties that he experienced because of scratching at night. His sleep was disturbed so profoundly by his scratching that his mum consulted their general practitioner to get medical help. He was prescribed antihistamines (medication which can reduce the itching) but the side effect of the tablets meant that Freddie was sedated. This sedation had unsatisfactory results in that, as his mum reported, "in the mornings when he has had his sedatives he's not like himself, it's horrible, he's like a zombie, so we would rather have disturbed nights than have him like that".

The importance of undisturbed sleep for children has been discussed in Chapter 2, however, it is worth remembering here that on-going sleep disturbance has been shown to have considerable neurocognitive impairment (Brown and Reynolds 2006). Therefore, ensuring that children like Freddie and DJ have restful sleep in their setting may help to compensate for on-going sleep disturbance at night and may help to reduce cognitive impairment. Restful sleep will also contribute to the child's ability to participate in activities throughout the day. In turn, this will contribute to their wellbeing and happiness. This highlights the importance of practitioners and parents working together to create a sleep routine for children in the setting.

The data suggested that the practitioners in DJ's setting have achieved this aim, as illustrated by an observation of DJ's sleep routine:

Observation in the toddlers' room. 30th **March, 1205-1210hrs:** DJ has his nappy changed and cream applied to his body to soothe the eczema. He lies down on his back on the mattress, he is handed a comfort object, which is an item of clothing out of the washing basket from home. He lies and fingers the top of the vest. After 10 minutes of gently patting DJ's tummy, he falls asleep on his back. He sleeps quietly. The only movement is quiet breathing and movement of his chin and lower lip, as if he is sucking his dummy. The skin on his face and hands becomes pale and less angry-looking.

1405 hrs: DJ wakes up, stretches, looks around, gently pokes his ears and reaches for his comfort object. After a minute, he gets up and toddles over to the window... he starts scratching his wrists... he goes outside, he starts scratching his neck. Becky, DJ's key person follows him outside and says "let's put some cream on you DJ".

The observation suggested that the practitioners had created conditions that were conducive to DJ being able to achieve a sustained period of sleep that was peaceful and was not

interrupted by the need to scratch. The application of cream to reduce itching helped to remove physical discomfort or The presence of an item of clothing from home as a pain. comfort object (Winnicott, 1953) helped to relax DJ before settling down and he was emotionally able to relax. This suggests that planning, in combination with a familiar routine, was conducive to sleep. DJ's repeated disturbed sleep at night does not mean that his home routine and home environment is not conducive to sleep. It is possible that the therapeutic effect of the cream wears off after a period of time and this means that he is woken up by the need to scratch. This suggests that the sleep routine that DJ has during the day is particularly important to compensate for his disturbed sleep at night. The benefits of good quality sleep may mean that he is more able to concentrate and take part in activities, thus promoting his inclusion.

DJ's case illustrates the importance of practitioners finding ways in which to encourage children to maintain undisturbed sleep while in the setting. John's case provides evidence of a very different issue with regard to sleep related to his In contrast to children with eczema or asthma, diabetes. John's mum reported that if his blood sugar levels were high or low as a result of his diabetic control not being as good as they would like, his sleep pattern would be affected. He required much more sleep to the extent that John's mum said, "he will not wake up very easily". This point illustrates why it is important for practitioners to be aware of blood sugar levels in children who are receiving insulin for diabetes. It also highlights why it is important to monitor the length of sleep time that children with diabetes may take in a setting. While it is important for practitioners to accommodate children's need for sleep into a daily routine, this data illustrates that this becomes a particularly crucial issue for

children with CHCs and impacts upon issues of inclusion as well as health and wellbeing.

Sleep disturbance also affected the parents, not just their children. DJ's and Freddie's mothers described the profound effect of their child's sleep disturbance on their families. DJ's mum reported how lack of sleep leaves her exhausted:

When I sit down in the evening, that's when the exhaustion kicks in. We do shifts, I go to bed early... he'll (her partner) stay up later because he knows that DJ will get up at some point, usually at midnight, but sometimes he can go through until half past five, but he is awake every 2-3 hours (March 2012).

DJ's mum reported how her lack of sleep was increased when DJ became unwell. After a sleepless night in Accident and Emergency after DJ had an asthma attack, his mum had to get up throughout the following nights to administer inhalers to DJ. She said:

We had to keep giving him his inhaler during his sleep and then over the next five days it was stretched out to two hours, then four hours and gradually reducing the dose. It's been a long and exhausting weekend (November 2012).

Freddie's mum reported a similar experience about sleep disturbance:

My boyfriend works shifts so, if he was on afternoons, he would do every single night and then go to bed at 6 o'clock (am), when I got up, and that's the way we have had to work it so that we can both get some semblance of sleep... Me and my partner take turns (to go to bed), we are up in the night with him.

The examples of how children's CHCs can impact upon their sleep, as well as their parents sleep, are important for practitioners to understand because of the effect this can have on families. Such understanding can help practitioners to empathise with parents. This study revealed that practitioners' ability to empathise was found to be an important quality for them to demonstrate, and helped to contribute to parents and practitioners working in partnership. These points are discussed further in Chapters 7, 8 and 9.

Having discussed the importance of sleep as a factor that impacted upon the child and parents, the next section reports the data that suggests that very young children have an understanding of how to treat their CHCs.

1.2 Children's understanding of their conditions

The data revealed examples that suggested that the children had developed an understanding of how to manage the symptoms of their CHCs. Taking note of what children can teach adults about managing their condition can give clues to how best to reduce the symptoms of these conditions. For example, the children seemed to make connections between the positive effect of medication and how it reduced the discomfort caused to them by symptoms of their CHCs. This was especially apparent in the children who had eczema. For instance, DJ's mum explained how he demonstrated this ability when he was 20 months old:

DJ has got his own little kit in his bedroom... he knows exactly what's what... if you ask him do you want your cream on? He'll say "yes" and he'll just go and get it. He has to be careful because the one cream is really large and heavy, but he's quite confident to just go and get it or he'll understand what we need him to do (June 2012).

Freddie's Mum recounted a similar experience, she said:

When he's scratching himself, he'll go and get his cream out of his bag 'cos we've got a bag with all his kit in, and he'll go and get it and tell us to put it on him. He was about two and a half. He brought me the suncream, I asked him why he brought me that and he was scratching and scratching and then I realised what he had done. I said "you are the cleverest boy in the world!" - making a
big thing of it.

The boys appear to have learnt that there is a connection between the application of cream and a reduction in itching they experience. One of the parents who completed the questionnaire in Setting 1 reported that her daughter, who was 28 months, "knows that she has two types of cream. One that mummy has to apply (the hydrocortisone) and the emollient, which she can help to rub in herself". The other parent who completed a questionnaire in Setting 1 reported that her son "is aware of what creams/medicines he needs... he will ask for cream if his skin is itching". Similarly, John's dad reported that at just eighteen months old, John's behaviour suggested that he made connections between the symptoms of his diabetes and action needed to treat his blood sugar. His dad reported:

He had gone in the kitchen and then he came back in with his pack with his meter in and then he gave it to me. He said 'check', and we checked it (John's blood sugar level reading) and it was low. He has done it a couple of times now, so he knows when it is low, but he doesn't know when it is high. So he is learning, now he knows what it feels like, he knows when it is low and that he needs something to eat.

This data could be interpreted as John demonstrating that he was not only recognising the symptoms of low blood sugar (even before his parents were aware of this), but was also understanding the action required to correct the situation. Episodes of low blood sugar levels (hypoglycaemia) can cause impaired cognitive development in children. Therefore, minimising or averting the number of hypoglycaemic episodes, or 'hypos', is important to avoid the risk of impaired cognitive development. John's actions have implications for practitioners in maintaining his health and promoting development. In the example above, John demonstrated his ability to recognise the symptoms of his CHC. His actions may

indicate his capability to be an expert in the management of his CHC. His ability to communicate how he felt may mean that some young children are capable of conveying important information about their CHCs. This point illustrates the importance of how practitioners may need to find ways to listen to the voices of children with CHCs in order to create an inclusive environment for them.

DJ's mum also suggested that DJ was able to not only understand, but also 'manage' his own symptoms of eczema. She reported:

DJ (aged 20 months) prefers long sleeved tops even when it's warm. He is aware... he has his T-shirt on and he tries to pull it down and he'll actually say something to us and he's desperately trying to pull it down (March, 2012).

This small example of DJ's thinking suggests that he has made a connection between the uncomfortable effects of the sun on his uncovered arms, or he may simply feel more comfortable It is not possible to be definite with his arms covered. about what he is thinking, but his behaviour does suggest that he has an awareness of his condition and how to treat it in order to minimise the effect of the symptoms. This example illustrates how children can acquire information about their bodies using, as Edwards and Titman (2010) suggest, a combination of cognitive development and direct experience. The data above suggest that these boys have learned how to make connections between cause and effect of aspects of their symptoms and how to minimise the symptoms. They have possibly made this connection by copying the actions of the adults who care for them. As Gopnik, Meltzoff and Kuhl (1999) state, people who care for children "naturally act in ways that promote and influence the changes in the children's representations and rules" (p.143). This suggests that

parents will have, perhaps deliberately, perhaps unwittingly, played a vital role in helping to teach children how to cope with their condition.

These examples of how very young children in this study have demonstrated an understanding of their conditions reflects the belief that young children are capable learners from birth. Gopnik *et al* (1999) also suggest that babies have the capability to make sophisticated interpretations of their lives. Such interpretations can play an active role in developing their thinking. The significance of how children with CHCs make connections and learn about managing their conditions is an important one for practitioners to be aware of, and highlights how children can teach the adults who care for them about managing their symptoms.

The next section reports further findings drawn from the observations of DJ that suggest he noticed differences in the food he was offered during meal times. The findings highlight tensions about the inclusion of children with allergies/anaphylaxis at mealtimes.

1.3 Children noticing when they have been given different food

Mealtimes are an important part of routines in settings and offer an opportunity for children to interact with each other and to develop social competencies. In turn, social competence learned at an early age is thought to aid the development of citizenship and inclusion in society (Baker, 2013). However, the provision of food for children who are unable to eat certain foods highlights some tensions for practitioners about inclusion at mealtimes. The data gathered from DJ was especially illuminating in this respect. This section reports extracts from the observations of DJ made when he was aged 20-32 months. The findings suggest that he noticed when he was given food that was different to that of the other children. I have used reflections from my research journal as an analytical tool in order to extract meaning and interpretations from the data. The reflections are included in the text in italics. The first observation took place in the toddler room when DJ was 20 months old.

30th March 2012, 1205 hrs: lunch time. There are 12 children sitting around two tables, waiting for their bowl containing Chilli con carne is served in a variety of different lunch. coloured bowls. As the bowls are put in front of each child, DJ gazes at the contents of each bowl. A bowl covered in cling film with his name on it is unwrapped and put in front "Here you go DJ, here's your dinner" (practitioner). of him. The food is brown rather than the red coloured food in the other children's bowls. He gazes at his bowl and then looks again at the other bowls of food and his gaze follows the children's hands as they put spoons of the food into their mouths. A practitioner says "Come on DJ, eat your dinner". DJ shakes his head. The practitioner picked up his spoon and pretends to eat the food: "yum, yum, now your turn DJ". DJstarts to feed himself.

I have reflected on the use of the word 'gaze' in this observation and realise I selected it because DJ was not simply looking, but he was looking "steadily or intently, especially in thought" (Oxford English Dictionary). As well as gazing, DJ sat quietly, with his back erect and he fixed his gaze for a sustained period of time, watching intently and unsmilingly. The use of the word 'look', as opposed to gaze, demonstrates a less intensive scrutiny by DJ. DJ is an observer and his responses suggest he is beginning to understand that meal times are different for him (Research Journal entry 2nd April 2012)

1450 hrs: The 'orange incident' snack time — children are called to the table. A brightly coloured bowl containing orange quarters still in their skins is put in the middle of the table. The room smells of oranges and the spring sun is shining on the oranges and they are glistening. DJ is gazing at the oranges, as the children are invited to help themselves. DJ looks with interest at the children sucking on the oranges. DJ and another boy are given a bread stick by a practitioner "Oranges aren't for you DJ and Josh". DJ gazes at the bread stick and then turns his gaze to a child eating a piece of orange, he repeats this action but looks at a different child each time.

1505 hrs: the children are still sitting at the table. DJ is given another breadstick. DJ points at the bowl, then his hand slowly goes towards the bowl, he puts his fingers on the edge of the bowl and a practitioner says "No DJ". He removes his hand but then repeats the action and sits for about 30 seconds with his hand on the bowl, his gaze alternates between looking at the breadstick and the orange segments. He takes small nibbles at the breadstick. He then slowly tries to move the bowl closer to him... a child is having his hands wiped and is told he can leave the table. DJ looks at the child who is toddling to the outdoor area. DJ makes a small sound, puts his half eaten breadstick on the table, and leaves the table, he runs to the door and returns to the outdoor play area.

The 'orange incident' haunts me. He is 20 months old and he is clearly noticing difference between the food that he is given and other children's food. What is he thinking? His level of 'stillness' is striking for such a young child. His attention from the events of 'the orange incident' was only taken away when he realised he could leave the table and go outdoors. He sits and gazes and is still and silent, clearly thinking deeply. The routines for meal times are lengthy and I am wondering if this makes mealtimes difficult for DJ? Perhaps a snack station would be better in order to avoid prolonged periods of time sitting at a table?

Charlotte (the manager) said in the interview that DJ had experienced an eczematous reaction to potato, when it came into contact with his face, his skin became inflamed. Charlotte and Sharon tried to wipe his face, but he pushed their hands away, an act they said was unlike him. He then refused to eat any more of his food. The practitioners thought that he had made a connection between the food and the pain/discomfort on his face (Research Journal entry 9th April 2012)

The next observation was made two weeks later when DJ was 21 months old.

27th April 2012, 1625: tea time — children are seated at tables. Plates of toast, bowls of grated cheese and bowls of apple slices are placed in the middle of the table. Children are helped by practitioners to serve their choices. There is no discussion about restrictions for any of the children. DJ looks at the food but does not gaze with intensity, he gives a quick look at the other children's food and settles down to eat. He eats two servings of grated cheese and a quarter of a slice of buttered toast and drinks two cups of juice. He gives small, almost imperceptible nods of his head occasionally (DJ 21 months)

I am acutely aware that I have had an all-consuming interest in DJ and his responses to mealtimes. I was relieved that when he had tea the other day he ate with enthusiasm after he had checked that the other children were eating the same. Using observations has helped me, in a way that no other research method could have done, to see DJ's responses to Bertram and Pascal (2012) describe how observations food. help the observer to try and feel what it is like for a child in a setting, how the data can capture the moment, how the observer can use gut feelings and trust what is being observed. I feel as if I am a conduit that can pass on the information of DJ's responses to food in order to illustrate how he observes difference. I don't know what he is thinking, but my gut feeling is that he is either: perturbed, unhappy, or just wondering why his food is different. Or, is his response even more profound? Is he relieved that the food provided that he is offered is the same as the other children's food? Therefore, has he learned that the food is not going to cause him to have a reaction and is therefore safe for him so he can relax and enjoy eating? I would love to know what he is thinking. I would also like to make all his mealtimes the same as the one the other day, to make (Research Journal entry 30th mealtimes more inclusive for him. April 2012)

24th May 2012, 1055: morning snack — children are called to the table and seated as above. A bowl of melon is put in the middle and children are given a mug of milk each. The melon is served to the children, DJ looks at the other children's food and then looks back at his melon and starts to eat with enthusiasm. He repeatedly nods his head slightly as he is eating. 1115: DJ leaves the table

I observed another example of DJ having what I have come to describe as "an inclusive mealtime". It is a joy to see him looking, almost a glance, at the food, checking out that he has got the same food and then when he sees that he has, he eats with enthusiasm. I realise that the close observations of DJ make seeing what is going on under our noses so easy. However, the practitioners are not seeing his responses to food. There is clearly scope to find out if DJ's responses to food are common amongst children who require different food because of medical need. How do other settings manage the differences and what is good practice in managing meal times for children when there is a need for different food? (Research Journal entry 30th May 2012) 5th November 2012, 1035: morning snack - DJ is sitting at the table with 5 other children, fiddling with his comfort object and he is gazing at the other children as they are served from a bowl of sliced bananas in the centre of the table. Practitioner says "Snack time, DJ, do you want some banana?" he nods his head enthusiastically and says "Yes" emphatically and then eats with enthusiasm and drinks a cup of milk (DJ, 28 months)

Having read back over the other observations, what is really striking is how DJ's body language is so different when he is waiting for food. I am recalling the observation from Monday and realise that it is significant to include even more detail of what I observed. I replayed the snack time over in my head and I remember that DJ was sitting very still, straight up in his chair. Again, he had the intense look, his gaze fixed on the food that was being offered. He appeared to relax visibly when he was offered banana. He started to nod his head and did small rocking movement with his legs. Was DJ expecting to be offered something different to the other children? Is this a source of anxiety to him? If I think about the still and alert demeanour he exhibits during the period he is waiting for food with his relaxed nodding and rocking after he is given the same food, I think it probably is a tense time for him (Research Journal entry 12th November 2012).

1155: start of lunch-time - children are seated around the table, waiting for lunch. They are making animal noises and pointing to parts of their bodies. DJ is joining in and smiling. The lunch trolley arrives. Children are clapping hands and banging the table. DJ is given his bowl of food that has been prepared separately. The other children have a tuna pasta dish, DJ's lunch is pasta - it does not contain tuna - but looks similar to the other children's. DJ gives a quick glance, but does not gaze intently.

1215: end of lunch-time - DJ is still eating using a methodical approach. He smiles as he eats. He has sauce around his mouth, but does not show signs of discomfort. He completes his lunch by eating a serving from the bowl of fruit containing apple slices and grapes, which is offered to all children.

As I am writing this part of my thesis, I am now reflecting again on DJ's body language and wondering if his head nods are significant. He does frequent nods of his head when he is given the same food as the other children. Is his body language demonstrating that he is pleased that he has the same food? He smiled during this observation when he has the same food. Does being given the same food make him feel the same as the other children and does this increase a sense of belonging? If so, this sense of being the same is important to DJ: even though he is so young, he is aware of difference about his food.

The next extract is when DJ is 32 months old and he has moved to the 2-3 year old children's room. The observation reveals further insight into DJ's striking ability to notice difference in relation to food.

21st March 2013, lunch-time — DJ is unwell, he had his temperature taken earlier in the morning because he felt hot. He is coughing occasionally. Several children have been unwell during the week. Children are seated waiting for lunch. DJ watches the practitioner handing out bowls of food to the other children. The other children have meatballs and pasta in a red coloured tomato sauce. DJ is given meatballs and pasta in a brown coloured gravy sauce.

DJ looks at other children's food. The other children do not look at each other's food! He starts to feed himself, it is hot and he stops. A student practitioner who is sitting beside DJ tries to feed him. She asks the practitioners if DJ's food is different, they respond briefly "Yes, he cannot eat tomatoes, so he has to have a different sauce". The student continues to make comments such as "Gravy with pasta is weird" she asks DJ "is that nice?" DJ nods and starts to eat his food independently.

The children are offered a serving of dessert. DJ continues to glance and occasionally gaze at their food. DJ is served a portion from the communal bowl. Other children do not look at each other's food. DJ nibbles at his pudding, but does not complete eating the portion.

DJ continued to be interested in the food that was served at snack and meal times. But, it has only just occurred to me at lunchtime during the last observation that this interest in food is not expressed by the other children. It was such a Eureka moment that I underlined the points several times on the observation sheet. There were eight children aged 2-3 years and although they were interested in the food they were given during the two meals I observed on the 21st March, they did not look at each other's food. Have to say that I could have throttled the student when she drew attention to DJ's lunch. I was longing to explain to her the inappropriateness of her comments. However, DJ did not seem to pay attention to her, but he did respond when she asked him if his food was nice, which implies that he was listening. Not sure what this meant, perhaps he was simply hungry! (Research Journal 23rd March 2013)

I observed DJ for a year and during this time he consistently demonstrated behaviour that suggested that he noticed differences about his food. This reflects Nutbrown's (2011a) view that difference is of interest to children. It cannot be claimed that all children will notice difference in the consistent and striking way that DJ appears to have done, similar studies would be needed to investigate this further. However, an implication for practitioners is that giving DJ food that is different appears to affect his demeanour in a negative way. For example, closely observing DJ revealed his response to being given a breadstick instead of the oranges and the data suggested that this may have been a distressing event for him. The data suggest that he appeared to engage with mealtimes in a more positive way when all children were served the same food, possibly because he felt included in the social sharing experience of eating. These findings have implications for inclusive practice at mealtimes which are discussed further in Chapter 10. The use of observations will also be returned to in Chapter 10. The next section reports some of the effects on the children in the study of needing to have medication and interventions to control the symptoms of their CHCs.

1.4 The effects of medication and interventions

The data revealed that receiving medication is a frequent feature of children's lives if they have a CHC. The purpose of medications and other interventions are to reduce, or manage, the symptoms of CHCs and thus promote maximal

participation in activities. The two most frequent medications that were administered to children by practitioners in this study were cream, to suppress the symptoms of eczema, and inhalers, to reduce the symptoms of asthma. Freddie's mum highlighted the importance of administering cream to suppress the symptoms of eczema:

The most important thing for him is to keep his skin supple and moisturised, so that means the poor girls (practitioners) every hour, or every other hour, they are creaming him up.

As well as cream, DJ and Freddie required inhalers throughout the day.

John had to have a finger prick test up to six times a day. This involved a fine needle being pierced through his skin to obtain a sample of blood. The blood is applied to a test strip inserted into a piece of equipment for blood glucose The blood sugar reading informs decisions about monitoring. the adjustments that need to be made to the dose of insulin delivered by his pump to maintain his blood sugar at an acceptable level. Such procedures may have an impact on engagement with activities because children are interrupted in order to take medication. Clark (2003) reports the views of children aged four and above who described their resentment because of the disruptions caused by the interruptions required to have medication or take blood sugar level The children in Clark's study were older than those readings. in this study, however there is no reason to believe that younger children cannot also feel resentment as a result of the necessary interruptions. In turn, this interruption may disrupt "the finely balanced process of children's thought" (Nutbrown 2011a, p.28) and the possibility that this could have an effect on their cognitive processes is a consideration.

DJ's and Freddie's mums both estimated that preparation for bed could take up to an hour because both boys require creams and then bandages to be applied. As these are such timeconsuming procedures for young children, there is always the possibility that they may cause them frustration. Administering medicines and carrying out interventions such as blood sugar monitoring, required the children's cooperation, for example to wait whilst cream is applied or blood sugar readings are taken. If they need to have inhalers, they are required to cooperate and engage with the procedure so that the medicine in the inhaler is administered correctly and it reaches their lungs. However, the data revealed how DJ's key person appeared to have developed strategies to minimise the interruption to his activities caused by the need to apply An illustration of how she did this is drawn from an cream. observation of DJ when he was 24 months old:

27th June 2012 - 1345 - outdoor play area. DJ goes over to join his special friend who is playing intently with sand in the sand box. Practitioner notices and says "Hold on DJ" he stops and stands quietly, gazing at the practitioner. She calls over to DJ's mum, who is in another part of the outdoor area and asks if he can play in the sand. DJ's mum says "yes, as long as he has his cream on". The practitioner explains to DJ that she needs to put his cream on and to wait for her before touching the sand. She quickly locates his cream and joins DJ at the sandbox, where he has started to gently pat the sand. DJ puts his hand in the practitioner's hand, one at a time, patting the sand with his free hand. He remains engaged with playing alongside his friend as the practitioner applies cream rapidly, but gently.

1405 - DJ is still playing in the sandbox. He has had a sustained period of engagement with the sand. He has been scooping sand into a colander and making animated noises, not speaking words. He has been smiling. He has been taking handfuls of sand from the sandbox to another box repeatedly. After 20 minutes of engaging with the sand, he moves on to another activity in the outdoor play area.

As previously discussed, reducing the symptoms of CHCs is an important part of enabling a child to cope with their

environment and can increase inclusion in their early education. The example of how DJ's key person has developed her practice in order to minimise the interruption to DJ's play may appear insignificant. However, given that research on play indicates that this how children learn (Wood, 2013), it is evident that minimising interruptions caused by the administration of medicines, or the applications of cream, is an important aspect of good practice in order to include children in their early childhood education. However, even when children have medication administered to combat the symptoms of their CHC, they can experience pain and discomfort; this point is reported in the following section.

1.5 Children's experiences of pain and discomfort

Children's responses to pain and discomfort can affect their behaviour and it is important that practitioners understand the causes so that the reasons are not misinterpreted. There is limited literature available about, for example, the effect that the administration of ceaseless injections has on young children. Clark (2003) studied children aged 5-8 years of age and her findings report children's experiences of pain as a result of injections. However, she stressed that the pain children experience is not only physical, but also emotional pain. She claims that emotional pain is experienced because "injections do violence to the boundaries of self" (p.31). This could mean that children who experience pain are at greater risk of developing 'poor' emotional wellbeing (NICE, 2012, p.18). Furthermore, it highlights the importance of practitioners being aware that CHCs can cause pain and emphasises that they must being able to assess indications of their children experiencing pain and discomfort. The findings suggested that the children in this study experience pain and discomfort as a result of their CHCs. For example, there were many examples of the effect of triggers that provoked the

symptoms of eczema causing the child to itch to the extent that Freddie's mum said "He is always scratching and tearing his skin off". The discomfort caused by eczema is further illustrated by comments from DJ's mum:

He just flared up, he was bright red all over, he was really hot and there were white spots (June 2012).

His wrists are sorer than his joints, so they are sensitive at the moment because some of it is healing and some of it's still sore... sometimes he's sensitive and he'll roll down his sleeves because he doesn't want you to do that or sometimes he'll go "Ouch, ouch Mummy" (June 2012 - DJ aged 23 months).

Seeing a child in pain or suffering discomfort was also reported to be distressing for practitioners as well as parents. Practitioners were asked in the postal questionnaire, what their most memorable experience was of caring for a child with CHCs. For example, the respondent from Setting 2 offered that hearing "a 3 year old with severe eczema thanks us daily for putting their cream on: "you stopped me itching", was most memorable". Similarly, the respondent from Setting 18 suggested that "seeing the relief on a child's face when cream is applied" was his/her most memorable experience. Both of these examples make a connection between the positive effect that applying cream to the skin of children with eczema has and how practitioners can bring relief to children by ensuring they are applying cream effectively. Similarly, Charlotte (Setting 18) was visibly moved when she described the following incident that occurred after DJ's skin had come into contact with food that exacerbated a painful reaction to the skin around his mouth. She reported, "one of the staff brought DJ to the office and he wasn't crying and it was like he was used to that pain, he was in so much pain". DJ's reaction was not unusual, as Gill (2006) reminds us, "eczema is a painful condition and children

and adults with eczema often describe their condition as feeling as if the skin is on fire" (p.494). Charlotte's words clearly convey her awareness that DJ was in pain. McCaffery (1992) defines pain as "whatever a person says it is, existing wherever they say it does" (p.1). McCaffery's definition is difficult to apply to DJ because he did not say he is in pain. This may be partly because very young children are less likely to be able to convey such feelings in words because they may not have the level of vocabulary. Lack of ability to convey their feelings may be limited because children's understanding of illness and pain is age and stage dependent (Eiser, 1989). This can make assessments of pain in very young children difficult to quantify. Turning to the literature about children with life-limiting conditions who require palliative care to manage pain, there are assessment tools available (Hunt, 2005) to enable nurses to make a quantifiable assessment of their level of pain. However, it is not uncommon for paediatric nurses to rely on their knowledge of the child to assess their level of pain. In a similar way, it is important that practitioners are aware of the role they can play in reducing symptoms of CHCs that cause pain and discomfort as described in the data above. Part of their ability in recognising the signs and reducing the symptoms of CHCs will rely on the knowledge of the child but also the knowledge of the condition. For example, DJ's ethnic origin is Afro-Caribbean. This is significant because physiological differences in black skin, or skin of colour, can make the signs of eczema less obvious, however the level of pain experienced by the child can be significant (Kelly and Taylor, 2009). These points demonstrate another aspect of the complexity of managing the symptoms of DJ's eczema and highlight how his behaviour may not convey his level of pain.

As a result, his behaviour may be misinterpreted (NICE, 2007) and the need to relieve his pain could be overlooked.

Children with diabetes can have pain inflicted upon them as a consequence of having insulin injections and six finger-prick blood sugar tests each day. For example, John's mum described how his behaviour suggested that he "couldn't understand why Mummy was hurting him" when she was first injecting him with insulin after he was diagnosed. In addition, the symptoms of diabetes can make children feel unwell and can have an effect on behaviour. This point is illustrated by John's mum's description of his behaviour at the time he was diagnosed with diabetes at the age of 18 months:

He used to go round head butting the cupboards when he was first diagnosed, and smashing things, but he actually deals with it a lot better now.

The data that John's mum gave in this quote provokes the image of a bewildered little boy who is unable to understand why his life has changed and why he is being subjected to having eight needles (two for insulin injections and six blood sugar readings) stuck into his body by his mummy or daddy every day. He was probably wondering why his body felt different and, as Eiser (1989) suggests, children's level of understanding of being unwell is linked to children's age and stage of development. John at 18 months old, would have limited ability to understand the complexities of his situation, and his frustration and unhappiness may have been reflected in the behaviour his mum described above. John's response to the symptoms he was experiencing, because of diabetes, illustrate how children can react. The concern is that, even young children may have behaviour misinterpreted as unacceptable or even anti-social. This is another example of the importance of practitioners knowing how CHCs may impact on children so
that the reasons for children's behaviour are understood and appropriate action can be taken.

Although it is important for practitioners to be aware of pain in children, assessing how much pain very young children who are non-verbal, or lack the vocabulary to explain what they are experiencing, poses a particular challenge for practitioners. Brown (2007) discusses how pain in non-verbal children requires the adults to be exquisitely tuned in to identifying signs of pain. Brown's research is in the field of paediatric palliative care for children with life-limiting conditions, however there are correlations that can be used for children with CHCs. She suggests that parents of children who experience pain, and professionals who work with children who are non-verbal or have communication difficulties, describe "a 'language' of distress" (Brown, 2007, p.55) that children develop. She suggests that the distress caused by pain and/or discomfort can be a challenge for adults to recognise because "the interpretation of this distress is often implicit rather than explicit. In other words, distress is often noted as an impression rather than a conscious observation of behaviours" (p.55). Brown's assertions about how the adults in the lives of children who experience pain because of a health condition identify and respond to pain raises considerations for practitioners. Brown appears to suggest that adults form an impression that creates an intuitive understanding of interpreting the language of distress that children may develop in order to communicate their pain. For parents, it may be appropriate for them to respond intuitively, but for practitioners this may be problematic. For practitioners, this highlights the importance of finding out from parents the implicit information about their children's health. Practitioners can then interpret this information to make it explicit so that

all staff understand how to interpret individual children's language of distress.

These points highlight the need for practitioners to 'know' the child and understand how treatment works in order to reduce the signs and symptoms of conditions. By minimising children's pain and discomfort, practitioners are helping the child to feel 'well' and, in turn, children's feelings of wellbeing are likely increase. An increase in wellbeing can improve a child's level of involvement in activities as suggested by Laevers and Heylen (2003), thereby helping children to access and increase the quality of early childhood education.

The pain and discomfort caused to children because of their CHCs may predispose them to the risk of developing psychological difficulties (Edwards and Titman, 2010) when compared to children who do not have such conditions. However, these findings suggest that the children in this study exhibited behaviour that suggests they had become resilient to coping with the effects of pain caused by the symptoms of their CHCs. An example to illustrate this point is offered by the respondent from Setting 12 who wrote "The way there is no moaning when I sometimes have to give three injections throughout the day, whereas others moan over a scratch".

The background to this child is unknown but the data implies that the practitioner is impressed by the child's resilience to cope with the injections. Similarly, John's mum described how he cried the first few times that he had insulin injections, however she said, "he learned to stop crying, he learned he had to have them". John may have stopped crying for a number of reasons and it is only possible to speculate about them. One reason may have been that his parents became

more adept at giving the injections and therefore he experienced less pain. Or, as previously reported, he may have made a connection between feeling better and having his injections. Another consideration may be the child's temperament. For example, Freddie's mum talked about his response to the restrictions on his life because of the effects of asthma and eczema, she said, "He is very, very accepting".

As stated, the reasons why the children in this study were found to be resilient to the pain and inconvenience caused by the symptoms of CHCs are speculative. However, a common theme that emerged from the data was that all of the parents appeared to be equipped to help their children cope with the effects of their CHCs. David et al (2003) highlight the importance of children having parents who can "support the child in coping" (p.12) with the effects of living with a CHC. This is another example of how parents can have a positive effect on promoting their children's development and maximising their opportunity for learning (David et al, 2003). However, this point also has implications for practitioners because they too have a role in working with parents to help children to cope with the effects of CHCs. Therefore, working in partnership may help to enable inclusion of children in both their educational attainment and inclusion in society. The role of parents is discussed further in Chapter 10.

The next section looks at how CHCs can cause children to become unwell and how this can affect their inclusion in their education. It also highlights tensions that this situation can raise for practitioners and other children.

1.6 Children being unwell and absence from the setting DJ experienced several episodes of being unwell and absence from the setting because of his CHCs. This finding concurs

with Marsac, Funk and Nelson's (2007) view that asthma causes a high rate of absenteeism in educational settings. The findings in this section are extracted from data collected during the observations of DJ and from interviews with his mum. The symptoms of DJ's asthma, eczema and allergies caused him to be absent from the setting because he had to attend medical consultations. His mum mentioned that:

We're going to the hospital next Thursday for his allergy tests. He's got one appointment at the hospital on Monday and another appointment on Wednesday (November 2012).

As previously mentioned, asthma, eczema and allergy/anaphylaxis are related conditions, however they are different conditions and require the services of staff with specialist knowledge. The management of DJ's CHCs required him to attend different hospital departments for appointments held on different days with different health care professionals. DJ had allergic reactions to a range of foods during the year I observed him. This resulted in him having to attend several hospital appointments for allergy tests in order to identify the allergenic foods. The effect on DJ and his mum is that they both have to take time away from the setting in order to attend hospital appointments. On one occasion, he required urgent medical attention and spent the night in Accident and Emergency receiving treatment for an asthma attack after which he missed two days of being in the setting.

The data revealed that DJ had several colds that triggered his asthma - bearing in mind that the common cold virus is the most frequent trigger of asthma symptoms. Each time he became unwell, he was treated with antibiotics and steroids. When he was particularly unwell, he would be absent from the setting. The common cold is a recurring cause of illness in day care settings, with children having up to ten infections over the

course of a year (Bush, Bossley, Fleming and Wilson, 2010). Preventing the spread of viruses that cause the common cold is a consideration for practitioners because this will contribute to creating an enabling environment for children with CHCs. For example, promoting effective hand washing procedures can help to minimise the spread of cold viruses in settings. Therefore, as previously mentioned, this may reduce the number of cold viruses that circulate and can trigger the symptoms of asthma, thus reducing the number of times children with asthma might become unwell and need to be absent from the setting and miss out on their early education.

During the year of data collection, I observed periods when DJ was unwell when attending the setting and this impacted on his involvement in activities. However, DJ being unwell had implications for practitioners and for other children in the setting. The extracts from my observations recount such an episode.

DJ is 32 months and he has returned from being absent from the setting because he had been too unwell to attend:

21st March 2013 - 0920. A cold day - dry and sunny. DJ has been unwell and several other children have also been unwell. DJ is in the 2-3 year old room. There is a range of activities in the room. The children are called to sit in a circle. DJ sits and rubs his eyes. He has "heavy eyes". His mum comes into the room. DJ says "go home". Mum says, "not yet DJ, later". Mum leaves the room. DJ cries and has to be persuaded to stay in the room.

0940 — DJ has spent 10 minutes on his key person's lap. He is still sitting quietly but he is still grizzling and occasionally coughing. KP picks him up and puts him over her shoulder. He closes his eyes. KP tries to cajole him and says "I am going to tickle you". DJ keeps his eyes shut and tries not to smile, he then smiles briefly. KP says "You're still not right are you". KP says "Can we check DJ's temperature?". The data suggests that DJ's key person has developed skills and qualities that help to effectively care for sick children. From my perspective, I realised that in my observation of DJ, I described him as having "heavy eyes", which is an informal description commonly used by nurses when assessing sick children. Brown (2007) describes children's physical manifestations of being ill and she notes that unwell children's eyes can lack sparkle and brightness. The description was based on noticing a difference in how DJ looked that morning compared to how his eyes usually looked. My ability to recognise difference was partly based on knowing DJ and having observed him for a year, thus reinforcing the place of observations by practitioners to assess children.

The observation above gives a snapshot of DJ's day at the setting where he rarely engaged with activities because he was feeling unwell. DJ's lack of engagement with the activities of the setting meant that he required more attention from his key person. However, this may have considerations for other children, to the extent that their access to the care of their key person may have been reduced, this point is discussed in Chapter 10.

So far this chapter has focussed on the effects of CHCs on the children in this study. Inevitably, the factors that affect children will impact upon their families and may lead to extra pressures on parents. For example, parents' sleep disturbance and consequent exhaustion is likely to impact on their wellbeing. However, sleep disturbance was not the only effect reported by parents in this study. Practitioners having an understanding of the effects of having a child with CHC on parents may be helpful in creating a positive relationship. The next section reports the data that illustrates the effects on the family of living with a child with CHCs.

2. Effects on the family of living with a child with chronic health condition(s)

The lives of the parents in this study were inextricably linked with their children's lives. Therefore, the effects of their children's CHCs also impacted upon the parents. This section reports some of the effects as reported by the parents in this study. Gaining an insight into the effects on the family caused by the symptoms of their children's CHCs may assist practitioners to appreciate the complexities such conditions present to families and in turn help to promote inclusion of families in settings. Obtaining an understanding of how parents have developed strategies can also help practitioners to develop inclusive approaches to adapting the These findings include some practical considerations EYFS. that practitioners may find useful when creating an inclusive The findings also revealed some of the emotional environment. effects on the parents in this study of having a child with one or more CHCs. Highlighting parents' emotional responses and anxieties can help practitioners to appreciate their role in reassuring parents about how they can care for, and include their children in settings. Figure 6.2 is a visual map of the points discussed in the next section.

Figure 6.2: Effects on the family



2.1 Family routines and activities

An over-arching theme reported by the parents in this study was the need to plan ahead in order to avoid situations that may provoke the symptoms of their children's condition. For example, Freddie's mum reported a lack of spontaneity because of the need to minimise the possibility of him coming into contact with triggers that may provoke the symptoms of CHCs.

She said:

All this sounds really bad. I love him and would never change him, but this is our life and we try to make it as nice as possible for him. We don't miss out on things, we just have to be a bit more careful planning them.

Freddie's mum also reported restrictions to everyday activities, such as swimming, and the need to limit exposure to the sun. Going on holidays was an area that was highlighted by Freddie's mum as needing extra planning:

We're going to Egypt at Christmas, we couldn't have gone in the summer because of his skin. Already now (June) I'm talking to the doctors: shall we take antibiotics? (in the event of his eczema becoming infected).

In a similar vein, DJ's mum talked about her holiday plans:

Even a simple trip to the beach needs thinking about. We haven't done that with DJ yet, we are planning to do so this summer... the sand really dries your skin, its quick as possible get it off and cream again. Just part of life, sand, swimming, sea, we will have a go, but we have to take extra precautions really.

John's mum also commented on the extra considerations that going on holidays created for her: "We are used to going on holidays and getting used to packing everything we need for John, it's part of life now".

Another effect on the families' routines that appeared in the data was how attending to the needs of children with CHCs can take up large amounts of their time. The effects of lengthy procedures and interruptions to activities have been discussed already, but clearly this impacted upon parents as well. For instance, Freddie's mum described how bathing, applying cream and bandages and administering medication could take an extra hour each evening to complete. DJ's mum described how shopping for food takes extra time because of the need to check labels for allergy inducing contents. In addition to these points, parents talked about the frequency of visits for medical consultations, which meant time away from work. The data from parents highlights implications for practitioners when they take on the role of caring for children in the absence of parents. In a similar way to parents, practitioners will have to consider the extra planning required for certain activities such as trips away from the These points highlight the importance of setting. practitioners promoting effective communication with parents. This is discussed further in Chapter 7.

2.2 Parental concerns

The findings in this section illuminate some of the difficulties that the parents interviewed in this study faced on a day-to-day basis because of their children's CHC. Mullins, et al (2007) reported that parents of children with asthma and diabetes exhibited signs of psychological distress as a consequence of the uncertainty that can surround the health of their children. They go on to suggest that parental response can be seen as being over-protective of their children. Again, this highlights the importance of practitioners being aware of the emotions that parents may be experiencing. Such awareness may help practitioners to develop positive and inclusive relationships with parents. The data from the parents suggest that it is possible that all parents in this study experienced, and were still experiencing, a range of emotions because of their child's CHC. Freddie's mum talked about the time when Freddie was a baby and he cried because of the pain of the eczema, which at that time had not been diagnosed:

I can remember him as a baby, crying and upset because his skin was so inflamed all the time. Even though he is a happy toddler now, when he was a baby he was always crying because of how his skin was, but we didn't know that at the time and we were treating him for all these other things we thought he had.

Although Freddie's mum was not explicit about her emotions at this time, her words suggest that she may have felt a sense of bewilderment about why he was so tearful. This highlights a scenario where the behaviour of a baby like Freddie in a day care setting could be misinterpreted. Freddie could have been labelled as a "fussy baby" (Gonzalez-Mena, 2007, p.20). A baby like Freddie may be difficult to soothe and have impaired wellbeing because of the symptoms of eczema. A baby who is

"fussy" can impact on how the relationship develops with his key person; this point is discussed further in Chapter 10.

In addition, Freddie's mum disclosed her anxieties about when he moves to school:

What if children won't hold his hands? He's got quite scabby hands and I'm scared that children aren't going to play with him... when he goes to school they aren't going to be used to him or his skin and that does frighten me, that he will be picked on and things like that.

The data from John's mum convey a range of emotions that she had experienced, and was still experiencing, about John developing diabetes. Her experience reflects Bowes et al's (2008) study, which reported the chronic sorrow that the parents of children with diabetes experience. John's mum conveyed her sorrow about the effect of diabetes on John's life; she talked about her feelings of guilt because she had taken him to visit relatives and at the time one of their children had chickenpox. A doctor at the hospital where John was treated when he was diagnosed suggested that contact with the chickenpox virus may have triggered John's diabetes. John's mum said that she often asked herself, if she had not gone ahead with the visit and John had not come in contact with the virus "would he have a more normal life than he does have? If I kept thinking what I was thinking, I probably would have gone mad."

John's mum also expressed guilt about not recognising that John had diabetes. Both parents felt this was something that they should have diagnosed because they were both trained paramedics:

Me and John's dad just kicked ourselves in hospital. We kept going over and over — why didn't we just do it (take a blood sugar level reading using work equipment), all the signs were there really. As a mother, I feel guilty, lots of guilt, that I didn't do something sooner. That

is how I felt. It took me a long time to get past it. It gets easier all the time.

John's mum reported how she worried about managing the insulin injections for his diabetes:

The first injection I did, I remember I just sobbed and thought I'm not going to be able to do this. He couldn't understand why mummy was hurting him.

Reading the data from the parents in this study conveys their depth of emotion and concern for their children. It is hardly surprising that such concern may manifest itself as a reluctance to be apart from their child. This appeared to have implications for decisions about childcare arrangements, a point that is examined in the next section.

2.3 Parents and childcare arrangements

The data suggested that for the parents in this study, their child's CHC raised additional anxieties about being separated from their children. Practitioners being aware of the psychological distress that parents may experience, because of concerns about their children's health, may mean that practitioners are better equipped to support parents.

Freddie's mum described her experience when she returned to work:

It was awful! I knew I wanted him to come here because my oldest son came here. But I didn't want him to do full time. Not just because he was poorly, but because he was so young. So my mum and my mother in law took him for a day each in a home environment. But I didn't really go back properly at first. I was going into the office, but I kept coming into nursery to check on him and that went on for a few months until he was nine or ten months old until I went back full time. I didn't want to but I had to.

Freddie's mum's words illustrate the dilemma that she faced trying to arrange childcare that she thought was right not only for Freddie, but for herself. These findings concur with Page's (2011) findings that mothers face many dilemmas when going back to work. In the context of this study, the factor that heavily influenced Freddie's mum's choice of childcare was that her elder son had attended the same setting. She does not explicitly say that Freddie's health was an influence on her choice of childcare. However, what is evident in the data is the confusion that she experienced about her choice of childcare arrangements. Her reluctance about leaving Freddie was palpable. The importance of this is that her reluctance to leave Freddie may have been viewed by practitioners as over-protective behaviour as suggested by Mullins et al (2007). However, if practitioners were aware that her reluctance to leave him was because of her fears that Freddie's health status was, in her view, not stable, this would help practitioners to understand her behaviour and possibly allay her fears. For instance, he could have experienced an asthma attack, or a flare up of eczema, causing him pain and distress. An understanding of the vulnerabilities that parents may experience because of their child's CHC, can mean that practitioners are able to empathise with parents like Freddie's mum, and understand the dilemmas that they face.

The data suggested that DJ's mum resolved her childcare dilemma by working in close proximity to DJ because she worked in DJ's setting, but in a different room. She described how she worked in close proximity to both of her children; this was especially relevant as she reported that her eldest daughter also has the same conditions as DJ. She stated:

I would always make sure I was nearby. I've been quite lucky with my daughter, wherever I've worked she has either been with me or nearby so that I can treat her (March 2012).

DJ's mum implied that her childcare arrangements have come about because of luck, rather than her playing an active role in making it possible for her to work in the same building or nearby to her children's childcare. However, her geographical proximity meant that, when DJ had an unexpected reaction, she was able to attend to his needs. She reported:

He had an allergic reaction... luckily I was just across the hall in the other room, his face had swollen up on the one side and his lips had started to swell and then he was scratching his arms. So they called me and I gave him his anti-histamine and he had cold flannels over him... in the end I just stayed with him (June 2012).

This data demonstrated the instability of DJ's health, because an allergic reaction appeared without warning. However, DJ's mum was able to respond immediately and took on the responsibility for managing the incident. This probably had the effect of reducing her anxieties because she was able to respond immediately and stay with him until he recovered from the incident. However, this working arrangement is clearly not an option for the majority of parents of young children who have CHCs.

This section reports how the appointment of a different manager at John's setting meant that the childcare arrangements that were previously in place prior to her appointment became unsuitable for him and his parents. The data suggests that it is important for managers to show willingness and commitment to inclusion for children with CHCs. John was already at the setting when he was diagnosed with diabetes and John's parents had worked with the staff to teach them about John's care. John's mum explained how this situation changed and how this resulted in John not being included in his early education:

He was 13 months when he started at the nursery... he was there when he was diagnosed with diabetes. They were the first people to look after him. They had a new manager... I wasn't happy, I didn't feel comfortable with her looking after John for the whole day because of some of the things she was saying... she made me feel uncomfortable, (to John's Dad) you probably remember what she was like and what she was saying.

She said she couldn't understand what all the hassle was about, and it was easy to see when diabetic children were poorly. Then, on another day, they phoned up because he wasn't very well. The machine (insulin pump) wasn't working. When we went in the pump had become disconnected (John's Dad).

She had messed up, basically. He was having a hyper (high blood sugar). She said "He wasn't acting right. We can't get the machine to work". There was a bit of an atmosphere between her and another girl in the nursery who was very good and was quite clued up. The other girl said, "I told you that's how you do it". So after that I didn't take John back. I talked to my mum... my mum and dad started to help out more... Chris has days off in the week so they come over on the days that Chris is at work. And then, because John seemed to be getting guite bored, he was coming up to three, he needed other children to play with and be with, so he went to the childminder's on Mondays... John didn't like the childminder's. There were some naughty children there. He didn't like it. It is absolutely nerve racking leaving him... for somebody to look after him.

The findings suggest that John's mum was especially concerned about the manager's poor level of understanding and knowledge about John and his diabetes. The manager's comment where she stated that she "didn't know what all the hassle was about" imply that she has minimal understanding of the instability of DJ's health as a consequence of having diabetes. The manager's words also imply that in her view, John's parents are responding inappropriately and possibly in an overprotective way, as described by Mullins *et al* (2007). The consequent hyperglycaemic episode appeared to be a direct result of her lack of knowledge about the management of John's pump. This caused John to be unwell and unable to access his early education. This example highlights the importance of practitioners demonstrating knowledge and understanding of CHCs. The findings about practitioners and training are reported in Chapter 9.

The examples from the parents in this small sample demonstrate some of the difficulties they have encountered whilst organising childcare. Whilst Freddie and DJ's parents had successful childcare arrangements, at the time of the data collection, this was not the case for John and his parents, whose current arrangements were temporary.

Conclusion

This chapter has examined some of the effects of CHCs on the children and families in this study and has raised a number of issues regarding inclusion. For me, the most powerful finding is the data that suggests that very young children have an understanding of how to 'manage' their conditions. Of almost equal power is the data from DJ that suggests that even the youngest children can notice difference in food in comparison with others. His behaviour could be interpreted to mean that having different food is an uncomfortable, and possibly a distressing experience for him. The findings have several implications for practitioners who are developing inclusive environments. For example, it is possible that the children's ability to understand their health, and notice difference is underestimated. However, my experience of observing DJ closely and getting to know him suggests that observations are a powerful tool for creating inclusive practice, this point is discussed in Chapter 10.

To conclude this chapter, Brooker (2010) reminds us that it is important that practitioners are aware of the factors that add to the complexities of the lives of all children and their

families. The data in this study highlights the fact that symptoms of CHCs are complex and can affect children and families in many different ways.

Given that Abbott and Langston (2006) highlight the pressures on parents caused by working and caring for their children, again the data suggests that caring for children with CHCs can be an additional and sometimes substantial pressure, which may be under estimated. The ability of practitioners to empathise with parents and appreciate some of the pressures that they may be under may help to strengthen the relationships between them. This can lead to a greater awareness of the needs of the whole family and in turn this can promote inclusion of the whole family, as well as the children with CHCs.

An important finding that has emerged from this study was how the parents became expert in managing their children's health. This expertise was a valuable resource for practitioners to help them plan inclusively. The data suggests that effective communication between parents and practitioners helped with the transmission of such information. The next chapter reports the findings from the theme of communication.

Chapter 7: The importance of communication

Introduction

This chapter reports the findings under the theme of communication. This theme reflects an aim of the EYFS in that it seeks to provide "partnership working between practitioners and with parents and/or carers" (p.2). The findings from this study suggested that a critical component of creating effective partnership is the ability to communicate. This included several facets of communication as summarised in Figure 7.1.

Figure 7.1: The importance of communication



1. Communication between parents and practitioners

A theme that emerged from the parent and practitioner data, as well as the data from the survey, was the importance of parents communicating their knowledge about the effects of their child's condition to practitioners. The partnership approach to practitioners working with parents started at the first point of contact that parents made with a setting. A11 participating settings had a policy of holding an initial 'getting to know you' meeting with parents where health needs, as well as other relevant information, was gathered. This meeting informed the practitioners' decisions about whether they felt able to offer a place to the child; this point will be returned to below. The data also suggested that the ability of a setting to meet children's health needs was reliant on the parents' knowledge about their child's condition. Parents are seen, and act, as a conduit for information to practitioners that they had accrued about the management of their child's condition. In turn, this knowledge was passed on to practitioners in order to inform them of how to plan for their needs and to adapt the curriculum accordingly. Consequently, some practitioners developed some of the features of being expert in these children's health. The transfer of this knowledge from parents to practitioners helped them to plan the unique health This is supported by John's mum's belief needs of children. that diabetes affects him in a way that is unique to him:

I know little things that they don't know about John and just because he has got diabetes, it might be slightly different to another child's diabetes.

The theme of parents being experts in their child's health is echoed by Mary's comment (Manager, Setting 14) "we are not the experts in this, the parents are". Similarly, Maria (Deputy Manager, Setting 8) stated that a key ingredient to creating an inclusive environment is "having the right information from the parents from the start and working alongside the parents". These practitioners' comments suggest that they view parents as experts in their child's health. The practitioners in this study appear to regard the role of parents, specifically their knowledge about their child, as the most crucial contribution to the setting's ability to create an inclusive environment for children with CHCs. The communication between parents appeared to be an on-going process and there were several different modes of communication. Figure 7.2 summarises the modes of communication and these are discussed in the next section.





The first mode of communication fell into what could be described as planned and unplanned modes of communication, which could be verbal or written. The planned communications included form filling such as medical records that captured the medical history of children and included details of dietary restriction and medication requirements. Another mode of planned communication included the verbal discussions at the handover of the child at the start and end of the day.

Verbal communication took place on a daily basis at the beginning and end of the child's stay at the setting with verbal exchanges about the child from parent to practitioner. Joan (Setting 1) explained how the staff communicated on a daily basis with the parent of a child with diabetes who had attended the setting in order to adapt his diet: "We would talk to dad and he would say he needs extra pasta or rice today, because his sugar is low. Or we won't give him a pudding today because his blood sugar is a little bit high". In addition, Joan herself demonstrated her ability to think about how the weather could add another factor that could affect a child with diabetes:

We had to think, especially in this weather (very hot day, 28 degrees), if he was going outside to do exercise, he probably would need a biscuit or something... we would check with Dad, Dad would do his (blood sugar) levels before he left and he would say he is ok.

This exchange displays Joan's ability to communicate how she had thought to plan ahead to adapt the planning for this child. Her communication acted as a prompt to the child's dad to help her make the decisions that would enable Joan to include the child. This data also reveals Joan's knowledge about managing diabetes. Findings about training and knowledge are reported further in Chapter 9.

There were many examples of unplanned modes of communication, which included phone calls throughout the day. Joan (Setting 1) described how she would initiate a phone call in order to clarify a point: The parents were always at he end of the phone for us just to check. They were really appreciative that we actually rang, we would say, we know it's probably silly, but can we just ask? They said that they would prefer that we actually ring than not at all.

Charlotte (Setting 18) revealed an example of unplanned communication with parents: "If the child refuses to have the inhaler, we have to contact the parent because we can't force the child to have it". This example revealed a difficult situation for practitioners. They would be aware of the need for the child to receive the inhaler in order to reduce the The child's refusal could mean that symptoms of asthma. he/she developed an asthma attack. Such an event would be detrimental to the child's health, and potentially fatal. Speaking to the parents may help the practitioner and parent to work out a strategy to persuade the child to take the Thus, the parent would communicate some of their inhaler. expertise to the practitioner and in turn the application of this expertise could help to avoid provocation of symptoms. Such an action could avoid the child needing to be absent from the setting and missing out on early education.

From Freddie's mum's perspective, communication was an important part of working with practitioners. She reported:

They will always ring me if his skin has gone bad in the day. They phone me and I will come and get him and I know they will do that. It makes me feel happy with them.

The practitioners' ability to communicate informally via telephone calls when necessary during the day appears to be important reassurance for Freddie's mum. In turn, this helps her to feel confident that Freddie is being looked after in the setting as she would look after him at home.

All of the practitioners described how they worked with parents in order to get the information they felt was necessary to be able to meet the health needs and in turn, the education and care needs of children. Some practitioners assumed the responsibility of prompting parents to update them about changes to their child's medical status. This was evident in the policies that certain settings introduced. For example, Mary described the policy at her setting:

We update it every three months to make sure their medication hasn't changed, to make sure that if there is any change in their diet. The parents have to sign to say that here is no change in their diet or medication or anything like that. We normally send out a standard letter.

However, obtaining information from parents was not always a straightforward process and this blurring of responsibility created a tension for some, such as the manager in Setting 8. This next section reports the difficulties that staff encountered when trying to obtain information from a parent about her child who had been diagnosed with anaphylaxis to certain foods. Because the child was at risk of anaphylactic shock as a consequence of coming into contact with the allergenic food, he was prescribed an Epipen (an autoinjector containing adrenaline which can reverse the reaction and potentially prevent death). The child continued to attend the nursery, however, the mother had not supplied the practitioners with a list of the foods that must be avoided. Maria (Setting 8) described the situation as follows:

Mom was a bit half-soaked about things. It took a month to get a list out of her. He did bring his own packed lunch from home, but if he was here for tea, I needed to know what might start him off, we need to know these things.

This example illustrates how practitioners and children can be put in a vulnerable situation if they are not supplied with vital information that could affect children's health. The Managing Medicines in Schools and Early years Settings

Guidance (DfES/DofH, 2005) states that parents should supply information about the nature of the child's condition. The possible implications for this setting, if the child had experienced anaphylaxis during this period when the mother had not supplied the information about the lists of food he must avoid, are worrying. The Guidance states "if staff follow documented procedures, they should (italics added) be fully covered by their employer's public liability insurance should a parent make a complaint" (p.17). However, it is possible that the practitioners were not following documented procedures if the risk assessment and a health care plan did not contain details of the allergenic foods. The circumstances surrounding the reasons why the mother failed to respond to the requests to give a list of foods are not known. Neither is it known why practitioners took what could be viewed as a risk in continuing to keep him in the setting. Setting 8 is an independently owned business and relies on income from fees to be economically sustainable. The manager could have taken the decision to suspend the child from attending the setting until the information had been supplied. However, it is clear that denying the child access to the setting would have meant that he would have been excluded from his education. Also, denying the child access to the setting could have resulted in the mother becoming annoyed as a consequence of being inconvenienced, or she could have been offended by this action. The manager may have been concerned that the mother may have removed the child if she was offended, and this would have resulted in a loss of income. On the other hand, if the child had been exposed to an allergenic food and subsequently experienced an anaphylactic reaction, this could have been a cause for complaint by the This incident also reflects the importance of parent(s). parents being health advocates for their children, and part of

that role is not only knowing relevant information about their child but passing it on to practitioners. In this example, the parent failed to communicate effectively with the practitioners and provide the information that practitioners needed in order to keep the child healthy and safe, thus leaving him vulnerable to a potentially fatal anaphylactic reaction. This section has again highlighted the importance of communication with parents, as well as the difficulties that practitioners may experience if important information is not given to them. However, this study revealed that, as well as highlighting to importance of communication between practitioners and parents, communication between staff was also important. The next section turns to these findings.

2. Communication between practitioners and staff

The EYFS seeks to provide partnership working between practitioners. The importance of practitioners (and other staff) working in partnership by effectively communicating the needs of children with CHCs with each other was an important A facet of communication that emerged from the data finding. was the level of communication between practitioners about the management of children's health needs. Seven of the 19 respondents to the questionnaire emphasised the importance of communication between staff. For example, the respondent from Setting 9 wrote that there were visual displays in the setting to help communicate and educate staff about CHCs. It appeared that practitioners viewed it as important for all staff to be aware of the health needs of children; as Charlotte (Setting 18) stated: "It's not just us in the room, it's everybody in the nursery involved to make sure we do the best for DJ." "It's the Mary (Setting 4) conveyed a similar view: communication with parents and the team so that everybody is

aware of it really." Joan (Manager, Setting 1) also supported these views when she said:

It's all about communication and understanding the need for it and, again, communicating with each other, because it may be that the key person is away on holiday and it's making sure, whoever covers, that all the staff in the room know that child's needs. So it's not just the key person, the whole nursery needs to be aware.

These data highlighted practitioners' beliefs about the importance of intra-setting staff communication. However, the need for written and verbal communication about children's dietary needs was highlighted as being especially important. The subject of food in general is reported in more detail in Chapter 9, however, this section reports some of the findings about the need for good communication amongst staff in relation to children's food restrictions.

Not surprisingly, the need for communication amongst staff extended to the cook. For example, the respondent from Setting 15 spoke of the need to "make sure the cook knows all food allergies". This was mirrored by Joan (Setting 1) who described their formal and written procedures that are in place to communicate the dietary needs of children in her setting:

the chef then signs to say that this is the meal I've cooked, she then takes it to the key person. That key person will sign to say that I've received this.

Seven questionnaire respondents stated that formal, written policies and procedures were used in their settings to communicate children's health needs. For example, the manager in Setting 1 highlighted the role of planning sheets in order to communicate the dietary requirements. She reported:

They have got planning sheets that they do and there is a specific section if a child has any additional needs or allergies, how they would adapt it. So it's just to

remind staff to think, well actually oh, such and such is in today, we have got to remember if we have the dough out... Its' making sure that everyone has the information really.

Some of the written communication is designed not just to ensure the children's needs are met, but also to ensure that legal requirements have been fulfilled. To illustrate this point further, speaking of meeting the needs of a child with CHCs, the manager in Setting 4 reported:

We did the risk assessments and wrote to the insurance company... we make sure that the care plans and consent and care permissions all that sort of thing are up to date.

The usefulness of care plans is illustrated by a further comment from Maria, (Setting 8) who stated that "they (the children) have a care plan and we review it every twelve weeks because they are so little and things change so quickly".

Three of the respondents in the survey identified the use of health care plans as their main source of communicating children's health needs. In particular, creating an individualised health care plan for children with allergies is instrumental in minimising the risk to children of preventing anaphylaxis (Tang and Kang, 2008). Therefore, it was surprising that DJ's setting did not have a health care plan According to Tang and Kang (2008), the contents of a for him. health care plan should contain a summary of training and education required by practitioners to meet children's health It should also contain information that educates staff needs. about minimising the risk of an anaphylactic reaction. The information can help to raise awareness of the responses that are required to minimise the risk of fatality caused by contact with an allergenic substance. Reducing the risk and/or the severity of a reaction can help to minimise the effect on children's wellbeing and also reduce the amount of

time away from the setting that a reaction can cause, thus minimising exclusion from their education. Therefore, the attention given to updating the care plan is an example of good practice in keeping children safe as well as prompting practitioners to consider whether their practice is inclusive.

However, although it was clearly vital that practitioners within settings communicate effectively with each other, the data also revealed that communication with other professionals was an important aspect of inclusive practice. The next section presents the findings of communication with other professionals.

3. Communication with other professionals

The data revealed that the level of involvement with other professionals from the health service varied widely. The data from practitioners suggested that children with complex medical needs, rather than CHCs, were more likely to receive the services of health care professionals when in day care. Children with CHCs are less likely to receive the services of other professionals. The most likely reason for being in contact with other professionals is for training purposes. Several respondents described how the School Nurse or Health Visitor had been contacted for training or information. For example, training in the use of the Epipen was the most quoted training need identified by respondents in Settings 3,6,7 and 12.

Maria (Setting 14), the manager, requested that the parents asked the hospital to send copies of letters written after the child had attended for a consultation. This is an example of how the triad of parents, health care professionals and practitioners can communicate effectively in order to optimise the health of children with CHCs. It is noteworthy that Maria

holds the Early Years Professional Status (EYPS) qualification. The data relating to the qualifications of practitioners is discussed in more detail in Chapter 9. However, it is relevant to highlight the significance of Maria holding EYPS in this section. The EYPS qualification was part of the Labour Government's aim for the early years workforce to have graduate-led gualifications available for practitioners so that children under the age of five benefit from high levels of training (CWDC, 2008). According to Lumsden (2012), they occupy new professional space at the intersection between teaching, health and social work. Therefore, Maria's initiation in requesting copies of letters may be a manifestation of how EYPS practitioners lead on considering the health needs of children so that they can adapt the curriculum to accommodate these children. The request by Maria for letters to be sent to her to keep her informed about the outcome of children's medical consultations, demonstrates higher levels of thinking. This example may illustrate the importance of how practitioners engaging with higher-level qualifications, such as EYPS, can improve communication between health professionals and early years practitioners. The information in the letters received directly from health professionals may also help to reassure practitioners that they are getting the correct information. In turn, this may improve their confidence levels in how they approach adapting the environment to make it inclusive for children with CHCs. this may suggest that developing inclusive practice requires higher thinking skills in order to consider the ways to improve inclusion for children with CHCs.

This chapter has reported the data on the importance of communication as a vital component of inclusive practice. The managers emphasised the importance of communication with parents, however, it appeared from the data that the

effectiveness of the communication with parents was as a result of the practitioners' abilities to ask the right Their ability to do so may have come about because questions. of their level of knowledge and understanding of the children's CHCs. The importance of communication between practitioners was also a notable finding. It appeared that on-going communication, especially verbal, was especially important when caring for children with anaphylaxis and allergy in order to minimise the risk of exposing a child to a substance to which they are allergic. The managers in this study played an important role in communicating with health professionals in order to access training. Clearly, the managers in this study play a vital role in developing effective communication to enable them to develop inclusive practice for children with CHCs. However, it is possible that the managers in this study underestimate how their higher levels of thinking contribute to developing the lines of communication. It is also possible that they do not recognise the vital role that their ability to communicate effectively has on the welfare and inclusion of these children. The next chapter reports the aspects of the EYFS that may require consideration by practitioners for children with CHCs.

Chapter 8: Considerations for inclusive practice

Introduction

The chapter reports specific ways in which the practitioners in this study adapted aspects of the EYFS to enhance inclusive practice. Figure 8.1 summarises some of the considerations that are reported here. The findings reported from this study so far have identified a number of factors regarding inclusion of young children with CHCs. Some of the findings suggest that full inclusion may be problematic. For example, the findings in Chapter 6 report the contentious area of inclusion at meal times for children with dietary restrictions. This chapter includes further findings about food. This is because the data revealed findings that suggest there are tensions for practitioners associated with the provision of food which have implications for inclusive practice. The next section starts by reporting some of the adaptations to the environment that practitioners considered for children.





1. Adapting the environment in the setting

The EYFS states that the premises must be suitable for children with disabilities. However, the findings from this study indicate that this is not just an issue for children with disabilities, because practitioners need to adapt the environments that they work in, to make it suitable for children with CHCs. Two of the adaptations that I observed related to the place of animals in settings and the use of detergents for cleaning. The EYFS highlights the value of children studying animals and as a consequence, two of the four settings had guinea pigs and hamsters for this purpose. However, animal hair can be a trigger for symptoms of asthma, allergy and/or eczema (Levy *et al* 2006). The recommendation

from the UK Clinical Guidelines for Atopic Eczema in Children (NICE, 2007) highlights the dilemma that removing pets from the children's environment raises. On the one hand, some children experience a profound response to the contact with The response can be to the extent that health care animals. professionals may recommend that animals should be removed On the other hand, the Guidelines recognise the permanently. important role that pets can play in children's lives, to the extent that "the psychological distress of pet removal may not be justified" (p.22). Becky, DJ's key person, demonstrated her awareness of the problem with having an animal with hair in the toddler room. She said:

We have a guinea pig and we have to be careful... if there's a problem for a child, I'd move the animal from my room and into another one so that it wouldn't aggravate him.

However, if all children are emotionally attached to the guinea pig, the removal may cause psychological distress for all of them, not just for children with atopic CHCs. This suggests that practitioners may need to consider if it is appropriate to introduce hairy animals as pets in settings. This would avoid the need to remove them if contact with their hair triggered atopic children's symptoms. The choice of animals to enhance children's learning raises a further consideration about choosing a breed that is unlikely to trigger symptoms in atopic children.

As well as animals, everyday chemicals were reported as being problematic. The EYFS highlights the need for providers to ensure that their premises comply with supplying equipment for hygiene requirements. However, the detergents used for laundry and hand washing may trigger a skin reaction. If the chemicals trigger the symptoms of eczema, this may reduce children's ability to engage with activities and can have

implications for inclusion. For example, three of the respondents in the survey mentioned that they had to supply soap and towels for children with eczema. This suggests that even simple everyday practices related to hand hygiene require adaptations. For example, Maria (Setting 8) described the level of care they took to ensure that Freddie's hand washing procedure was adapted to reduce the chance of his skin becoming aggravated. She said:

He uses an emollient to wash his hands because the soap was aggravating his hands. We've got paper towels which seem to be ok... we always make sure his fingers and the back of his hands are dry because that's one area they always forget.

Mary, Setting 14, reported another consideration about laundering bedding in the setting, she explained: "We launder our own clothes. If they need to have a certain washing powder, and not ours, mums take bedding home to wash".

This section has highlighted some of the considerations that need to be borne in mind when creating an inclusive environment. The effect on children of not implementing such adaptations may be disabling them from accessing activities and their education. The next section turns to considerations about adapting activities in order to ensure children with CHCs can access the curriculum.

2. Adapting the curriculum: activities

Activities that are planned in settings may be problematic for children with CHCs and this is a major issue for inclusion. The findings suggest that it may be difficult to adapt some activities to make them fully inclusive. For example, Maria, Setting 8, described how a sensory activity using shaving foam was problematic for Freddie because of his eczema. She demonstrated an innovative approach to adapting the activity:

We had shaving foam the other week and we had it on trays and we let the children, particularly the 2-3 year olds, explore it and my colleague was doing it with me and said "oh, what about Freddie's skin?" So I said "put some clingfilm over it and do it quite loosely so that he's not messing with the foam but he can poke it and press it and feel that it's soft and do what the other children are doing, not the wetness, but he can still explore it in that way.

Maria's example of how she adapted the shaving foam activity with the use of clingfilm with the intention of making the activity inclusive for Freddie raises questions of whether the activity is really inclusive. There was still a difference in the presentation of the activity. However, unlike DJ noticing the difference in food, according to Maria, Freddie "didn't bat an eyelid". This may suggest that Maria's approach to adapting the activity seemed to have included him, therefore her adaptation of the activity was inclusive for Freddie.

Maria highlighted a consideration for adapting a painting activity for Freddie:

Things like painting, making sure that if we are printing that he doesn't get too much paint. Sometimes, his hands are very, very sore and making sure that he doesn't get too much paint on them. Yes, we adapt it for him really. The one I can think of the most is the shaving foam.

In the example above, Maria described the caution they took to ensure that Freddie's skin did not come into contact with "too much" paint. However, how much is "too much" paint and how is that judgment made? This is possibly another example of where practitioners were required to use higher level thinking to make such a judgment. This point also raises questions about how practitioners exercise judgment to ensure that children do not come into contact with "too much paint". It also highlights the level of responsibility that practitioners carry in maintaining these children's physical safety and whether such responsibility raises anxieties for practitioners? This concurs with Page and Elfer's (2013) finding that staffs' greatest anxiety is physical safety of children. It also raises the question of how that anxiety may be manifested. One suggestion by Rentzou (2013) is that practitioners can become reliant on nursery routines. This point is returned to in Chapter 10.

Turning to the children's perspective, if they are interrupted during a paint activity in order to minimise contact with paint, how does this make the child feel and does the interruption "disrupt the finely balanced process of children's thought" (Nutbrown, 2011a, p.28).

Another respondent showed similar innovation to Maria in the adaptation of activities for a child with eczema who was not able to play with sand because it triggered the symptoms. Τn this case, lentils were used as a medium for sensory play instead of sand. Moreover, water can be a trigger for children with eczema, and this was highlighted by 5 of the respondents in the survey. Practitioners demonstrated their understanding of the need to ensure that children had emollient applied to their skin prior to coming into contact with water. Another questionnaire respondent commented that a child with eczema wore gloves for messy and water play. Joan, Setting 1, reported how she thought ahead to think about the suitability of other activities that involve skin contact for children with eczema and allergies. She said, "We have got to remember if we have the dough out we have to be careful with the colouring. Or, if we are doing a cooking activity".

This section highlight some tensions that practitioners may face when attempting to strike a balance between including children in activities and at the same time minimising the impact of CHCs on children's activities. The findings suggest that practitioners demonstrate their awareness of the need to
consider the suitability of some sensory activities for children with CHCs. This section highlights that sensory play activities are especially problematic for children with eczema. The findings suggest that there are challenges to planning sensory activities that are fully inclusive for children with eczema. The findings also suggest that some of the actions taken to adapt activities are not entirely inclusive, for example Maria's description of the shaving foam activity.

The next section reports the considerations and adaptations to outdoor play arising out of the data.

3. Adapting the curriculum: outdoor play

Outdoor play required consideration for some children and especially those with asthma because asthma symptoms can be triggered as a result of physical exercise, such as running. For example, DJ's mum described how he had an asthma attack that was provoked by running outdoors:

He has to be careful when outdoors. Lately he only has to for a short walk or a quick run around and he's wheezy. His asthma attack started here and I had to take him to hospital in the end. So now, if he's out and he is going to be running, he has his inhaler before playtime and after play-time.

This is an illustration of how administering a puff of inhaler meant that DJ could safely run outdoors and he was able to partake in the activity. This action was mirrored by responses to the survey where practitioners explained how administering a puff of inhaler helped to reduce the chance of a child getting wheezy. For example, Joan (Setting 1) commented how she ensured that a child with asthma could have his participation in outdoor play maximised by remembering

that "if we have got football practice, he needs to have an inhaler beforehand".

Children with eczema also required additional considerations for outdoor play. Exposure to the sun needs to be managed for all children, and part of management is the application of However, suncream can be a trigger for eczematous suncream. To reduce this risk, Joan (Setting 1) said that their skin. policy is for parents bring their own sun cream. She added that "staff use separate gloves to put it on". Her comment demonstrates her awareness of the need to reduce the risk of another brand of suncream being spread on to the skin of a child with eczema because a practitioner used the same gloves for all suncream applications. Messy outdoor play also raised considerations for children with eczema. This is because sore and cracked skin is vulnerable to infection. In particular, practitioners demonstrated their concern about children playing with soil and with worms, which they felt could be a The consequences of a child getting risk of infection. infected eczema is described by one respondent to the survey in Setting 8 as her most memorable experience of caring for She wrote: "One child had severe eczema children with CHCs. and needed to be hospitalised as the eczema was infected". This highlights the need for practitioners to be acutely aware of the consequence of failing to consider the possible outcome of not adapting activities in ways that are appropriate for children with eczema.

Children with diabetes also required consideration about adaptations to include them in outdoor activities. If a child with diabetes expends more energy than anticipated, there is a risk of them going into hypoglycaemia, which is a medical emergency. Joan (Setting 1) described how she approached the

management of a child with diabetes in order to include him in outdoor play:

We had to think, if he was going outside to do exercise he would probably need a biscuit or something... he would have Ribena (high in carbohydrate) and we would take an extra (blood sugar) test just in case.

This comment highlights the additional planning that Joan was required to do in order to include this child in outdoor play.

This section highlights the high level of knowledge that practitioners possess about managing CHCs and how they apply this knowledge. The findings suggest that dilemmas arise about striking a balance between minimising children's contact or engagement with activities that may provoke symptoms and the need to keep children safe. This dilemma is especially evident in relation to providing food for children with CHCs and this is reported in the next section.

4. Creating safe places for food

The data revealed that the provision of food was a major cause of concern for parents as well as for practitioners. However food is considered in this section, rather than in the section about the effect on families because of the many considerations this subject raised for settings. The findings concurred with Pitchforth *et al's* (2011) study which reported the anxieties of parents about creating safe spaces for the provision of food. It appeared that managing the dietary needs of children with allergies was an area of tension for parents and practitioners and raised several considerations. For example, Joan, Setting 1, commented, when asked if she had encountered difficulties in creating an inclusive environment:

I think the main thing really is the meal times If a child has a severe allergy, we have a procedure... the

cook cooks their food separately... it cuts down on the risk.

As previously stated, although fatalities caused by anaphylactic reactions to foods are rare, they do occur (Muraro, Clark, Beyer, Borrego, Borres, Ledrup Carlsen, Carrer, Mazon, Rance, Valovitra, Wickman and Zanchetti, 2010). The most effective management for a child who has anaphylactic reactions to foods or substances is to avoid contact or ingestion of the food (Tang and Kang, 2007). In order to reduce the risk to children who have severe allergies to food, this study revealed that settings had procedures in place to prevent children from coming into contact with an allergy causing food. For example, DJ is allergic to fish, but fish is served in the setting to other children. Becky, DJ's key person described how they attempt to minimise the risk of cross-contamination:

All of his food is prepared separately. If it's fish, his will be prepared and then be wrapped up so there is no cross-contamination.

Preventing cross contamination of food was an issue that Joan was also acutely aware of. When asked about how the setting minimised the risks of children with allergies coming into contact with allergenic foods, she highlighted the lengths they went to prevent cross-contamination. She described the attention to clearing up food after meals were finished:

Making sure when you are clearing away that the child (with allergy) stays sitting down until everything is cleared away because it would be quite easy for them to think "oh, there is some food on the floor". They don't have food in the rooms, because children could quite easily take something up, things like bibs, tables, chair supports, making sure they don't come into contact with the food or the allergen.

The need to prevent a child coming into contact with an allergy causing food was also an issue for Sharon (Setting

18). She highlighted the dilemma of including children with food allergies at mealtimes as well as keeping them safe:

making sure he wasn't sitting right next to other children (when eating). You didn't want to ostracise him, but you didn't want him too close in case he touched something that could make him go into shock.

Sharon's comment indicated that children were physically distanced from food that may be allergenic to them in order to reduce the risk. This raises an issue about children being excluded from the social activity of eating. The data revealed the need to prevent cross contamination of food. Joan indicated that children under three were expected to remain seated until all food debris was removed to reduce the risk of contact with food that may have provoked a potentially fatal allergic reaction.

The data revealed practitioners' anxieties about keeping children safe and the need to be vigilant about the possibility of children coming into contact with food that is potentially harmful or even fatal. This point is illustrated by Sharon, (Setting 18), who described the anxiety of a practitioner who was previously employed at the setting. The practitioner was the mother to a child who attended the setting and the child was anaphylactic to some foods: "She was very nervous at children's birthday parties or Christmas parties with all the different foods around which made him quite jumpy".

This concurs with Pitchforth *et al's* (2011) findings where parents described how they became 'alert assistants' to help their children avoid dangerous food and create safe spaces for food. However, the data suggests that practitioners take on a similar role and become responsible for creating safe places for children with allergies to eat in the setting. It appears

that the attendant responsibility is a source of anxiety for practitioners. This is illustrated by Sharon's (Setting 18) comment, "it was more emotionally draining for staff because it was more of a life-threatening condition. We were always double-checking things". The emotional anxiety that practitioners experience as a result of the responsibility of caring for children with potentially life-threatening allergies will be discussed in later chapters and returned to in the concluding reflections.

In contrast to the policy is Setting 18, Setting 14 did not prepare food on the premises because food was sent in from home. Maria commented that she thought the catering arrangements made it easier for the practitioners to ensure that children with allergies were kept safe. She said:

It is easier for us because we don't have to stop and think, can they have that, or can't they have that? And phoning the parents every five minutes, so yes it does help.

The data suggested that Maria felt much more relaxed about the provision of food in her setting because the responsibility to provide 'safe' food did not entirely rest with her. This was in contrast to Sharon's experience described above. The next section turns to discussing the data from John's mum where she explains the difficulties associated with John being offered food, in particular carbohydrate, at celebrations. The implications for practitioners who care for children with diabetes are also discussed.

The data revealed considerations associated with adjusting food for children with diabetes. This was especially problematic when the normal routines were changed, for instance when John attended children's parties. Normally, John's mum read the carbohydrate content of food on the

wrapping. However, if they arrived at a party and food was laid out ready to be served, and the wrapping, with details of carbohydrate content were not available, she was unable to make the necessary calculations to adjust his insulin dosage. John's mum described the difficulty this created for her and John:

It is a nightmare, just a nightmare. We can't say to John, you can't have this, you can't have that, and the boxes are gone with all the carbohydrates written on them.

John's mum's words convey the complex considerations and planning ahead that is required to provide safe food for John; a situation which would be similar for all children with diabetes. If the required adaptations are not addressed, this could lead to children with diabetes becoming unwell. Therefore, the need for practitioners to understand how to manage the complexities are key to keeping children well, as well as enabling children to take part in social activities, such as celebrations. Despite the pressures on practitioners that creating safe places brings, this did not seem to deter practitioners from planning activities with food. An example is given by Joan (Setting 1), who described how she had liaised with the cook to find suitable ingredients for a child with an allergy to dairy products. She said:

My chef is brilliant, she has managed to find dairy-free chocolate so that he can be involved in making crispy cakes and there is nothing different for him.

This example illustrates how Joan and the chef managed to successfully and safely adapt an activity in a way that will not highlight difference.

Conclusion

This chapter has reported a wide range of considerations for practitioners implementing and adapting the EYFS for children with CHCs. The points highlight different approaches to activities to attempt to maximise inclusion for children with CHCs. However, it would appear that some approaches are not fully inclusive. It may be that planning around the needs of children with CHCs is a solution, as described by the respondent from Setting 9 who said: "We just plan around when the children are in the nursery". This approach could be a However, it must be borne in mind that useful way forward. children without CHCs may be disadvantaged. The data revealed the tensions that affect practitioners as they attempted to ensure the food served to children with CHCs was safe at the same time as including children in the social aspects of eating. The findings suggest that practitioners who develop inclusive practice take on extra responsibilities as well as demonstrating certain qualities. The next chapter reports these findings.

Chapter 9: Responsibilities and qualities of practitioners

Introduction

This chapter presents the data findings about the practitioners' responsibilities and qualities that were reported in this study. The data suggested that it is important for all staff, not just managers, to have a combination of personal qualities and knowledge to address the complexities associated with creating inclusive environments that emerged from the data. These findings reflect Hard and Jonsdottir's (2013) view that leadership in early childhood is defined by "a collaborative or team approach" (p.322). Leadership skills and qualities were especially important for practitioners to demonstrate when developing relationships and working in partnership with parents. The findings suggest that while many practitioners in this study were adapting practice and the environment in order to make it as inclusive as possible, others were not prepared to take on some aspects of care for children with CHCs. Such reluctance could be a barrier to inclusion.

Figure 9.1 is a visual map of the findings reported in this chapter. The chapter starts by reporting the findings about practitioners' views in this study regarding the need for them to have knowledge and training. This appeared to provide a foundation on which they could start to create an inclusive environment. This point is discussed in the following section.





1. Qualifications, knowledge and training

Some of the data reported in previous chapters illustrated a high level of knowledge and training about CHCs demonstrated by practitioners. This section reports the importance practitioners placed on having knowledge and training. The data revealed that the 19 respondents to the questionnaires were well qualified.

Table 9.1 summarises the qualifications of the respondents as reported by them in the survey.

Qualifications of respondents	Number achieved qualification
Early Years Professional Status	4
Bachelor of Arts: Early Childhood Studies	5
Graduates: other degrees	 psychology (and L3) not specified (and L3)
Foundation Degree in Early Years	5
Level 3	NNEB: 1 (and unspecified graduate) NVQ: 1 (and psychology degree)
	Unspecified Early Years qualification: 3

Table 9.1: Qualifications of respondents to survey

The table above shows that only 3 of the respondents held just a level 3 gualification and 16 respondents were gualified to level 5 and above. The EYFS sets the minimum qualification at level 3 for a manager. It is not possible to draw any generalisable findings from this very small-scale sample, but the level of qualifications reported by the respondents far exceeded the minimum requirement. The respondents' qualifications may indicate there is a connection between practitioners' awareness of the barriers that CHCs can present to children's ECEC and their ability to address such barriers. Also, it should be noted that the ability of practitioners to create an inclusive environment for children with CHCs is likely to improve the quality of the ECEC for such children. Therefore, this could be viewed as an example of how better quality ECEC can be provided if the workforce are qualified to higher levels (HMT, 2004; Nutbrown, 2012).

The data revealed that respondents reported that appropriate training about the medical requirements of CHCs enabled them

to understand the signs, symptoms and treatments. In turn, this enabled practitioners to manage the environment, as well as helping children to cope with their condition. For example, Charlotte (Setting 18) explained how training complemented the knowledge that parents could offer. She said "I think we could probably manage as long as we could get the training and the support from families".

The data revealed that respondents were either very confident or moderately confident about their level of knowledge and abilities to care for children with asthma, allergy/anaphylaxis and eczema. This is possibly a consequence of having children with these conditions in their settings. There was less confidence about levels of knowledge and their ability to care for children with diabetes and epilepsy. However, the practitioners who had children with these conditions were very confident about their knowledge and ability to care for them. This may suggest that some practitioners are reluctant to engage with training about diabetes and epilepsy, or it may be that training is difficult It may be significant to have found out if the to access. children with CHCs in this study had already been in the setting when they were diagnosed as it may be that practitioners were more able or willing to accommodate the health needs of a child who was already in the setting. In contrast, practitioners may feel that it is easier not to offer a place to a child with a pre-existing CHC.

The data suggested that managers used their knowledge of conditions to assess the likely needs of children when first contacted by parents. The practitioners in this study researched the needs of each child in order to help them make a decision about whether they felt equipped to offer a place to a child with CHCs. The data revealed that there was a lack

of consensus about which conditions practitioners felt they could manage. For example, Joan (Setting 1) was cautious about the type of medication she felt she would be able to administer to a child with epilepsy.

She commented:

It would depend on the condition and what they need. We had a little girl with us a long time ago, she needed rectal medication for her fits, that was something we were really unsure about. We were not trained for that and luckily enough we didn't have to do it. We got to the point where we said to mum, as the fits were getting worse, that this may be something that we wouldn't be able to do.

Joan's comments suggest that she was unhappy about taking on the administration of rectal medication. She makes the point that the staff had not been trained to carry out this procedure. However, this does not mean that training was unavailable. Joan goes on to say, "the child left us anyway, nothing to do with the nursery". The reasons why the child left are unknown. However, the child's mum is likely to have found it difficult to hear that the staff had expressed their concerns about the possibility of having to administer rectal medication to control the fits. This view suggests that Joan thinks there is a boundary to which she is prepared to go to accommodate the medication requirements of children with CHCs. In this example, it could be interpreted that the prospect of administering rectal medication was potentially a barrier to inclusion. However, this could also be interpreted as there being a boundary to her willingness to include such children in this setting.

This view was in contrast to Sharon at Setting 18, who commented that:

We have always tried to have every child that we can here in the setting. If we are not familiar with the allergy or condition, we will research ourselves, and get ourselves as much information as possible.

The data revealed that respondents used a wide range of sources to gain knowledge. Parents were the most frequently mentioned source of knowledge, but other sources included online searches of government websites, staff from other settings and health professionals. If managers identified a training need for staff there was mixed availability of training. Setting 18 had a significant number of children with complex medical needs (as distinct to CHCs). Consequently, they had a network of contacts with health care professionals that they could contact for training needs. Interestingly, Setting 1 was part of a large chain and had access to in-house training, but in a similar way to Setting 18, training needs were supplemented by the manager's network with health care professionals. Setting 14 was located on the site of a state maintained primary school and there was an arrangement whereby practitioners from the nursery were allowed to access the school's training. This highlighted a shortfall in the independent nursery sector because, as Mary (Setting 14) said, "the schools get training before we do in the private sector". The shortfall in training in the independent sector highlights a discrepancy with the statemaintained sector. The implications of a lack of training could mean that practitioners do not feel equipped to care for children with CHC and are consequently excluded from some settings.

The data revealed that the main reason given by practitioners for accessing training is because of the confidence they gained from knowing they are "doing the right thing" (Mary, Setting 14). The knowledge gained from training gave them

confidence to adapt activities, as well as to give medication and manage the symptoms of the condition. In turn, practitioners were able to take on the role of expert because they were able to think about the influence of factors such as the weather. For example, as described in the previous chapter, Joan demonstrated how she was able to prompt the dad of a child with diabetes to think ahead to the changes that needed to be made to accommodate the nutritional needs of the child, as well as assessing the effect of the hot weather. These adaptations would have helped the child to feel healthy and maximise participation in outdoor activity.

The data suggested that training and knowledge are vital for practitioners' abilities to create an inclusive environment. However, the data also indicated that obtaining training is not straightforward. It appears that there is a lack of clarity and consistency about how to access training. This is potentially a barrier to inclusion of children with CHCs. The next section discusses the issues for practitioners relating to administering medication and carrying out medical interventions.

2. Administration of medication and medical interventions

The effect of medications and interventions on children has been considered in Chapter 6. However, the findings suggest that there are several considerations for practitioners about administering medication and carrying out medical interventions. One consideration for them is the amount of time required to attend to administer medication. When asked how long practitioners estimated they needed to tend to the extra needs of children with CHCs, there was a wide range of responses. Some practitioners stated that the extra requirements took "a few minutes", whereas others estimated 15-30 minutes. The variation in the range of estimates is partly explained by Charlotte (Setting 18):

There is not a time that can be placed on this... every child's need is different and will depend on the condition and treatment required. For example, one child may require their inhaler once a day and another child may need it 3-4 times a day.

In addition to the administration of medicines there are other time considerations, for example, the time taken to communicate with parents and health professionals, as well as between practitioners. Administration of medicine in DJ's setting required two practitioners; the first practitioner, DJ's key person, initiated dispensing his medication and a colleague checked the administration details and both signed the appropriate form (Observation, March 2013). However, the extra time required for this purpose may not be accounted for, and is unlikely to be accounted for in the ratios of adults to children.

As well as being a time-consuming aspect of care, there may be other reasons why administering medication is an area of tension for practitioners. This point was illustrated by Joan's comments in the previous section where she expressed her reservations about administering rectal medication. It may be that she would not be prepared to administer rectal medication even if she was trained to do so. The reasons why the administration of rectal administration is not something that is acceptable to practitioners are speculative. But it is possible that administering rectal medication would be distasteful for some practitioners. Or it may be that practitioners have concerns about the intimate nature of the process. However, reservations about a particular mode of administration may mean that practitioners decide that some children's health needs cannot be accommodated in the setting.

Another consideration is that administering medication is a significant responsibility for practitioners. It also raises the important point that the Managing Medicines in Schools and Early Years Settings Guidance (DfES/DofH, 2005) outlines the responsibilities associated with caring for and administering medicines to children with CHCs. The Guidance advises that arrangements about who should administer medicines within a setting are individual to each setting. Such arrangements can be "either on a voluntary basis, or as part of a contract of employment" (p.17). If practitioners do administer medication, they need to have adequate training. However, as access to training can be problematic, this situation may mean that settings may be able to avoid taking responsibility for administering medication. This situation could mean that children with CHCs who require medication are not offered a place in a setting. Or it may be that, if a child develops a CHC and requires medication, lack of training and lack of a suitable person who is willing to carry out certain procedures may mean that a child is unable to continue attending their For some practitioners they may feel that the level setting. of responsibility associated with this aspect of care for children with CHCs is beyond the limits of their role. The next section examines other areas of responsibility for practitioners when creating inclusive environments for such children.

3. Responsibilities

The previous section discussed the responsibilities associated with administering medication for children with CHCs. This section reports the findings that revealed other areas of responsibility for staff when planning for the needs of children with CHCs. The data implies that there may be tensions for the key person being able to meet the

responsibilities to other children in their group because of the needs of children with CHCs.

The data indicated that the managers played a key role in taking responsibility for children's health needs, especially when there was a need for communication with parents. However, the data suggested that it was important for all staff (including the cook) to share the responsibility of keeping children safe. In Settings 8 and 18 there appeared to be an overlap between managers' roles and the role of the key person and it appeared there was a shared approach to sharing the care and education of children with CHCs. This is illustrated by Charlotte's (Setting 18) comment where she explained how the practitioners shared the responsibilities of caring for children with CHCs by saying "we all do it equally", thus, demonstrating a leadership style that is defined by its collaborative and team approach (Hard and Jonasdottir, 2013).

The managers who were interviewed commented on how they disseminated the contents of conversations with parents to the child's key person. This implies that the key person appeared to have a limited role in communications with parents. However, Mary (Setting 14) said that she would "be happy to allow the key person to talk to staff as long as she knows what is being said in the conversation". The fact that managers appear to take over the role of communication with parents may be because they wish to ensure they are aware of the contents of conversations to ensure that procedures were followed and documented correctly. For example, Mary, in Setting 14, described how she recorded agreed actions with parents, "so that we are covered". Maria's comment highlights the responsibility that can accompany some aspects of managing the medical needs of children with CHCs.

Another reason that managers may have taken on responsibilities for communicating with parents from the key person is because the key person would have been caring for other children in his/her group. If a key person has to repeatedly leave her key children to talk with parents, this may present him/her with a dilemma about how to meet the needs of all his/her key children. This could be another reason to explain why managers may have taken responsibility for the communication with parents. This point is returned to in Chapter 10. Despite the lack of clarity about the extent of the key person's role about some aspects of the care of children with CHCs, Becky, DJ's key person, indicated that she had an important role in meeting the health needs of children with CHCs. For example, she felt that part of her role in creating an inclusive environment was to "do as many observations as possible". She stated that the observations helped her to identify what provoked DJ's symptoms and the findings informed planning for DJ's education. However, there may be room for Becky to exploit the use of observations as a useful tool to develop inclusive practice even further, this is a point which is discussed further in Chapter 10.

The data appears to suggest that it is difficult to have clear-cut areas of responsibility and boundaries of responsibility are blurred. The data suggested that it was not always clear whether parents or practitioners were responsible for some aspects of the care of children with CHCs. The level of responsibilities shouldered by practitioners and especially managers appeared to be linked to their personal qualities; this point is discussed in the next section.

4. Qualities and dispositions of practitioners

This section reports some of the personal qualities that the practitioners in this study demonstrated in order to address the complex needs of children with CHCs and their parents. The qualities these practitioners demonstrated reflected those associated with effective leadership in early childhood education and care (Aubrey, 2007). Their leadership qualities resonated with what Jonsdottir (2009, in Hard and Jonasdottir, 2013) described as a "discourse of niceness" (p.319). The 'niceness' meant that the practitioners demonstrated a caring and positive approach to nurturing not just the children, but the parents too. Data from practitioners revealed the qualities they thought were important for them to possess in order to create an inclusive environment.

Maria (Setting 14) summarised some of the qualities she thought were important:

Open-mindedness and a willingness to learn from others... working with other professionals... we want their advice, we want to hear what they have got to say. I have been in settings before where they don't listen and don't want to know, but that doesn't help the child, we are here to here to help the child.

Charlotte (Setting 18) also demonstrated her willingness to take on children with CHCs as a quality that helped her staff. This was apparent when she reported "I think we could manage, we'd give it a go anyway. We'd definitely give it a go at including them - yes."

Other important qualities were reported by Charlotte and Sharon (Setting 18) as "being proactive... positive... openminded... flexible. Welcoming. Showing respect". Charlotte and Sharon both felt that empathy with parents was an important quality for them to demonstrate. Charlotte said, "we have empathy that their child has these conditions and they (the parents) are confident that we are able to address and meet their individual needs". Page and Elfer (2013) found that the ability of practitioners to show empathy arose from the individual resources of the practitioners in their study. Similarly, the practitioners in this study displayed qualities such as warmth and the ability to empathise with parents. personal qualities demonstrated by the practitioners promoted a feeling of confidence in parents. For example, Freddie's mum's commented that she had confidence in the staff because she had the feeling that "they do take care of him the way I do". The parents appeared to recognise such qualities in practitioners and this appeared to help them to decide whether the setting was going to be able to care for their child and their health needs. However, Freddie's mum was unable to articulate exactly why she chose Freddie's setting. She offered the following comment: "I went to look at a few, you get a feeling. Not that I didn't trust the other people, but this just felt better for me". This comment suggests that the practitioners conveyed feelings that they could be trusted with looking after Freddie. This need for trust was reflected in Charlotte's comment. She said, "they need to trust us... it's a big step for them to bring them here, especially when they are babies". This section highlights the positive personal qualities that were evident in the practitioners in this study. The data suggests they make a personal investment in striving to create inclusive environments.

Conclusion

This chapter has reported the findings about the depth of knowledge the practitioners demonstrated about CHCs. The findings highlight that training and knowledge are important for practitioners to be able to develop inclusive practice. However, there is a lack of consistency about training that is

available for staff who are caring for children with CHCs. The findings revealed the willingness of many practitioners to take on a range of responsibilities, including administering All considered, the data suggests that many medication. practitioners caring for young children with CHCs were demonstrating key characteristics that are associated with leadership (Aubrey, 2007). Furthermore, the findings suggest that not only did all staff demonstrate effective leadership qualities, but also they demonstrated a collaborative approach. The importance of practitioners possessing certain qualities to use to create an inclusive environment can be illustrated by the data as reported by John's parents, as documented in Chapter 7. In this case, the manager's lack of effective leadership appears to have been the main reason for John being removed from his setting. John's mum reflected on their experience and, when asked to summarise what she would have wanted from practitioners to be able to care for John, she said:

I would want them to be thorough, to fully understand. Firstly, John's illness and if they don't understand, I want them to be able to talk to me to call me up and say I don't understand and ask me rather than pretending they do understand. So, honesty, I guess to be loyal and loyal to John as well, not just me. And to be warm and loving towards John especially if he is really high or his sugars are low, John wants cuddles and lots of loves. So that's it really, I want them to be honest and say if they understand it or don't understand it because that is going to have an effect on John if they don't understand it, which is what happened.

John's mum's words highlight the importance she attached to John receiving love from practitioners. This reflects Page's (2011) findings that concluded that the mothers in her study felt that love was an essential factor for their children. For children with CHCs, love from practitioners may be even

more important in order to mitigate the effects of symptoms on their lives.

Chapter 10: Discussion of findings

Introduction

Given that an overarching principle of the EYFS is "to provide equality of opportunity and anti-discriminatory practice, ensuring that every child is included and supported" (p.2), this study sought to explore how practitioners support and include very young children with chronic health conditions (CHCs). The justification for the study was because the effect of CHCs on young children's early education is an under-explored, as well as an under-reported area of research. The research focused on exploring five CHCs: asthma, anaphylaxis/allergy, diabetes, eczema and epilepsy. The study raised some very important issues for practitioners with regard to the inclusion of all children with CHCs. The data revealed findings that may well inform a theory of inclusive practice for children with CHCs; these findings will be discussed further below. However, the findings suggest that there is not a straightforward answer to my research question. My question explored how practitioners in day care settings created inclusive environments for young children with the aforementioned CHCs. The reason that there is not an answer to my research question is partly because there was limited data available about children with diabetes and epilepsy in day care settings. Lack of data made it impossible to find out how practitioners adapted the EYFS to make it inclusive for children with these two CHCs. Therefore, further research is required to understand the specific issues raised for children with diabetes and epilepsy. The data suggested that the symptoms of eczema have profound effects on children, and in turn their families. However, the findings also suggest

that inclusion for children with asthma, anaphylaxis/allergy and eczema can be problematic.

As outlined in Chapter 2, Bronfenbrenner's (1994) ecological systems theory was adapted to suggest that there are implications for everybody in each of the systems (see Figure 2.1). The findings bear out that there are implications for people involved in each of the systems and the findings will be discussed using Bronfenbrenner's theory.

This chapter will highlight the findings from each previous chapter under the following headings:

- Examining inclusion and considerations for children with CHCs
- The role of practitioners in creating an inclusive environment
- The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents

The chapter will conclude with a discussion about the implications that the findings raise for practice and policy.

Examining inclusion and considerations for children with CHCs

The findings revealed that there were many implications for children in the microsystem, a notable finding is that inclusion for children in early years settings with CHCs may be problematic. Nutbrown and Clough (2006) define inclusion as "the drive towards maximal participation in, and minimal exclusion, from early years settings" (p.3). This definition resonates closely with the aims of this study because the symptoms of CHCs can be barriers to children taking part in a number of aspects of their early childhood education in day care settings. For example, outdoor play is a requirement of the EYFS (DfE, 2012) and settings are told they "must provide access to an outdoor play area... on a daily basis" (p.24). However, as the findings revealed, outdoor play can be problematic for children with CHCs such as asthma because symptoms can be triggered by physical exercise and weather conditions (Levy *et al*, 2006). If practitioners are unable to minimise the effect of asthma symptoms, for example by administering a puff of inhaler before going outdoors, children with asthma may not be able to have maximum involvement in the benefits of outdoor play.

The World Health Organisation's (WHO, 1986) definition of the concept of health suggests that some people can only be healthy if they are able to "change or cope with the environment". As discussed in Chapter 2, this part of the WHO definition is relevant to this study, which has examined how practitioners, working in partnership with parents, adapted early years settings to make their environment inclusive. The findings from this study examined the considerations and challenges practitioners faced as they adapted the environment, or helped children to cope with the environment, at the same time as implementing the aims and principles of However, the principle of the EYFS that aims to the EYFS. include all children may be a challenging aim for children with CHCs. For example, the EYFS outlines the responsibilities of providing food that is healthy and the need for providers to find out about dietary requirements and allergies. However, what is not made explicit in the aims of the EYFS is the need to minimize the potential for the exclusive practices that can arise as a consequence of providing food that is safe for children with dietary Therefore, as this study revealed, a tension requirements. can arise between creating a balance between providing food that is safe, while at the same time ensuring that all

children are included in the social activity of eating. This is a dilemma for which there is no easy solution because the need to keep children safe is paramount. However, as DJ demonstrated, it may be that very young children are capable of noticing when they are offered food that is different from that of other children. It is not possible to know exactly how DJ felt as a consequence of being made to feel different, neither can we predict the long term consequences, if any, of him not being fully included in the social act of sharing mealtimes. However, what has been revealed is that even the youngest children appear to be aware of such issues and that there are alternatives for practitioners to consider in order to promote inclusion. For example, it is possible that food that is safe for all children could be offered at mealtimes without disadvantaging those children who do not have CHCs.

The data about the provision of food in the settings in this study is an example of exclusive practice borne out of the need to keep children safe. Such exclusion may be referred to as unintentional exclusion. However, the shaving foam activity described in Chapter 9 may be another example of unintentional exclusion. On one hand, an adaptation of the activity was made for Freddie by wrapping the shaving foam in cling film so that the impact of the shaving foam on his skin would be minimised. However, on the other hand, this meant that Freddie's activity would have looked different to the activity that was planned for the other children. This emphasises the point that practitioners could consider planning activities that are accessible for all children rather than adapting an activity for a child with CHC. This would minimise the creation of difference. However, it is also important to bear in mind that not all children will necessarily notice difference in the striking way that DJ did when he was given different food to the others. This point is

illustrated by Maria, she stated that Freddie "did not bat an eyelid", at the different activity. It is possible that DJ in a similar situation, may have noticed. This highlights the importance of practitioners observing children closely in order to note their response to being offered different activities. This point leads into discussing the place of observations as a powerful tool for practitioners to use when creating an inclusive environment for children with CHCs, a point that will be returned to in the following section.

This section concludes by suggesting that achieving a fully inclusive environment for children with CHCs is a challenge for practitioners. As well as the tensions caused by balancing safety with inclusion, this may be partly because there is not a universal definition of what inclusion means. For example, Joan's response to being asked what her definition of inclusion was:

Making sure that we look at the whole environment, and making it inclusive for everybody if we possibly can. And giving the children the chance to access everything that the other children can access.

However, the second part of her response appears to contradict her assertion that full inclusion is possible when she goes on to say, "on a certain level, it may be that they can't do certain things because of their conditions". This suggests that Joan attempts to adapt the environment, but she thinks it is not always possible because of the limitations on children with CHCs as a consequence of their symptoms. Her interpretation may summarise the dilemmas that practitioners face when attempting to achieve inclusion for children when there is not a clear definition of inclusion.

The examples of unintentional exclusion that have been discussed in this section may have arisen because of the

"conflicting understandings and definitions of what is meant by inclusion" (Nutbrown, 2011b, p.76). As well as these examples of unintentional exclusion, the data revealed further examples of challenges to the inclusion of children with CHCs to their early education.

The next section discusses the role of practitioners in developing inclusive practice for such children.

The role of practitioners in creating an inclusive environment

The findings in this study align with Mukerjee *et al's* (2000) findings which reported that the level of inclusion for children with CHCs largely depended on the interest shown in the children by the teachers. The experience of the children also depended on how willing the teachers were to participate in helping children to be included. These findings reinforce the importance of the role of practitioners in the microsystem of the child in settings. Similarly, the findings in this study revealed that the practitioners demonstrated a willingness to create inclusive practice for children with CHCs. Their willingness is demonstrated by Maria's (Setting 14) words:

I think we try to meet a child's needs, we do our utmost best... it's about having a positive frame of mind, it's not being negative. Yes, we can do this, it's about seeing what may need to be put in place. Do we need to put something in place?

Similarly, Sharon's (Setting 18) comments demonstrated her willingness, but in addition her words imply that taking on children with CHCs requires extra effort for the staff. She said:

You try your best, it is easy to say no, rather than actually say ok, we will give it a try, that's the key

with all the complex and chronic childhood illnesses, it's giving yourself the chance to see if you can break down those barriers.

Sharon's words may also imply that she sees a challenge in identifying barriers to inclusion. However, if practitioners are not prepared to face challenges to inclusion for such children, and put in the additional effort that Sharon's words imply is required to break down barriers to inclusion, this may prevent an inclusive environment being created.

Such willingness appeared to drive practitioners to consider what needed to be addressed in order to create an inclusive environment. The findings revealed that the practitioners attached high value on having knowledge and training about CHCs. This concurs with Nutbrown and Clough's (2006) assertion that children can only be included if practitioners understand their needs.

A thread that ran throughout the findings was the importance of practitioners demonstrating leadership skills and The findings suggest that it is especially qualities. important that practitioners, not just managers, have the characteristics of strong leadership. It may not be enough for practitioners to lead practice as illustrated by John's story. A collaborative approach to leadership, as described by Hard and Jonsdottir (2013) where managers and practitioners work together and demonstrate effective leadership may be important to successfully unravel the layer of complexity that CHCs can add to the care and education of young children. Aubrey (2007) states that skilled and effective leadership in early years settings has been shown to make the care and education of children more effective. The findings from this study suggest that effective leadership in early years settings is vital for practitioners who are aiming to create an inclusive environment for children with CHCs. Other

personal characteristics of the practitioners in the data concur with Aubrey's findings that strong leaders demonstrate the ability to be kind, warm and sympathetic, as well as caring and understanding. Empathy was an important quality reported by practitioners in this study. The practitioners reported that their understanding of the effects of CHCs enabled them to empathise with parents and helped them to build inclusive relationships with families in early education settings. Aubrey's view of effective leadership resonates with Jonsdottir's (2009, in Hard and Jonasdottir, 2013) "discourse of niceness" (p.319). The niceness of practitioners appeared to be fundamental to developing inclusive relationships with parents. However, it is possible that not all day care settings hold the values and principles that appeared to be evident in the settings that took part in This raises a question about how inclusive this research. settings are if they do not show effective leadership in a family-friendly and nurturing (Hard and Jonsdottir, 2013) environment.

In addition to the range of abilities that are linked with effective leadership, it may be that innovation is another facet to add to what is needed to demonstrate leadership for inclusive practice for children with CHCs. For instance, there are several examples, as described in Chapter 9, of how practitioners have used an innovative approach to adapting activities to make them inclusive. The innovative approaches that are being developed by practitioners comprise an area of practice that needs to be explored further and disseminated.

As well as innovation, the findings suggest that practitioners may have developed 'hidden' skills that enable inclusion for children. For example, in Chapter 5 the data revealed how the practitioner expertly applied cream to DJ with minimal

disruption to him as he played in the sand. This seemingly small example of her deft application of the cream may be an example of a 'hidden' skill that the practitioner had developed. Her tacit knowledge demonstrated her awareness of the need to apply the cream in a way that helped to maximise DJ's inclusion in the sand activity. If she had prolonged the length of time in order to apply the cream, DJ's train of thought may have been interrupted. If she had not applied the cream, DJ's eczema symptoms could have been triggered and he may have had a period of time where his hands were painful and he may have been unable to engage with sensory materials. In turn, his learning experience could have been diminished. In Chapter 3, I discussed how foundation degree students described the practice they had developed for including children with CHCs "as just common sense". I argued that their actions may not just be common sense, but rather a product of the wisdom derived from experience, or the phronesis they had developed. The practitioner's approach to applying DJ's cream may be an example of how she demonstrated her phronesis to promote DJ's inclusion in the sand activity. This point also highlights the importance of practitioners knowing the children in their care and this is especially the case for the key person of a child with CHCs. The next section turns to discussing the role of the key person and highlights some considerations for practitioners trying to provide equality of opportunity for all children in settings.

The key person

A principle of the EYFS is positive relationships, and key to children developing a positive relationship is the role of the key person. The findings from this study suggested that the key person was assisted by managers in helping with the care and education of children with CHCs. This was especially the case when communication with parents was necessary. However, the findings have highlighted that there are additional considerations about the role of key person and equality of opportunity for children without CHCs. For example, the observations presented in Chapter 6 revealed that when DJ was unwell in the setting, he monopolised his key person's lap for a sustained period of time. If a child is unwell and requires the constant attention of his key person, this can impact upon the time and attention that is available to other children. It is possible that there could be a reduction in the amount of adult interaction with children who do not have CHCs. Such a situation may result in children who do not have CHCs being excluded from their early education. Therefore, this suggests that caring for children who are unwell may raise a dilemma for practitioners who are attempting to provide ethical child care and equality of opportunity for all children.

Another consideration was highlighted in Chapter 4 where Freddie's mum described how difficult she found it to cope with him when he cried as a small baby. Similarly, a key person who finds it difficult to meet the needs of a baby may start to question his/her ability to care for a baby like Therefore, the baby may then be excluded from a Freddie. meaningful relationship with his key person and may even end up being excluded from accessing an early education. Conversely, if babies like Freddie have practitioners who are equipped with appropriate knowledge and skills to support parents, perhaps using Gonzalez-Mena's (2007) problem-solving approach could promote inclusion for babies like Freddie in the microsystem of their setting. However, the depth of emotional resources required by practitioners to use this approach raises concerns about the emotional strain this may present to them. This point is discussed in the next section.

Practitioners' emotional resources

The findings from this study suggest that caring for children with CHCs and their families may create an additional layer of complexity for practitioners. Such complexity may be a source of emotional strain for them. Page and Elfer (2013) reported the emotional demands that creating and sustaining close interactions with young children made on practitioners. However, the findings suggest that children with CHCs present other sources of emotional strain for practitioners. In particular, the data revealed that creating safe places for food for children with dietary restrictions caused practitioners like Charlotte (Setting 18) and the staff to feel "emotionally drained". This resonates with Rentzou (2013) who reported that such feelings can lead to emotional exhaustion in early years workers. Such feelings can reduce the quality of care to children because of the energy that is required to provide high quality care. In the context of the findings from this study, it is interesting to note that Rentzou claims that emotional exhaustion can manifest itself in practitioners as a "preoccupation with routines" (p.4). The place of routines in creating an inclusive environment is an important point, and will be discussed later in this chapter. The next section turns to discussing the role of parents in creating an inclusive education for their children by working in partnership with practitioners.

The importance of practitioners working in partnership with parents

It was apparent that the parents in this study were the "linkages and processes" (Bronfenbrenner, 1994, p.40) in the exosystem connecting health services with early years education. Parents were conduits for information about the care their children needed in order to optimise their health.

In addition to being a link between health services, they were the links with the children's family and home life in the These findings emphasise the role that parents mesosystem. can play in optimising their children's health as well as helping to achieve the EYFS principle that "children learn best when they are healthy" (p.13). The parents' proactive approach to learning about their children's health appears to play a vital role making a positive contribution to how their children's CHCs are managed. Their approach resonated with Bourdieu's (Bourdieu and Passeron, 2000) theory of social They used resources, contacts and knowledge to gain capital. information that helped them to understand their children's health needs. For example, the diagnosis of Freddie's eczema and asthma was not clear-cut. His mum described how she "knew something was wrong" and she used many methods of trial and error in order to find out what was causing Freddie to be unwell. She eventually used her company's private medical insurance to consult a dermatologist. In a similar way, DJ's mum explained that she would take her daughter for hospital appointments and ask for advice about DJ at the same consultation, even though he was not a patient of the consultant and therefore, not eligible to receive medical advice during his sister's consultation.

John's parents had met when they were working as paramedics and they used their medical knowledge to John's advantage. Their medical knowledge meant that they were aware that insulin pumps were available for children. They were keen to obtain one for John in order to avoid having to give him frequent insulin injections (even though he would need to carry on having frequent finger prick tests to estimate blood sugar readings). They managed to persuade the Health Authority to give one to John. The aim was to enable them to

gain better blood sugar control, which is vital to prevent long-term complications of diabetes.

However, the use of the pump requires sophisticated knowledge and skills as demonstrated by John's mum:

He is having a growth spurt and they (blood sugar levels) go higher in the day and lower at night so we can give him 30-40% more insulin in the day and 30% less at night. When he is growing, we have to decide how much to give him, it's not the hospital, WE have to judge.

John's mum explained how she worked with several health professionals in order to learn how best to manage his diabetes. She described how she and her husband learned about the complexities of balancing John's carbohydrate and insulin intake with his physical activity output.

These examples suggest that the role of the parents in becoming expert in their children's health required them to use a range of higher level thinking skills. For example, the mums in this study adopted a problem-solving approach to gain an understanding of what affected their children's health and the best ways to manage the symptoms. This could support the view that parents' level of education is an important indicator of the level of children's health. Blair (2010) states that "probably the most important determinant of a child's health is the health and education of their parents" (p.174). Therefore, parents with lower educational attainment, or who have special educational needs themselves, may find it difficult to develop expertise or healthy advocacy skills for their children's health. Therefore, a barrier to inclusion because of the symptoms of CHCs, could be if children have parents, or carers, who are unable or unwilling to take on the role of health expert and advocate for their children's health. Thus, their role in the mesosystem and exosystem of their children's lives may not be fulfilled. The
parents in this study demonstrated their educational and social capital and were able and willing to play this role. However, some parents are disadvantaged or marginalised from society, by a range of factors, such as the effects of living in poverty. Some children with CHCs who do not live with their parents may not have carers who are able to fulfil this Therefore, CHCs may reduce children's equality of role. opportunity and may lead to greater inequality. As Jack (2000) highlighted, the effect of inequality on children's lives can contribute to social exclusion. Therefore, there may be an even more pressing reason to manage the symptoms of CHCs effectively in order to minimise the effect they may have on social exclusion. The ways that CHCs may impact on the wider issues of social advantage and equality are important areas, but are beyond the scope of this study, but could be an area for further research.

The findings suggested that expert parents who are able to advocate for their children are vital in order to work in partnership with practitioners to create an inclusive environment for their children. These findings reinforce the importance of the EYFS principle of practitioners working with The findings also highlight the importance of the parents. practitioners' role in children's mesosystem. It appeared that practitioners placed a high value on parents being the experts in their children's health. However, the practitioners may have under-estimated their role in deference to that of parents. For example, their knowledge may have meant they knew the 'right' questions to ask.

Implications for practice

This section discusses some of the implications for practice in the microsystem that have been raised as a result of the

findings from this study. The first point discusses the place of observations as a powerful tool for creating an inclusive environment. The second point discusses routines in settings and suggests that there are considerations to bear in mind about how routines may be barriers to inclusion.

Observations of children: a tool for creating an inclusive environment

The early years tradition of observing children as outlined in the EYFS, in order to "understand their level of achievement interests and learning styles, and then to shape learning experiences for each child reflecting those observations" (2012, p.10). DJ's key person stated that she did as many observations as possible on him. However, I tentatively suggest that observations may be carried out in settings simply to comply with the EYFS requirements, rather than as a deliberate tool to learn about children and their specific In order to comply with the requirement to observe needs. children, practitioners in this study have developed the practice of writing observations on 'post-it' notes to capture data that is intended to inform children's learning. What appears to be missing though is a meaningful analysis of the data that is collected. I make this claim because observing DJ helped me to observe his behaviour and to notice his reaction to being given food that was different to other I am mindful that I have limited experience in the children. use of observations and that my findings are based on my interpretation of observing DJ. Nonetheless, an implication for practitioners to consider is how to interpret data that is collected from observations in order to be able to identify inclusive practice for children with CHCs. The findings from this study reinforce the value of observations in order to identify inclusive practice for children (Nutbrown, 2011a). Conducting observations was helpful in identifying how the

routines in the setting could contribute to unintentional exclusive practice, this point will be discussed in the next section.

Routines for children with CHCs

Routines that support children's care, learning and development are important in early childhood settings. However, it appeared that some of the routines led to unintentional exclusive practice. This became evident when I observed DJ because the times of observation were written down on the tracking sheets. Whilst analysing the data, it became apparent that children spent long periods of time sitting at the table waiting for food to be served, eating food and waiting for food to be cleared away. For DJ, this gave him time to notice the different food that he was sometimes given. The time spent waiting at the table also meant that DJ may have become bored and may also have felt itchy.

This possibility is given credence by Becky, DJ's key person, who reported that:

He scratches when he is tired, and when he is waiting, like when we have given the children the tea and we are tidying the tea stuff away and they are waiting for their pudding, he will start to give himself a rub and scratch.

Therefore, changing the routine to reduce the waiting time associated with mealtimes may mean that there is more time for children to be engaged in their learning. For children with eczema, it may mean that they are less likely to be aware of the need to scratch.

Another example of how the routines of a setting appeared to reduce maximal participation is illustrated by the provision of outdoor play in DJ's setting. Outdoor play for children is an aim of the EYFS, however, for children with eczema and asthma this can mean there are considerations for

practitioners. The observations of DJ suggested that he was happiest and most involved when he was outdoors. The reasons why this was the case are not known, but he may have felt more comfortable outdoors. Unfortunately though, the routines of the setting meant that DJ had limited access to the outdoor area. This suggests that practitioners who are planning for children with CHCs could use the data from observations to assess how routines can be adapted in order to make them inclusive for children with CHCs.

Conclusion and considerations for policy

The findings from this study have implications for policy in the micro and macrosystems of children with CHCs. The findings suggest that the role of the practitioner aiming to create an inclusive and enabling environment for the microsystem of children with CHCs is vital. If the environment is not enabled, and therefore is a disabling environment, the effect on children can be what Thomas (2007, in Goodley, 2011) describes as "a form of social oppression involving the social imposition of restrictions of activity on people with impairments and the socially engendered undermining of their psycho-emotional wellbeing" (p.73). However, the findings in this study suggest that the complexities associated with creating an enabling environment can exact a heavy burden in terms of the emotional demands made of practitioners.

The findings have implications in the macrosystem in relation to health and education policies. From the education perspective, the findings highlighted some of the challenges to including and supporting children with CHCs that are inherent in the aims of the EYFS framework. The findings suggest that children with CHCs require extra time in order to

plan and meet their needs. A recommendation for policy change is to amend the EYFS recommendations of ratios to increase the number of adults necessary to support children with CHCs. This would enable a key person with children with CHCs to have smaller groups. In turn, this would mean that all children are likely to have equal access to their key person's attention, thus promoting inclusion for all children, not just children with CHCs.

The findings revealed how practitioners need to understand the effects of CHCs on young children's education. Key to such an understanding is training for practitioners about CHCs. The inconsistency in accessing training may be a barrier to inclusion. Therefore, a consideration for policy is to strengthen integrated working between practitioners and health professionals in order to jointly manage the symptoms of children with CHCs.

A positive development in addressing the needs of children with asthma and diabetes is reflected in the Children and Families Act (Her Majesty's Government, 2014). An aim of this Act requires schools to support children with diabetes, asthma and epilepsy. However, this legislative requirement does not include children under the age of five in early years education. A recommendation of the findings from this study suggests there is a need to offer the same legal protection to pre-school children.

The Children and Families Act (2014) is a positive step forward in supporting children with CHCs. However, the Act only legislates for children in state schools and is not applicable to pre-school children. Neither does the Act specifically address the needs of children with eczema. This is a potentially significant omission, as the study findings revealed, there were many examples of the negative effects of eczema on young children and their ECEC. Moreover, there is limited information regarding the needs of children with eczema available to practitioners. Therefore, a final recommendation is that the Managing Medicines in Schools and Early Years Settings Guidance (DfES/DofH, 2005) should be updated to include such information for practitioners.

Chapter 11: Concluding reflections

This chapter includes my reflections on my doctoral research discussed from the four perspectives that I have used as lenses; as a mother, a teacher, a researcher and a nurse. As I have proceeded through my research, I have become aware of a fifth perspective: that of an emerging academic, which I will also discuss below.

I start by reflecting on the findings from the study from the perspective of a nurse.

From the perspective of a nurse

The data has reinforced what I learned as a nurse, which is that CHCs can have a profound effect on children and families. There may also be a need for nurses to understand the effect of symptoms of CHCs on children's early education and work hard with parents or carers to minimise the symptoms and in turn, maximise participation in education. Conducting this research has highlighted the willingness and leadership skills that practitioners demonstrate and are indeed necessary in order for them to develop inclusive environments for children with CHCs. This has reinforced my belief that there are striking similarities between the work of nurses and the work of early years practitioners. Both nurses and early years practitioners require training, knowledge, skills and qualities to equip them to work with vulnerable people. As reported in Chapter 8, practitioners also bear a great deal of responsibility for creating inclusive environments for children with CHCs. Whilst nurses are rewarded with the benefits of belonging to a professional body and are public servants with the attendant pay and status, this is not the

case for early years practitioners. This situation must change.

From the perspective of a teacher

This study has made me reflect on how I address the philosophy of inclusion with students. My engagement with this research has caused me to change my stance on how I will approach inclusion. I concur with Dunne (2008) who suggests that the philosophy of inclusion is embedded in English education to the extent that inclusion has become a "taken for granted" (p. 4) practice in schooling in the UK. Thomas and Loxley (2001, cited in Dunne, 2008) go as far as to say that inclusion may have become a slogan or a cliché and is devoid of real meaning. There may be a need for the discourse of inclusion in the early years to be re-assessed in order to avoid some of the examples of unintentional exclusion reported in this study. It may be that there needs to be a move away from adapting the aims and principles of the EYFS to make them inclusive towards viewing each child individually. A useful approach to viewing each child individually could be to engage with the principles of the previously mentioned Index for Inclusion (Booth et al, 2006). Although the Index does not list CHCs as a possible cause of exclusion, the Index seeks to ensure that practitioners can plan to include all children in their early education. The Index involves practitioners conducting a self-review of all aspects of a setting in order to maximise "the participation of young children in play and learning" (Booth et al, 2006, p.1).

Alternatively, identifying the individual needs of children may be achieved by turning to the previously mentioned 'Te Whatu Pokeka' (New Zealand Ministry of Education, 2009), approach. The Te Whatu Pokeka philosophy of inclusion draws

on the Maori tradition of creating a metaphorical blanket for each child. This individual approach enables practitioners to create an blanket that takes the shape of the child as it grows and this individuality is reflected in how the curriculum is determined and shaped by each child.

Therefore, I propose to take forward in my teaching the message to students that careful observations to assess and plan their education will help to create a pokeka blanket for children with CHCs. Furthermore, I will be teaching students to make the pokeka blanket big enough to wrap around the children's parents (and, if appropriate, carers) as well.

From the perspective of a mother

Throughout this research, I have been acutely aware of how my experiences as Nicky's mother have influenced me as a researcher. My experience has probably helped me to hear the messages in the parents' narratives with greater understanding. My experience helped me to appreciate the positive impact that the practitioners' willingness and commitment to including children with CHCs will have had on Equally, I can empathise with the despair that parents. John's parents conveyed in their experience of John being excluded from early education because of a lack of willingness and commitment to include him by the manager. The findings have made me reflect on the importance of parents who are experts in their children's health and the importance of them using their expertise to advocate for their children so that they are included in their early education. As I have already mentioned, I continue to reflect on what the effect may be on children who do not have parents who are willing and/or able to fulfil this role.

From the perspective of a researcher

As I near the end of writing the story of my research, I have reflected on some of the methodological choices and I realise that the choices of approach taken at the design stage can change as the research progresses and therefore, this section includes comments about influences that have caused me to reflect on my research perspective. I started out planning my research with the aim of exploring an answer to my research question about how practitioners create inclusive practice for children like DJ. At the start of the research, I chose a case study approach using mixed methods for the reasons I have justified in full in Chapter 3. However, it is important to reflect on the selection of a case study for this research. The methodology for this study is complex, partly because of the range of ethical considerations that influenced my research design. Another factor that influenced the complexity of the research design relates to the fact that the research question investigated a previously over-looked area of educational research. Therefore, using quantitative and qualitative research methods proved to be an important part of the design of the study. This is because the data from the survey enabled me to gain a wider perspective of the incidence of children with CHCs in day care settings. The findings reinforced my hunch that there are significant numbers of such children. Despite the incidence reported, little is known about inclusive practice for children with On the other hand, the findings from this study CHCs. indicate that there are fewer children with these conditions in day care when these figures (see Table 5.1) are compared to predicted percentages of children who are diagnosed with these conditions (see Table 1.2). The reasons for the lower number of children with CHCs in day care settings is of concern, especially if the low number means that children with CHCs are

not accessing early education because parents are unable to find suitable child care. The survey also gave me the opportunity to gather useful qualitative data that helped to triangulate some of the findings from the other sources of data. A final point about the value of the survey was that it enabled me to recruit participants who were not known to me. I felt that it was important not to invite participants who were student alumni and had possibly been influenced by discussions in teaching sessions. Thus, I hoped to gain a broader picture from a range of practitioners. The decision to create a case from the 60 settings created a boundary to the case.

Reflecting on the way that the study evolved, I am aware the study became participatory in nature (Lincoln, Lynham, and Guba, 2011). This enabled me to work with parents, practitioners and DJ to explore an answer to the research question. Another consideration is that the study used elements of action research. While it was not my intention in the beginning to conduct an action research study, it is now clear that as the study evolved, it became increasingly aligned with this research strategy. Elliott (1991) suggests that action research gives practitioners the opportunity to explore their own practice. Therefore, engaging with this research may have given practitioners the opportunity or motivation to explore their own practice in relation to developing a theory of inclusive practice for children with CHCs. This reflection bears out Stenhouse's (in Rudduck and Hopkins, 1985) view that "case study in action research ... is concerned with contributing to the development of the case or cases under study by feedback of information which can guide revision and refinement of the action" (p. 50). These reflections suggest that this research overlaps several methodologies. As a researcher, I have attempted to draw on

some of the strengths of the approaches to explore an underreported area of young children's education.

The use of methods to collect qualitative data enabled me to focus on the praxeological aspects of the study and concentrate on a small number of practitioners. Small numbers of participants can be a criticism of praxeological research, however the fine detail has enabled me to capture what Goodman (2001, cited in Pascal and Bertram 2012, p.481) describes as "wise practice". It has also helped me to capture some findings that require further troubling by educational researchers. Using qualitative research methods for children with CHCs is an approach that is supported by Sartain *et al* (2000):

the application of qualitative research to the experience of chronic illness is essential if we are to understand both the commonalities and diversities of childhood as one phenomenon and chronic illness as another and how they both interact at different stages in the child and family biography (p.920).

This point helps to signpost the way for researchers who are interested in CHCs and early childhood education. For example, this study revealed limited data about children with epilepsy. In addition much more needs to be known about developing inclusive practice for children with diabetes. Picking up on Sartain's point about diversity, further studies are required to examine families from ethnic minorities and a range of cultural heritages to find out how CHCs affects families and children, so that early years educators can develop practice to include families as well as children. As well as finding out about diverse families, it is important to find out if and how other childcare providers include children. For example, what are the experiences of staff in children's centres, do they work together to create inclusive environments for children with CHCs?

The findings from this study suggest that CHCs can have profound effects on the lives of children and families. In addition, the findings of this study may suggest that there are further implications to consider about the effect of CHCs that may add to current understandings of the education of very young children (Rayna and Laevers, 2011). I am not wishing to claim that these findings can be generalised, however I hope that the findings can help to build a theory of the considerations that practitioners need to bear in mind in order to create an inclusive environment for children like DJ.

The findings indicate that eczema is particularly troublesome and some of the findings suggest that practitioners in this study have developed skills that help to promote inclusion, for example the description of how the practitioner skilfully applied DJ's cream so that he experienced minimal interruption to the sand activity, and hopefully minimal interruption to However, I am concerned that little is known his thinking. about the impact of eczema on babies and how the symptoms of eczema may be a barrier to inclusion in early education. То illustrate this point, imagine a baby aged five months old. Imagine she has intensely itchy patches of eczema on her However, her arms are too short to reach to scratch ankles. and for a short time, relieve the itch. How does this affect a baby's demeanour and in turn, how does this affect the development of the key person and key child relationship? How do we know that such a scenario is, or is not, problematic for babies and, in turn, for practitioners? Therefore, there is a need to explore the effect of CHCs on babies' care and In order to achieve this, as Lahman (2008) asserts education. there is a need to develop innovative, but methodologically sound methods of researching young children's lives.

I have enjoyed conducting this research and have learnt so much about research and the importance of careful planning. However, I have been aware of serendipitous moments that occurred during the research process. For example, when DJ's mum was unexpectedly in the room when I was talking about my research and she subsequently offered to participate in the research. Her presence in the room that day, led to me having the privilege of observing her son, DJ, for a year, an experience that has taught me so much. I have been touched by the generosity of the participants who have given me their time.

There are many limitations of this study, however the findings are a starting point to developing a theory of inclusive practice for young children with CHCs. The findings may be regarded as doing what Thomas (2010) describes as moving from phronesis through an inductive process, which results in theory, that is the start of developing a theory of inclusive practice for such children. Given that further research has suggested that it is vital for young children's voices to be heard in matters that concern them (Lahman, 2008) this can increase the level of inclusion of the child in their early education.

Finally, I conclude by pointing out that even though DJ has three CHCs (allergy/anaphylaxis, asthma and eczema) and as the data in Tables 1.2 and 5.1 indicate, this is not unusual. Waters *et al* (2008, p.148) report that "having three or more conditions concurrently significantly burdens children's health and wellbeing" (p.148). DJ's mum emailed me in June 2013 to tell me about his progress. At this time he was approaching his third birthday and still having troublesome asthma symptoms. However, his mum reported that:

Apart from all of these things, he is still a very happy

little boy who certainly keeps us busy and yes he is a very resilient brave little man. As his name reflects STRENGTH and FULL OF LIFE bless him!

DJ's mum's words sum up why I embarked on this research topic. There are many children like DJ out there and I hope that application of my research findings will help them to maximise their participation in early education and minimise exclusion from society.

From the perspective of an emerging academic

As I have made my research journey, at various times I have discussed my research question and findings with different people, for example, the parents of children with CHCs, students, colleagues and early years practitioners. On many occasions, what I recounted has been met with recognition from people of what the aim of the research is hoping to achieve which is to raise awareness of the need to consider how children with CHCs are included in their early education. The response from people has given me confidence to believe that this subject is something that people are interested in and that the research question needs to be addressed. Therefore, I have been disseminating my findings to a range of audiences since October 2012 (Musgrave 2012a, 2012b, 2013a, 2013b, The favourable reception and recognition of 2013c, 2013d). the aims of my research have encouraged me to continue to disseminate my findings so that practitioners may address the considerations associated with creating inclusive education for children with CHCs. This, hopefully, will help to remove barriers to inclusion for children like DJ, Freddie and John.

References

Abbott, L. and Langston, A. (2006). Parents Matter: Supporting the Birth to Three Matters Framework. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Alderson, P. (2000). Young children's Rights: Exploring Beliefs, Principles and Practice. London: Jessica Kingsley Publications.

Anderson, E (2006). Knowledge of Epilepsy in Schools Needs Improvement. British Journal of Neuroscience. May 2006, Vol 2, No 3, p. 113-4.

Aubrey, C. (2007). Leading and Managing in the Early Years. London: Sage.

Baker, F. S. (2013). Responding to the Challenges of Active Citizenship through the Revised UK Early Years Foundation Stage Curriculum. *Early Development and Care*. DOI:10.1080/03004430.2013.792254. Retrieved 6 June 2013 from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2013.792254

Bassey, M. (1999). Case Study Research in Educational Settings. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Bertram, T. and Pascal, C. (2002). Early Years Education: An International perspective. Birmingham: Centre for Early Childhood.

Bertram, T. and Pascal, C. (2004). Effective Early Learning Programme: Child Involvement Scale. Birmingham: Amber Publishing.

Bertram, T. and Pascal, C. (2006). Improving Quality in Early Childhood Setttings for Children from Birth to Three. Birmingham: Amber Publishing.

Bertram, T. and Pascal, C. (2012). Learning Circle Research Seminar. April Meeting, 2012. Centre for Early Childhood, St. Thomas's Children's Centre: Birmingham.

Blair, M. (2010). Promoting Children's Health. *Paediatrics and Child Health*. Vol 20, No 4, p. 174-8.

Booth, T. Ainscow, M. and Kingston, D. (2004). Index for Inclusion: Developing Play, Learning and Participation in Early Years and Childcare. Bristol: Centre for Studies on Inclusive Education.

Bourdieu, P. and Passeron, J. C. (2000). Reproduction in Education, Society and Culture (2nd Ed). London: Sage Publications.

Bowes, S., Lowes, L., Warner, J. and Gregory, J.W. (2008). Chronic Sorrow in Parents of Children with Type 1 Diabetes. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. Vol 65, No. 5, p. 992-1000.

British Education Research Association (2011). Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research. Retrieved 2 March 2013 from: http://content.yudu.com/Library/Alt9gr/BERAEthicalGuideli ne/resources/index.htm?referrerUrl=http%25253A%25252F%252 52Fwww.yudu.com%25252Fitem%25252Fdetails%25252F375952%252 52FBERA-Ethical-Guidelines-2011

Bronfenbrenner, U., (1979). The Ecology of Human Development: Experiments by Nature and Design. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1994). Ecological Models of Human Development. International Encyclopaedia of Education, 2nd Ed, Vol 3, p. 1643-7.

Brooker, L. (2010). Constructing the Triangle of Care: Power and Professionalism in Practitioner/Parent Relationships. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, Vol 58, No 2, p. 181-196.

Brookfield, S. (1995). Becoming a Critically Reflective Teacher. San Francisco: Jossey Bass.

Brown, D.G., Krieg, K. and Belluck, F. (1995). A Model for Group Intervention with the Chronically Ill: Cystic Fibrosis and the Family. *Social Work in Pediatrics*. Vol. 21, No.1, p. 81-94.

Brown, E. (2007). Supporting the Child and the Family in Paediatric Palliative Care. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishing.

Brown, S. and Reynolds, N. J. (2006). Atopic and Nonatopic Eczema. *British Medical Journal*, Vol 332 (7541), p. 584-8.

Bush, A., Bossley, C., Fleming, L. and Wilson, N. (2010). Avoiding Common Mistakes in the Management of asthma: or, is the child a WADDLER? *Paediatrics and Child Health*. Vol 20, No 7, p. 344-6.

Cannella, G. S and Lincoln Y. S. (2007). Predatory vs Dialogic Ethics: Constructing an Illusion or Ethical Practice as the Core of Research Methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*. Vol.13, No.3, p. 315-335.

Charmaz, K. (2005). Grounded Theory in the 21st Century: Applications for Advancing Social Justice Studies in Children's Workforce Development Council (CWDC) (2008). Introduction and Information guide: Early Years Professionals, Creating Brighter Futures. Leeds: CWDC.

Clark, A. and Moss, P. (2011). Listening to Young Children: The Mosaic Approach (2nd Ed). London: NCB.

Clark, C. D. (2003). In sickness and in Play: Children Coping with Chronic Illness. London: Rutgers University Press.

Clough, P. and Nutbrown, C. (2nd Ed) (2007) A Student's Guide to Methodology: Justifying Enquiry. London: Sage.

Cohen, L., Lemanek, K., Blount, R., Dahlquist, L. (2008). Evidence-based Assessment of Pediatric Pain. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*. Vol. 33, p. 939-955.

Corbin, J. and Strauss, A. (2008). Basics of Qualitative Research (3rd ed) London: Sage.

Cummings, A. J., Knibb, R. C., King, R. M. and Lucas, J. S. (2010). The Psychosocial Impact of Food Allergy and Food Hypersensitivity in Children, Adolescents and their Families: a Review. *Allergy*. Vol 65, p. 933-945.

Dahl, R. E. (1996). The impact of inadequate sleep on children's daytime cognitive function. *Paediatric Neurology*. Vol 1, No 1, p. 44-50.

Daud, L., Garralda, M. E. and David, T. J. (1993). Psychosocial Adjustment in Pre-school Children. Archives of Disease in Childhood. Vol 69, p. 670-6.

David, T., Goouch, K., Powell, S., and Abbott, L. (2003). Birth to Three Matters: A Review of the Literature. Nottingham: DfES Publications.

Dawber, S. (2008a). NICE guidance in atopic eczema in children. *British Journal of School Nursing*. March/April, Vol 3, No 2, p 79-82.

Dawber, S. (2008b). Management of Paediatric Onset Atopic Eczema. Nurse Prescribing., Vol 6, No 5, p. 190-5.

Denscombe, M. (2007). The Good Research Guide for Smallscale Research Projects. (3rd Ed). Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Denzin, K. and Lincoln, S. The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research (3rd Ed) p. 507-536). London: Sage.

Department for Education (2012). Statutory Framework for the Early Years Foundation Stage: Setting the Standards for Learning, Development and Care for Children from Birth to Five. Retrieved 4 January 2013 from: http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/s/eyfs%20s
tatutory%20framework%20march%202012.pdf

Department for Education (2012). Integrated Review: FAQ. Retrieved 4 February 2013 from: http://www.education.gov.uk/a00214734/integrated-reviewfaqs.

Department for Education (2012). Development Matters in the Early Years Foundation Stage. London: Crown Copyright.

Department for Education (2012). The Nutbrown Review: Foundations for Quality. Retrieved 8 July 2012 from: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/nutbrown-review

Department for Education (2013). More Great Childcare. Retrieved 6 February 2013 from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/atta</u> chment_data/file/219660/More_20Great_20Childcare_20v2.pdf

Department for Education/Department for Health (2011). Supporting Families in the Foundation Years. Retrieved. 8 December 2011 from: www.education.gov.uk/publications,

Department for Education and Schools (DfES) (2001). Code of Practice for the Identification and Assessment of Special Educational Needs. London: HMSO.

Department for Education and Skills (2003). Every Child Matters. London: The Stationery Office.

Department for Education and Skills and Department of Health (2005). *Managing Medicines in Schools and Early Years Settings*. London: DfES.

Department of Education and Science (1978). The Education of Handicapped Children and Young People (Warnock Report). London: HMSO.

Department of Health (2004). National Service Framework for Children, Young People and Maternity Services. Norwich: The Stationery Office.

Department of Health (2011). NHS at Home: Community Children's Nursing Services. Retrieved 4 January 2013.from: www.dh.gov.uk/publications http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalasse ts/@dh/@en/@ps/documents/digitalasset/dh_124900.pdf.

Diabetes UK (2012). Diabetes in the UK 2010 Key Statistics on Diabetes. Retrieved 26 October 2013 from http://www.diabetes.org.uk/Documents/Reports/Diabetes-inthe-UK-2012.pdf Draper, L. and Wheeler, H. (2010). Working with Parents in Pugh, G and Duffy, B (Eds) *Contemporary Issues in the Early Years.* 5th Edition. London: Sage.

Drew, W. F. and Rankin, B. (2004). Promoting creativity for life using open-ended materials. Young Children. July 2004, p. 1-8.

Dunne, L. (2008). Discourses of Inclusion. Unpublished EdD Thesis. The University of Sheffield. Retrieved 7 July 2013 from: http://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/view/iau/Sheffield=2EEDU.h tml

Edwards, M. and Titman, P. (2010). Promoting Psychological Wellbeing in Children with Acute and Chronic Illness. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Eiser, C. (1985). Changes in Understanding of Illness as the Child Grows. Archives of Disease in Childhood, Vol. 60, p. 489-492.

Elfer, P., Goldschmeid, E. and Selleck, D. (2003). Key persons in Nurseries: Building Relationships for Quality Provision. London: NEYN.

Elfer, P. (2013). Emotional Aspects of Nursery Policy and Practice - Progress and Prospect. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, DOI:10.1080/1350293X.2013.798464. Retrieved 18 June 2013 from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2013.798464

Elliott, J. (1991). Action Research for Educational Change. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.

Engle, P. L., Fernald, L. C. H., Alderman, H., Behrman, J., O'Gara, C., Yousafzai, A., Cabral de Mello, M., Hidrobo, M *et al* (2011). Strategies for reducing inequalities and improving developmetnal outcomes for young children in low-income and middle- income countries. *The Lancet*. October 8, 2011. 378, p. 1339-1353.

Fargas-Malet, M., McSherry, D., Larkin, E and Robinson, C. (2010). Research with Children: methodological issues and innovative techniques. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*. Vol 8, No 2, p. 175-191.

Field, F. (2010). The Foundation Years: Preventing Poor Children becoming Poor Adults: The Report of the Independent Review on Poverty and Life Chances. London: Cabinet Office. Flewitt, R. (2005). Conducting research with young children: some ethical considerations. *Early Child Development and Care*, Vol 175, No 6, p. 553-565.

Fontana, A. and Frey, J.H. (2005). The interview: from neutral stance to political involvement. In Denzin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y.S. (Eds), *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (3rd Ed. P. 695-727). London: Sage.

Gerhardt, S. (2004). Why love matters: how affection shapes a baby's brain. London: Brunner-Routledge.

Gibran, K. (1923). The Prophet. London: Penguin.

Gill, S. (2006). An overview of atopic eczema in children: a significant disease. *British Journal of Nursing*, Vol. 15, No. 9, p. 494-9.

Gillespie, C. Woodgate and Chalmers (2007). Living with risk: mothering a child with food-induced anaphylaxis. *Journal of Paediatric Nursing*, Vol. 22, No. 1, p. 30-42.

Glesne, C. and Peshkin, A. (1992). Becoming Qualitative Researchers. White Plains: Longman.

Gonzalez-Mena, J. (2007). What to do for a fussy baby: A problem-solving approach. Young Children , p. 20-24.

Goodley, D. (2011). Disability Studies: An Interdisciplinary Introduction. London: Sage

Goodley, D., Lawthom, R., Clough, P. and Moore, M (2004). Researching Life Stories: method, theory and analyses in a biographical age. London: RoutledgeFalmer.

Gopnick, A. Meltzoff, A and Kuhl P (1999). How babies think. London: Weidenfield and Nicholson.

Gorard, S. and Smith, E. (2006). Beyond the 'learning society': what have we learned from the widening participation research? *International Journal of Lifelong Learning*. Vol 25. No 6, p 575-594.

Grantham-McGregor, S., Cheung, Y. B., Cueta, S. Glewwe, P., Richter, L. and Strupp, B. (2007). Child development in developing countries 1: developmental potential in the first five years for children in developing countries. *The Lancet*. 369, January 6, 2007, p. 60-70.

Greenwood, D. J. and Levin, M. (2005). Reform of the Social Sciences and of universities through Action Research in Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y. S. *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research* (3rd Ed). London: Sage.

Hall, J. N. and Ryan, K. E. (2011). Educational Accountability: A Qualitatively Driven Mixed-Methods Approach. Qualitative Inquiry. Vol 17, No 105, p. 105-106.

Hard, L. and Jonsdottir, A. H. (2013). Leadership is not a Dirty Word: Exploring and Embracing Leadership in ECEC. *European Early Childhood Education Journal*. Vol 21, No 3, p. 311-325.

Her Majesty's Government (1995). Disability Discrimination Act 1995. London: HMSO.

Her Majesty's Government (2014). Children and Families Act 2014. Retrieved from: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enact ed accessed 15 March 2014.

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/landmark-children-andfamilies-act-2014-gains-royal-assent accessed 15 March 2014.

Her Majesty's Treasury (2004). Choice for parents, the best start for children: a ten year strategy for childcare.http://www.hmtreasury.gov.uk/media/8F5/35/pbr04 childcare 480.pdf accessed 1 November 2007.

Hertzman, C. and Power, C. (2004). Child Development as a Determinant of health across the life course. *Current Paediatrics*. Vol 14, No. 5, p. 438-443.

Hunt, A. (2003). Paediatric Pain Profile. www.ppprofile.org.uk in Brown, E. with Warr, B (2005). Supporting the Child and the Family in Paediatric Palliative Care. London: JKP

Jack, G. (2000). Ecological influences on parenting and child development. British Journal of Social Work. Vol. 30, p. 703-720.

Jung, C. G. (1973). Synchronicity: An Acausal Connecting Principle. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Kelly, S and Taylor, S. C. (2009). Dermatology of Skin of Colour. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Knowles, G. and Holmstrom, R. (2013). Understanding Family Diversity and Home-School Relations. Abingdon: Routledge.

Laevers, F. and Heylen, L. (Eds) (2003). Involvement of Children and Teacher Style: insights from an International Study on Experiential Learning. *Studia Paedagogica 35.* Leuven: Leuven University Press. Lahman, M. K. E. (2008). Always Othered: ethical research with children. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*. Vol. 6, No. 8, p. 281-300.

Lawthom, R in Goodley, D., Lawthom, R. Clough, P. and Moore, M. (2004). *Researching Life Stories: method*, *theory and analyses in a bigraphical age*. London: RoutledgeFalmer.

Lawton, R. A. (2005). Supporting the Parents of Children with Atopic Eczema. *British Journal of Nursing*. Vol. 14, No. 13, p. 693-6.

Levy, M., Weller, T. and Hilton, S. (2006). Asthma at your fingertips (4th Ed). London: Class Publishing.

Lewis-Jones, S. (2006). Quality of Life and Childhood Atopic Dermatitis: the Misery of Living with Childhood Eczema. International Journal of Clinical Practice. Vol. 60, No. 8, p. 984-992.

Lincoln, Y. S., Lynham, S. A., and Guba, E. G. (2011). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences revisited. In Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y. S. *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research* (4th Ed.), p. 97-128). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Linfield, R.S. (2013). Understanding the World: 'When did they paint the trees green?'. In Beckley, P. The New Early Years Foundation Stage: Changes, Challenges and Reflections p. 105-116. Maidenhead: Oxford University Press.

Lumsden, E.(2012). The Early Years Professional: a New Profession or a Missed Opportunity? Unpublished PhD Thesis of the University of Northampton.

Marsac, M. L., Funk, J. B. and Nelson, L. (2007). Coping Styles, Psychological Functioning and Quality of Life in Children with Asthma. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, Vol 33, Issue 4, p. 360-7.

McCaffery, M. (1992). Perceptions about Paediatric Pain in Twycross, A., Moriarty, A. and Betts, T. (Eds). *Paediatric Pain Management: A Multidisciplinary Approach.* Oxford: Radcliffe Publishing.

McDowall-Clark, R. (2012). "I've never thought of myself as a leader but...": the Early Years Professional and Catalytic Leadership. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*. Vol.20, No.3, p. 391-401.

McDowall-Clark, R. (2013). Childhood in Society for the Early Years (2nd Ed) London: Sage/Learning Matters.

Meeks Gardner, J. M., Powell, C. A., Rahman, A. and Richter, L.(2011). Inequality in Early Childhood: Risk and Protective Factors for Early Child Development. *The Lancet*, 378, 8 October 2011.

Meighan, R. and Siraj-Blatchford, I. (2003). A Sociology of Educating (4th Ed). London: Continuum.

Meijer, A. M., Habekothe, H. T. and Van Den Wittenboer, G. L. H. (2000). Time in Bed, Quality of Sleep and School Functioning of Children. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 9, p. 145-153.

Moyles, J. (2012). The A to Z of Play in Early Childhood. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Mudge, E.J. and Price, P.E. (2005). Review of the literature on psychology and skin disorders. *British Journal of Dermatology Nursing*, Vol 2, No. 1, p. 8-9.

Mukherjee, S., Lightfoot, S. and Sloper, P (2000). The Inclusion of Pupils with a Chronic Health Condition in Mainstream School: What does it mean for Teachers? *Educational Research*, Vol. 42, No. 1, Spring 2000, p. 59-72.

Mullins, L. L., Wolfe-Christansen, C., Hoff Pai, A. L. Carpenter, M. Y., Gillaspy, S., Cheek, J. and Page, M (2007). The Relationship of Parental Overprotection, Perceived Child Vulnerability, and Parenting Stress to Uncertainty in Youth and Chronic Illness. *Journal of Paediatric Psychology*, Vol 32, No 8, p. 973-982.

Muraro, A., Clark, A., Beyer, K., Borrego, L.M., Borres, M., Ledrup Carlsen, K.C., Carrer, P., Mazon, A., Rance, F., Valovitra, E., Wickman, M. and Zanchetti, M. (2010). The management of the allergic child at school: Task Force on the allergic child at school. *Allergy 65.* p. 681-9.

Murray, L. and Lawrence, B. (2000). Practitioner-Based Enquiry: Principles and Practices for Post-Graduate Research. London: RoutledgeFalmer.

Musgrave, J. (2009-2013). Research Journal. Unpublished Personal Notes. University of Sheffield.

Musgrave, J. (2012a). Getting to Know You: The Place of Observations in Early Childhood Education and Care. Presented at the Early Years Foundation Degree Students' Conference, 2012, University of Worcester. England.

Musgrave, J. (2012b). "How are inclusive environments created in day care settings for children aged 0-3 years with common chronic conditions (anaphylaxis; asthma;

diabetes; eczema and epilepsy)?" Research Briefing Paper: November 2012 TACTYC Conference, Birmingham. Retrieved from:

http://www.tactyc.org.uk/workshop/Jackie%20Musgrave_Inclu sion%200-3_Chronic%20Conditions.pdf

Musgrave, J, (2013a). Creating inclusive environments for children with chronic health conditions. Presentation at the Education Show, NEC, Birmingham, March 15th.

Musgrave, J. (2013b). Including Children with Chronic Health Conditions. *Nursery World*, 22nd April 2013. London: Haymarket.

Musgrave, J. (2013c). Including children (0-3 years) with Chronic Health Conditions in Early Childhood Education: The Parents' Perspectives. Presentation at the European Early Childhood Education Research Association Conference, August 2013, University of Tallin, Estonia.

Musgrave, J. (2013d). The Perspective of a Children's Nurse (forthcoming) in Waltham, C. and Davies, C. *Critical Perspectives of well being*. London: Sage.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) (2004). Diagnosis and Management of Type 1 Diabetes in Children, Young People and Adults. Retrieved from www.nice.org.uk 16 June 2011.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) (2007). Atopic Eczema in Children. Management of Atopic Eczema in Children for Birth up to the age of 12 Years. Retrieved January 8 2008 from: www.nice.org.uk

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) (2011). Food Allergy in Children and Young People. Retrieved 14 October 2011 from www.nice.org.uk

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) (2012). Social and Emotional Wellbeing: Early Years. Retrieved 20 November 2012 from www.nice.org.uk

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2013a). Quality Standard for Asthma. Retrieved 6 June 2013 from http://www.nice.org.uk/Search.do?x=-994&y=-200&searchText=asthma+young+children&newsearch=true

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2013b). Quality Standard for Epilepsies in Children and Young Children. Retrieved 6 June 2013 from <u>http://publications.nice.org.uk/quality-standard-for-the-</u> epilepsies-in-children-and-young-people-qs27

New Zealand Ministry of Education (2009). Welcome to Early Childhood Education: Te Whariki

http://www.educate.ece.govt.nz/learning/curriculumAndLear ning/Assessmentforlearning/TeWhatuPokekaEnglishLanguageVe rsion.aspx . Retrieved 2 February 2013.

Nocon, A. and Booth, T. (2001). in The Social Impact of Childhood Asthma in Davey, B, Gray, C and Seale, C. *Health and Disease: A Reader*. Buckingham: Open University Press.

Nutbrown, C. (2011a). Threads of Thinking: Schemas and Young Children's Learning. London: Sage Publications.

Nutbrown, C. (2011b). Key Concepts in Early Childhood Care and Education 2nd Edition. London: Sage.

Nutbrown, C, (2012). Foundations for Quality: The Independent Review of Early Education and Childcare qualifications. Final Report. Retrieved 12 July 2012 from www.education.gov.uk.publications

Nutbrown, C. and Clough, P. (2006). Inclusion in the Early Years. London: Sage.

Nutbrown, C. and Clough, P. (2009). Citizenship and Inclusion in the Early Years: understanding and responding to children's perspectives on 'belonging'. *International Journal of Early Years Education*. Vol. 17, No 3, p. 191-206.

Nutbrown, C. and Clough, P. and Atherton (2013). Inclusion in the Early Years (2nd Ed.). London: Sage.

Oxford Concise Medical Dictionery (8th Ed) (2010). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Page, J. (2010). "Mothers, Work and Childcare: Choices, Beliefs and Dilemmas." Unpublished PhD thesis, volumes 1 and 2, University of Shefffield, School of Education.

Page, J. (2011). Do mothers want professional carers to love their babies? *Journal of Early Childhood Research*. Vol 9, No 3, p. 310-323.

Page, J. and Elfer, P. (2013). The emotional complexity of attachment interactions in nursery. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*. Vol. 21, No. 4, p. 553-567.

Paliokosta, P. and Blandford, S. (2010). Inclusion in School: a policy, ideology or lived experience? Similar findings in diverse school cultures. *British Journal of Learning Support.* 2010, Vol. 25, No. 4, p. 179–186.

Pascal, C. and Bertram, T. (2012). Praxis, ethics and power: developing praxeology as a participatory paradigm

for early childhood research. European Early Childhood Education Research Journal Vol 20, No 4, December 2012 p. 477-492.

Pellegrini, A. D. and Smith, P. K. (1998). Physical activity play: the nature and function of a neglected aspect of play. *Child Development*. 68, p. 577-598.

Pellegrini, A. D., Dupuis, D. and Smith, P. K. (2006). Play in evolution and development. *Developmental Review*. Vol 27, p. 261-276.

Petriwskj, A. (2010). Diversity and Inclusion in the Early Years. *International Journal of Inclusive Education* Vol 14, No 2, p. 195-212.

Piaget, J and Inhelder, B. (1969). The Psychology of the Child. New York: Basic Books.

Pitchforth, E., Weaver, S., Willars, J., Wawrzkowicz, E., Luyt, D., and Dixon-Woods, M. (2011). A qualitative study of families of a child with nut allergy. *Chronic Illness* Vol. 0 No.0, p. 1-12.

Possick, C. (2009). Reflexive positioning in a politically sensitive situation: dealing with the threats of researching the west bank settlers experience. *Qualitative Inquiry*, vol 15, No 5, p. 859-875.

Rayna, S. and Laevers, F. (2011). Understanding children from 0-3 years of age and its implications for education. What's new on the babies' side? Origins and evolutions. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*. Vol 19, No 2, p. 161-172.

Reed, M. and Canning, N. (2012). Implementing Quality Improvement and Change in the Early Years. London: Sage.

Rentzou, K. (2013). Prevalence of burnout syndrome of Greek child care workers and kindergarten teachers. Education 3-13: International Journal of Primary, Elementary and Early Years Education. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004279.2013.804853 18/06/2013

Riddall-Leech, S (2008). *How to Observe Children* (2nd Ed). Harlow: Heinemann.

Riddell, M. C. and Iscoe, K. E. (2006). Physical activity, sport and pediatric diabetes. *Pediatric Diabetes*. Vol 7, Issue 1, p. 60-70.

Ruddin, L. P. (2006). You can generalize stupid! Social Scientism Bent Flyvbjerg, and Case Study Methodology. *Qualitative Inquiry*. Vol 12, p. 797-812. Rudduck, J. and Hopkins, D. (1985). Research as a basis for teaching: Readings from the work of Lawrence Stenhouse. Oxford: Heinemann Educational Books.

St. Pierre, E. A., (1997). Methodology in the fold of and the interruption of transgressive data. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*. Vol. 10, No.2, p. 175-89.

Salo, P. M., Sever, M. and Zeldin, D. C. (2009). Indoor allergens in school and daycare environments. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*. August 2009, Vol. 1, No.2, p. 185-194.

Sartain, S. A., Clarke, C. L. and Heyman, R. (2000). Hearing the voices of children with chronic illness. Journal of Advanced Nursing. Vol.32, No.4, p. 913-921.

Shaw, I. (2003). Qualitative research and outcomes in health, social work and education. *Qualitative Research*. Vol.3, No.1, p. 53-77.

Shekariah, T., Kalavala, M. and Alfaham, M. (2010). Atopic dermatitis in children: a practical approach. *Paediatrics and Child Health*. Vol.21, No.3, p. 112-118.

Silverman, D. (2007). A very short, fairly interesting and reasonably cheap book about qualitative research. London: Sage.

Statham, J. and Chase, E. (2011). Childhood Wellbeing: a brief overview. Childhood Wellbeing Research Centre Briefing Paper 1. Retrieved January 2013 3 from: https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownlo ad/Child-Wellbeing-Brief.pdf

Stake, R. (2005). Qualitative Case Studies in Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y. S. *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research* (3rd Ed). London: Sage.

Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Sammons, P., Siraj-Blatchford, I. And Taggart, B. (2004). The Final Report: Effective Pre-school Education. Technical Paper 12. London: Institute of Education and DfES.

Tang, M. L. K. and Kang, L. W (2008). Prevention and treatment of anaphylaxis. *Paediatrics and Child Health* 18:7 p. 309-316.

Tellis, W. (1997). Application of a Case Study Methodology. *The Qualitative Report*, 3:3 http://www.wdu/sss/QR?QR3-3/tellis2.html Terry, A. W. (2012). My Journey in Grief: A Mother's Experience Following the death of her Daughter. *Qualitative Inquiry*, Vol 18, No 4, p. 355-367.

Thomas, G (2010). Doing Case Study: Abduction not Induction, Phronesis not theory. *Qualitative Inquiry*, Vol 16, No 7, p. 575-582.

Tovey, H.(2013). Bringing the Froebel Approach to your Early Years Practice. Abingdon: Routledge.

Tyler, C. (no date). Searching for gold in a mountain of data: an approach to organizing case study research. Reading for study weekend. Retrieved 29 October 2010 from: MOLE, On-line learning Environment, University of Sheffield.

Underdown, A. (2007). Young Children's Health and Wellbeing. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

University of Sheffield (2010). Ethics procedure governing research involving human participants, personal data and human tissue. Retrieved 16 August 2011 from http://www.shef.ac.uk/content/1/c6/11/12/77/Full%20Ethics %20Policy%20Vs2.pdf.

Van Onselen, J. (2009). Unlocking the misery of childhood atopic eczema. *British Journal of Nursing*, Vol 18, No 10, p. 490-499.

Vernon-Feagans, L and Manlove, E. E. (2005). Otitis Media, the Quality of Child care, and the Social/Communicative Behavior of Toddlers: a replication and extension. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*. Vol 20, p. 306-328.

Walker, S. P., Wachs, D. T., Grantham-McGregor, S., Black, M. M., Nelson, C. A., Huffman, S. L., Baker-Henningham, H., Chang, S. M. (2011). Inequality in Early Childhood risk and protective factors for early child development. *The Lancet*. Vol 378, October 8, p. 1325-1338.

Waters, E., Davis, E., Nicolas, C., Wakes, M. and Lo, S. K. (2008). The Impact of Childhood Conditions and Concurrent Morbitities on Child Health and Wellbeing. Child: care, health and development, p. 418-429. Doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2008.00825.x

Watkins, P. (2005). The psychosocial impact of eczema. *Practice Nursing*, Vol 16, No 9, p. 459-461.

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Eczema images of eczema.

Winnicott, D. W. (1953). Transitional Objects and Transitional Phenomena. *International Journal of Psychoanalysis*. Vol 34, p. 89-97.

Wood, E. (2013). Play, learning and the early childhood curriculum 3rd ed. London: Sage.

World Health Organisation (1986). *Glossary of Humanitarian Terms*. Retrieved September 2012 from; http://www.who.int/hac/about/definitions/en

Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and Methods (4^{th} Ed). London: Sage.

Glossary of Terms

Term	Definition
Acute	A disease of sudden onset, severe symptoms and brief duration
Adrenaline	A hormone secreted by the adrenal gland. Known as the "fright, flight or fight" hormone. Adrenaline is given as an emergency treatment for anaphylaxis to reverse the symptoms
Allergen	A substance that is ingested, inhaled or injected and causes allergy. An allergen can include: feathers, dust or food
Allergy	A disorder where the body becomes hypersensitive to an allergen
Anaphylaxis	An emergency condition resulting from an abnormal and immediate allergic response to a substance to which the body has become intensely sensitised. Symptoms include: flushing, itching, nausea, vomiting, swelling of the mouth and tongue and airway enough to cause an obstruction of the airway, wheezing, a drop in blood pressure and even sudden death. Common allergens are peanuts, latex and bee stings. Treatment consists of the need for an immediate injection of adrenaline (often administered via an 'Epipen")

Term	Definition
Antihistamine	A drug that inhibits the action of histamine in the body. It is used for allergic conditions. The most common side effect of older versions of the drug is drowsiness
Asthma	A lung disease which is characterized by narrowing of the airways, cough (especially at night), wheeziness, shortness of breath. Asthma is frequently associated with allergy or 'atopy'. The symptoms can be provoked or 'triggered' by a wide range of allergens such as dust, animal hair
Atopy	A form of allergy where there is a tendency to develop hypersensitivity reactions, eg: hayfever, allergic asthma, eczema in response to allergens
Blood sugar	The concentration of sugar in the blood. The level is usually calculated as millimoles per litre. Normal blood sugar level is 3.5-5.5
Chronic	A disease of long duration.
Chronic health conditions	An on-going condition of long duration, incurable and the effects can interfere with everyday activities
Complex medical needs	On-going and requiring frequent interventions and treatment. Frequently occur as a result of a congenital condition
Diabetes	Officially known as diabetes mellitus. A chronic condition which is caused by insufficient or inadequate amounts of insulin

Term	Definition
	production in the pancreas. Lack of insulin means that carbohydrate cannot be metabolised. Carbohydrate and insulin intake needs to be balanced with the amount of physical exercise so that the blood sugar can be maintained at a normal level. Normal blood sugar levels are critical to avoiding complications of diabetes in later life
Epilepsy	A disorder of brain function characterised by sudden seizures. There are several forms of epilepsy and a range of causes
Epipen	The commercial name for an auto-injector of adrenaline. Commonly administered to reverse the symptoms of anaphylaxis
Hyperglycaemia	Refers to high blood sugar. Associated with diabetes where there is an excess of sugar in the blood stream because of insufficient insulin and/or physical exercise and/or excessive carbohydrate intake. Can lead to a coma
Hypoglycaemia	Refers to low blood sugar. Associated with diabetes where there is an excess of insulin and/or physical exercise and/or insufficient carbohydrate intake. Can lead to a coma
Inhaler	A device which administers medication straight to the lungs. Described as reliever or preventer
Insulin	A hormone secreted by the pancreas and essential for

Term	Definition
	the metabolism of carbohydrate.
Medication	Substance administered by mouth, applied to the body, or introduced into the body for the purpose of treatment
Night cough	A symptom of asthma. The airways become irritable and sensitive. This can cause a cough. The cough is often worse at night
Seizure	A fit. A symptom of epilepsy
Sign	An indication of a particular disorder that is detected by a physician while examining a patient but is not apparent to the patient
Symptom	An indication of a disease or disorder noticed by the patient
Tracheostomy	A surgical operation in which a hole is made into the trachea through the neck to relieve an obstruction to breathing. A curved plastic, metal or rubber tube is usually inserted through the hole and held in position by tapes tied around the neck.
Trigger	An allergen that provokes, or triggers, an allergic response in conditions such as anaphylaxis, asthma and eczema. Common triggers include grass pollen, house dust mite, pet hair and nuts

Appendix 1: Ethical approval



EDD EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION

JACKIE MUSGRAVE

THE SCHOOL OF EDUCATION.

HEAD OF SCHOOL PROFESSOR JACKIE MARSH

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL STUDIES 388 GLOSSOP ROAD SHEFFIELD \$10 2JA

10 OCTOBER 2012

TELEPHONE: +44 (0)114 222 8096 EMAIL: JACQUIE.GILLOTT@SHEFFIELD.AC.UK

Dear Jackie

ETHICAL APPROVAL LETTER An examination of the possible impact on Inclusion of chronic childhood medical conditions: another piece of the inclusion jigsaw?

Thank you for submitting your ethics application. I am writing to confirm that your application has now been approved.

You can proceed with your research but we recommend you refer to the reviewers' additional comments (please see attached).

This letter is evidence that your application has been approved and should be included as an Appendix in your final submission.

Good luck with your research.

Yours sincerely

S.A. Warrat

Dr Simon Warren Chair of the School of Education Ethics Review Panel

cc Dr Rachael Levy

Appendix 2: Covering letter to settings in the case

Dear

Re: request from Jackie Musgrave for a questionnaire to be completed

I am a tutor in the Early Childhood Studies department at ****** College and we may well have come across each other during the ten years that I have been working at the college.

I am also a student at the University of Sheffield and I am carrying out research for my thesis as part of my Doctor of Education course and I am wondering if you would be kind enough to complete the attached questionnaire to help me with my research?

The aim of the study is to examine the effects of common childhood conditions on children in day care settings. The conditions that I am looking at include asthma, anaphylaxis, diabetes, eczema and epilepsy. For the first stage of my study, I am interested to find out the number of children in ***** in day care settings who have these conditions. I am also interested in how practitioners manage the conditions and I am very keen to find out how practitioners develop inclusive settings for children with these conditions. Responding to the questionnaire will help me to gather some of this information, so I would be very grateful if you could complete the attached yellow questionnaire and return it to me in the pre-paid, addressed envelope by the 20th December, if possible, but if you miss that deadline I will still be very pleased to receive it from you after that! The questionnaire can be completed and returned by you anonymously.

At a later date I would really appreciate the opportunity to carry out further research by studying a child with one of, or a combination of, the above conditions in his/her setting. If you feel that this is something that you would be interested in being part of, please fill in your contact details on the form. In order to study a suitable child, I would have a discussion with you about gaining consent and permission from parents and obviously I would check out any proposed contact with the parents through you should further communication be helpful to the study. If you feel that you would not like to suggest a child for me to study, but are prepared to talk about your experience of looking after children with one of these
conditions in a day care setting, then I would still be very pleased to have the opportunity to discuss this with you.

If you would like to chat to me about any aspect of the study please email me: <u>jackie.musgrave@btinternet.com</u> or telephone me on 07770 415165.

Please may I reassure you that all information will be held in confidence.

I do hope that you are interested in helping with this study, but if not, thank you very much for reading this letter.

Yours sincerely

Jackie Musgrave

Appendix 3: Questionnaire for Practitioners

The impact of chronic childhood conditions on young children in day care settings

Research for Jackie Musgrave's Doctorate Thesis: ***** College and the University of Sheffield

This information will be anonymous unless you complete the details at the end of the questionnaire indicating that you are happy for me to contact you to participate in the next stage of the research

- 1. What is the total number of children in your setting?
- How many children do you care for in your setting with the following conditions:-

Allergy/anaphylaxis

Asthma

Diabetes

Eczema

Epilepsy

- 3. Do any of these children have a combination of these conditions? If so, please indicate and how many children and what combination of conditions they have
- Do you think that these conditions have an impact on inclusion of children in your setting? Yes/No
- 5. If you have answered yes to question 4, please could you explain your answer?
- 6. What sorts of treatment or medication do you have to give to children in the setting while children are in your care?

Allergy/anaphylaxis Asthma Diabetes Eczema Epilepsy

7. What, if anything, do children with these conditions have to avoid doing or having contact with?

Allergy/anaphylaxis

Asthma

Diabetes

Eczema

Epilepsy

- 8. What other considerations do you have to make about children with medical needs? For example planning food?
- 9. How do you plan and/or adapt activities to ensure that children with these conditions can participate fully?

Allergy/anaphylaxis

Asthma

Diabetes

Eczema

Epilepsy

10. Are there any play activities that children with these conditions avoid?

Allergy/anaphylaxis

Asthma

Diabetes

Eczema

Epilepsy

11. Are there any play activities that children with these conditions are not allowed to take part in?

Allergy/anaphylaxis

Asthma

Diabetes

Eczema

Epilepsy

12. If you have to consider the medical needs of children in your setting, how much time do you allow for the care of children with medical needs in your setting?

Allergy/anaphylaxis

Asthma

Diabetes

Eczema

Epilepsy

- 13. Where did you gain your knowledge about the condition and the child's needs from?
- 14. How confident do you feel about your knowledge and ability to care for children with these conditions?

Condition	Very Confident	Moderately Confident	Slightly Confident	Not at all Confident
Anaphylaxis/allergy				
Asthma				
Diabetes				
Eczema				
Epilepsy				

- 15. Do you have any concerns about caring for children with these conditions?
- 16. If you do have concerns, what are they?
- 17. What do you think is the most important aspect of is of caring for a child with these conditions?

Anaphylaxis/allergy

Asthma

Diabetes

Eczema

Epilepsy

18. From your experience, If you had to give one piece of advice to a student practitioner on placement in your setting about a child with the conditions, what would it be?

- 19. What is your most memorable experience of caring for a child with these conditions?
- 20. Do you have any other comments to make about the study or anything that you would like to tell me about this subject?

A little bit more information about you please:

- 21. Are you qualified Yes/No If yes, what level qualification do you have?
- 22. How long have you been qualified as an Early Years Practitioner?

This questionnaire is anonymous and I will not be able to identify who you are, however I would very much welcome the opportunity to talk to some practitioners in more detail about caring for children with these conditions. I would also be very grateful to have the opportunity to study a child in his/her setting, if this is something that you feel you would be interested in doing, please indicate this on the form.

I am willing to be contacted to have further discussion about my experience of looking after children with anaphylaxis/allergy; asthma; diabetes; eczema or epilepsy in a day care setting Yes/No

I am willing to be contacted to discuss the possibility of a child in my setting being studied in the setting. Yes/No

(Studying a child would involve observing him or her in the setting)

If you are willing to be contacted, please include your preferred contact details below:

Your Name:

Name of setting:

Address:

Telephone Number:

Email address:

Many thanks for taking the time to answer these questions, please return to Jackie Musgrave in the pre-paid envelope by the 20th December if possible.

Appendix 4: Semi-structured interview schedule for practitioners

- 1. How do you find out about a child's medical history?
- 2. What sorts of questions do you ask?
- 3. How do you decide what needs to be done to create an inclusive environment?
- 4. What do you have to do in order to include ____ in activities?
- 5. What additional care does _____ need
- 6. What additional needs does _____ have as a result of his medical conditions?
- What (if any) difficulties have you encountered in developing an inclusive environment for _____
- What do you think are the key ingredients to success on creating an inclusive environment for _____
- 9. Could you describe the role of the key person in helping to create an inclusive environment?
- 10. How do you work with parents to create an inclusive setting for their child?
- 11. Do you work with other agencies/professionals in order to create an inclusive environment?
- 12. What is your definition of inclusion?

Any other comments?

Appendix 5: Information letter for parents

Dear Parent

Re: information about my research

Thank you very much for your interest in my research and here is a little bit more information for you. I am a senior lecturer in the Centre for Early Childhood at the University of Worcester and I am also a student at the University of Sheffield and I am carrying out research for my thesis as part of my Doctor of Education course. In a previous role, I worked as a children's asthma nurse and before that as a practice nurse in a GP's surgery and I became aware of the effect that common/chronic conditions can have on children's everyday lives. I have discovered that there is a gap in the research that looks at children aged 0-3 years who have asthma, anaphylaxis, diabetes, eczema and epilepsy (and in some cases a combination of these conditions).

I am very interested in speaking to parents who have young children with a common/chronic childhood condition in order to find out if and how the conditions impact on you and other people in your home. I am particularly interested in hearing about your experience of managing a child with one (or a combination) of these conditions.

Thank you for agreeing to participate, all of the information gathered is confidential and the identity of all people and places involved in the study will not be named and the content of your responses is confidential and will not be discussed with anybody else. Completed questionnaires will be destroyed after the study has ended.

If you wish to discuss this further, or you would be willing to be interviewed by me, please get in touch with me on 07770 415165 or jackiemusgrave@btinternet.com

Thank you very much

Yours sincerely

Jackie Musgrave

Appendix 6: Semi-structured interview questions: parents

- Please tell me about the time that you realised had these conditions
- 2. What memories do you have of this time?
- 3. How did you learn to care for _____
- 4. Who or what helped you to manage?
- 5. How do you think ____ conditions affect his life?
- 6. How do you think _____ affect your family?
- 7. When you came to the time about returning to work- what are your memories of that time
- 8. Would you mind describing how you chose this setting?
- 9. Why did you choose this setting?
- 10. What do you think are the most important ingredients of success in meeting ____ needs whilst he is here?
- 11. Is there any aspect of care that you would change?
- 12. How do you ensure that has his medication?
- 13. What are the triggers for ____ condition?
- 14. Do you think/have you noticed that _____ understands about the triggers/management/treatment about their condition?